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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFRBE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Dragon Rise Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), | am pleased to present the
annual report of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 (the
“Review Year").

After a discernible economic upturn in 2021, Hong Kong
encountered a substantial setback in 2022. The year commenced
with the onset of the fifth wave of local novel coronavirus
("COVID-19") outbreaks, which had a severe impact on domestic
consumption and investor sentiment. Although the domestic
situation gradually ameliorated with the cessation of COVID-19-
related restrictions, it was soon overshadowed by deteriorating
external conditions and tightening financial circumstances.
Consequently, Hong Kong’s real GDP contracted by 3.5%
throughout 2022.

The construction industry in Hong Kong faced notable challenges
throughout the year. Local COVID-19 restrictions remained a
substantial impediment, significantly hampering industry operations
and progress. These restrictions disrupted construction projects,
leading to delays and escalated costs. Despite these adversities,
the industry exhibited resilience by adapting to new protocols and
implementing measures to ensure the welfare of workers as well as
the continuation of projects.

Entering 2023, Hong Kong'’s construction industry is primed for
recovery. As COVID-19 restrictions are lifted and the border with the
PRC reopens, business activities have gained significant momentum
as 2023 unfolds. This has instilled a sense of optimism for recovery
from the setbacks of previous years. With the resumption of
construction projects and an improved investment climate, the
industry is starting to rebound and regain its impetus.

The Group is primarily engaged in undertaking foundation works
in Hong Kong as a subcontractor. During the Review Year, the
Group's total revenue amounted to approximately HK$786.2
million, increasing approximately 28.1% compared to HK$613.6
million from the year ended 31 March 2022 (“Last Year”). With the
increase in revenue, it recorded a gross profit of HK$24.2 million, an
increase of approximately 24.7% from Last Year’'s HK$19.4 million.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

BEMARR -

AAZBREEASEZERAR2B(ARA]
LREWBAR(GRINEED)EZ(EE)E
(BEFg)) MARZAKEBE_T_=F
“A=TBLFE(EBEE])ZFHE -

R-E-—FEERBETER  BER-ZE=
—EPRBEAGR  c S FFE  AnE
HRFH BB S (TCOVID-19)18 % - HER
HEREREEBRERBEYE - BERAE
COVID-19/8RERR FIEUHE - B AE &R -
BRI INBBEREERMBERRBERE L
FolEt BER_E__FHEERNMAE
BIEWHE3.5% °

FAN BHEREEXEEHBENLE - Kit
COVID-19RR#NRE AR - BREHRITESL
BEREE - ZERIBREEER » BEUER
REALR - BEmMELERE - 17X NEE
EEENIRE - UERERER AR K
THEEE -

EAZZZ=F  BAREXETIRENERRE
E% o BEE COVID-19R I BXH K A B & 5 F it
B EREME _ST_—ERMAMBNEGEKX
BE - EFRMERAEFENRTRPEFER
FIFERLE o EEREEIERRE - IRERIBN
= TERBRRE  EREH -

AEBFEUSEENSHEEEAEMET
2 REIEEFE  AEBABKELNAT86.2EH
EAT BEE-_E--—HF-A=+—HIH
E(EF]H613.6E BB THEMNEI28.1% ° M
PUEIE I - B A EESB24 2888 TH
EH > BREFEMI19.4E BHETTIENLI24.7% °

2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT



Looking ahead, the lift of COVID-19 restrictions provides a much-
anticipated boost to business sentiment across all sectors, while
the Hong Kong government’s 2023-24 budget presents promising
opportunities for our industry. The plans of the Northern Metropolis
and various residential and commercial sites indicate a booming
potential for new projects in the construction market. However,
we must also address the challenges we face. As risks of rising fuel
and construction material costs continue to pressure the industry,
the long-standing shortage of skilled labour also remains a concern.
Moreover, strong competition from our peers may affect our ability
to secure new opportunities and the profitability of our projects.

While there are both opportunities and challenges on the horizon,
I am confident that our Company can navigate this landscape
successfully. By staying agile, embracing innovation, and maintaining
a customer-centric approach, we will position ourselves for growth
in the evolving construction market of Hong Kong.

As the Chairman of the Company, | would like to express my
heartfelt gratitude to our investors for believing in our vision, our
clients for having confidence in our services, our employees for
continuously providing their dedication and expertise, and the
Board members for their strategic vision and market insights.
Your unwavering support and trust have been instrumental in the
Company’s growth and success. Together, we will continue to
shape a prosperous future for the Company.

Yip Yuk Kit
Chairman and Executive Director
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CE - ok

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

2022 presented significant challenges to the construction
foundation industry in Hong Kong. The contraction of the economy,
the impact of COVID-19 restrictions, and tightening financial
conditions all affected the industry’s performance. However, with
the lifting of COVID-19 restrictions and the reopening of the border
with the PRC, there is renewed optimism for the industry’s recovery
in the first quarter of 2023.

Hong Kong’s construction industry demonstrated a mixed
performance in the past year. The total Gross Value of Construction
Work (“GVCW") undertaken by main contractors in 2022 registered
a nominal increase of 5.7% compared to 2021, amounting to
HK$247.1 billion. However, after adjusting for price fluctuations,
the real-term growth was more modest at 3.8% over the preceding
year. Despite the overall growth in GVCW, the gross value of piling
and related foundation works carried out by main contractors at
construction sites experienced a decline. The nominal value reached
HK$13,430 million, indicating a decrease of 14.7% compared to
2021. This decline can be attributed to the challenging business
environment, including the impact of COVID-19 restrictions and
tightening financial conditions.

A survey conducted by the Census and Statistics Department of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region at the end of 2022
shed light on the business sentiment among large enterprises in
the construction industry. Among the respondents, 11% expressed
optimism, anticipating an improvement in their business conditions
during the first quarter of 2023. Conversely, 18% anticipated a
worsening of their business outlook. These contrasting sentiments
reflect the uncertainties and challenges confronted by the industry
during this period.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

The Group is a seasoned subcontractor in Hong Kong’s
construction industry, with three decades of experience, mainly
engaging in foundation works for commercial and residential
building construction. The Group has developed the experience
and capability to offer a comprehensive range of foundation
construction and related services. It specialises in (i) ELS and pile
cap construction works; (ii) disposal of excavated materials from
piling; and (iii) ancillary services including dismantling of shoring,
site formation, steel fixing and site clearance. Kit Kee Engineering
Limited (“Kit Kee Engineering”), the principal operating subsidiary,
is registered with the Construction Industry Council under the
Subcontractor Registration Scheme under the sub-register of the
structural and civil trade group.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the Review Year, the Group had been awarded 13 projects
with a total original contract sum of approximately HK$616.8
million. With years of experience navigating the adverse business
environment under the influence of COVID-19, the Group has
developed an improved cost control system and gained immersed
experience. The year’s overall revenue reached HK$786.2 million,
an increase of 28.1% compared to the year ended 31 March 2022.
The Group's gross profit amounted to HK$24.2 million, an increase
of approximately 24.7% compared to HK$19.4 million for the year
ended 31 March 2022. As a result, the Group’s net profit amounted
to HK$7.9 million.

The Hong Kong government’'s 2023-24 budget highlighted the
large-scale Northern Metropolis project. This could potentially
create new opportunities for construction companies involved
in infrastructure development. Furthermore, the budget outlines
the release of 12 residential sites, railway property development,
private development and redevelopment projects, as well as projects
by the Urban Renewal Authority (“URA") that would provide
approximately 20,000 residential units. Additionally, there are plans
for the allocation of land for the provision of at least 72,000 private
housing units over the next five years. These measures indicate
a steady demand for construction services and potential growth
opportunities for the Group.

As for the operating environment, although the inflationary pressure
on fuel and raw material costs has somewhat eased, fluctuations
in these costs can still impact the Group’s profitability. The chronic
shortage of skilled labour in the construction industry also continues
to be a pressing issue. Additionally, facing increasing competition
from peers in the construction industry, the Group shall focus
on differentiating itself through quality, innovation, and efficient
project execution. As a seasoned player in Hong Kong'’s dynamic
construction market, the Group remains cautiously optimistic about
securing its leading position and shall strive to maximise its business
growth potential.

Moving forward, the Group will actively pursue new business
opportunities and explore options for expanding our geographic
reach beyond the Hong Kong market. This will help us to further
develop and grow our business in the future. To facilitate this
expansion, we are currently seeking external funding for long-term
debt.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THEBEWRE S H

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

For the Review Year, the revenue of the Group has increased by
approximately HK$172.6 million, or approximately 28.1% compared
to Last Year, from approximately HK$613.6 million to approximately
HK$786.2 million. The increase was primarily attributable to an
increase in contract revenue due to an increase in the number of
projects with revenue contribution during the Review Year.

The Board regards the Group’s business of foundation works as
a single operating segment and reviews the overall results of the
Group as a whole to make decision about resources allocation.
Accordingly, no segment analysis information is presented and no
separate analysis of segment information by geographical segment
is presented as the Group’s revenue and non-current assets are
principally attributable to a single geographical region, which is
Hong Kong.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Our direct costs increased by approximately HK$167.8 million or
approximately 28.2% from approximately HK$594.2 million for Last
Year to approximately HK$762.0 million for the Review Year.

The gross profit of the Group has increased by approximately
HK$4.8 million, or approximately 24.7% compared to Last
Year, from approximately HK$19.4 million to approximately
HK$24.2 million. The gross profit margin for the Review Year
was approximately 3.1%, compared to that for Last Year of
approximately 3.2%. The slight decrease in gross profit margin was
mainly due to low profit margin for certain projects.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Other Gains, Net

Other gains, net mainly included government grant and subsidies,
change in fair value on investment property and exchange
difference. For the Review Year, other gains, net amounted to
approximately HK$7.1 million as compared with approximately
HK$1.8 million for Last Year. The increase in other gains, net for the
Review Year was mainly due to the government grant and subsidies
under Anti-epidemic Fund of approximately HK$7.8 million
recognised for the Review Year.

Administrative Expenses

For the Review Year, the administrative expenses increased by
approximately HK$3.0 million or approximately 15.8% compared
to Last Year, from approximately HK$19.0 million to approximately
HK$22.0 million. The increase was primarily due to the increase
in staff costs included in administrative expenses of approximately
HK$2.3 million for the Review Year.

Finance Costs

For the Review Year, the finance costs amounted to approximately
HK$186,000, as compared to Last Year of approximately
HK$547,000. The decrease was primarily due to the decrease in
average balance of bank borrowings during the Review Year.

Income Tax Expense/Credit

For the Review Year, the income tax expense increased by
approximately HK$6.5 million or approximately 120.4% compared
to the year ended 31 March 2022, from the income tax credit
of approximately HK$5.4 million to the income tax expense of
approximately HK$1.1 million. Such change was mainly due to the
increase in taxable income for the Review Year.

Net Profit

For the Review Year, the net profit amounted to approximately
HK$7.9 million, as compared to approximately HK$7.4 million
from Last Year. Our net profit margin for the Review Year was
approximately 1.0%, as compared with approximately 1.2% for Last
Year. The slight decrease in the net profit margin for the Review
Year was mainly due to the slightly lower gross profit margin during
the Review Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THEBEWRE S H

Key Financial Ratio FEBKLEER
As at As at
31 March 31 March
Notes 2023 2022

R-EBE== RN-FT——

Bt 5 =A=+—H =A=+—8
Current ratio MBI R ) 6.2 times 12 5.8 times &
Gearing ratio BEBELE (2) 1.3% 2.8%
Return on total assets 484 7 B 3R R (3) 2.6% 2.5%
Return on equity J% 7K [3] 37 = (4) 3.0% 2.9%
Net profit margin 4 1) 2= (5) 1.0% 1.2%

Notes:

1.

Current ratio is calculated as current assets divided by current liabilities
as at the respective reporting dates.

2. Gearing ratio is calculated as total borrowings (including lease
liabilities) divided by the total equity as at the respective reporting
dates.

3. Return on total assets is calculated as profit for the year divided by the
total assets as of the respective reporting dates.

4, Return on equity is calculated as profit for the year divided by the
total equity as of the respective reporting dates.

5. Net profit margin is calculated as profit divided by the revenue for the

respective reporting years.

1. RBHLXRTIRERSE AHRNRBEER AR
BERE -

2. BEBELXTDEEREAHNMERERE
ERHERERIAGERAE -

3. MBEERBEDRAFEGENRASRE R
HEEE -

4. BAREERE TR A E S IR AR IR E B
HAHEE -

5. AMERTVREREFEEMRAKESEFE -

Current Ratio

Our Group’s current ratio increased from approximately 5.8 times as
at 31 March 2022 to approximately 6.2 times as at 31 March 2023.
The increase was mainly due to the increase in contract assets as at

31 March 2023.

Gearing Ratio

Our Group's gearing ratio decreased from approximately 2.8% as
at 31 March 2022 to approximately 1.3% as at 31 March 2023. The
decrease was primarily due to the decrease in bank borrowings as

at 31 March 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Return on Total Assets

Our Group's return on total assets amounted to approximately 2.6%
as at 31 March 2023, as compared to the return on total assets of
approximately 2.5% as at 31 March 2022. The improvement in ratio
was primarily due to the increase in net profit for the Review Year.

Return on Equity

Our Group’s return on equity amounted to approximately 3.0%
as at 31 March 2023, as compared to the return on equity of
approximately 2.9% as at 31 March 2022. The improvement in ratio
was primarily due to the increase in net profit for the Review Year.

Net Profit Margin

Our Group’s net profit margin amounted to approximately 1.0%
as at 31 March 2023, as compared to the net profit margin of
approximately 1.2% as at 31 March 2022. The slight decrease was
mainly due to the slightly lower gross profit margin for the Review
Year.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Directors are aware that the Group is exposed to various risks
and uncertainties. The following are the key risks and uncertainties
faced by the Group:

Industry Risks

The future development of the foundation industry and the
availability of foundation projects in Hong Kong depends largely
on the continued development of the property market in Hong
Kong. The nature, extent and timing of available foundation
projects will be determined by an interplay of a variety of factors,
including the Government'’s policies on the property market in Hong
Kong, its land supply and public housing policy, the investment of
property developers and the general conditions and prospects of
Hong Kong's economy. These factors may affect the availability
of foundation projects in Hong Kong. If there is any slowdown (in
terms of transaction volume and price) of the property market in
Hong Kong, there is no assurance that the availability of foundation
projects in Hong Kong would not decrease significantly and our
Group’s business and financial position and prospect may be
adversely and materially affected.

THBWRE S H

HEERRE
AREENBREERBKERA T _—_F=A=+
—BH25%EE—E-_=FE=A=+—H%
26% - AELEREMUNETER2HNROEF
EIFm A ANFTEL ©

% 75 [B] # &

AREFBNBRARFERHE -_T-_—_F=/A=+
—HE29%EE_T-_=ZF=ZA=+—84
3.0% c WARIFHEEMHNEETERANR RO
FEFRFIIEINFTE -

R =

AEEMNANER T -_—_F=ZA=+—H0%
12%RE_E-_=ZF=ZA=1+—"H&1.0%°
EHEERMRLEERANNREIBEFEEF KK
TR FTER ©

TRERREARERER
EERAAEEEY SBARRTRTEE
AEEEHNEBZABRRTRTRAZMNT -

TERRE
WEITEORRER L AIEBROFTEMER
BXERFEEMETSROFEER - AR
ERWEBFEMVEE  RAERER  SETS
BRENBEEER  BRBRANEENETS
BE - T EERARFERER  MEERRA
BRERBAREBNEBNARAE - ZFAEK
AREFERBAHERNMEERR - HEEY
EMHEREBRRERERMS)  BARE
ZRAHERNMERE NS HR - MAKHE
MR - BRI RATRATREE R EXTRIE
@,

2022/23F3 o HEAEERERERERLA

11



12

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THEBEWRE S H

Compliance Risks

Many aspects of our business operation are governed by various
laws and regulations and Government policies. There is no assurance
that the Government will not extend the scope of the existing laws
and regulations or interpretation of new Government policies.
Further, we may not be able to respond to any such changes in
a timely manner. Such changes may also increase our costs and
burden in complying with them, which may materially and adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operation.
In particular, if there are any changes to and/or imposition of the
requirements for qualification in the foundation industry in relation
to environment protection and labour safety, and we fail to meet
the new requirements in a timely manner or at all, our business
operation will be materially and adversely affected.

Our executive Directors would hold regular meetings to ensure the
Group’s operations are in compliance with all applicable statutory
requirements.

Uncertainties in Construction Progress

Prior to commencement of the foundation works, the customers
would normally provide ground investigation reports to the Group.
However, information contained in these reports may not be
sufficient to reveal the actual geology beneath the construction
site due to limitation in the scope of the underground investigation
works that can be carried out at the site and/or other technical
limitations. There may be discrepancies between the actual
geological conditions and the findings set out in these investigation
reports, and the investigation may not be able to reveal the
existence of rocks or to identify any antiquities, monuments or
structures beneath the site.

All these may eventually present potential issues and uncertainties
in the carrying out of our foundations works, such as the possible
increase in the complexity of the project resulting from additional
work procedures, workers, equipment and times required to deal
with any unexpected existence of rocks, antiquities or monuments,
which may also lead to additional costs to be incurred. Nevertheless,
in case of any significant unexpected difficult geological or sub-
soil conditions, the Group may incur additional costs in dealing
with such unforeseen conditions, which may lead to cost overruns
and may thus materially and adversely affect the Group’s business
operation and financial position.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Services utilities may be laid underground or below carriageways
and footways in Hong Kong. The Group may be obstructed by
those service utilities when carrying out foundation works. There
is no assurance that damage to those utilities will not occur during
the foundation works. Accordingly, the Group may be liable to the
costs for the repair of such damaged service utilities to the extent
not covered by insurance.

Failure to Guarantee New Business

Our revenue is typically derived from projects which are non-
recurrent in nature and our customers are under no obligation to
award projects to us. During the Review Year, we secured new
businesses mainly through direct invitation for quotation or tender
by customers. There is no assurance that (i) we would be invited to
provide quotations or participate in the tendering process for new
projects; and (ii) our submitted quotations and tenders would be
selected by customers. There is no guarantee that the Group will
be able to secure new businesses from customers. The number and
scale of projects from which the Group derives revenue from may
vary significantly from period to period, and it may be difficult to
forecast the volume of future business. In the event that the Group
fails to secure new contracts or there is a significant decrease in the
number of tender invitations or contracts available for bidding in
the future, the business and financial positions and prospect of the
Group could be materially and adversely affected.

Nevertheless, the Group considers that a public listing status enable
us to enjoy several competitive advantages, such as transparent
financial disclosures, enhanced internal control and corporate
governance practices. Our Directors believe the customers would
give weight to these competitive edges when they select and
engage subcontractors for foundation services.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THEBEWRE S H

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

In undertaking foundation works, our operations may result in: (i)
emission of air pollutants; (i) emission of noise from construction
activities; (iii) discharge of effluent from construction activities;
and (iv) disposal of construction waste. Therefore, our foundation
works are subject to the requirements of the following laws and
regulations in relation to the environmental protection.

The laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the
Group includes, among others, Air Pollution Control Ordinance
(Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Air Pollution Control
(Non-road Mobile Machinery) (Emission) Regulation (Chapter
311Z of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “NRMM Regulation”), Noise
Control Ordinance (Chapter 400 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Water
Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), Dumping at Sea Ordinance (Chapter 466 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), Environmental Impact Assessment Ordinance (Chapter
499 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and Public Health and Municipal
Services Ordinance (Chapter 132 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

The Group is committed to minimise the adverse impact on the
environment resulting from our business activities. In order to
comply with the applicable environmental protection laws, The
Group has established an environmental management system in
accordance with the ISO 14001:2015 international standards.
Since January 2017, the environmental management system of Kit
Kee Engineering has been certified to be in accordance with the
requirements of the ISO 14001:2015 standards. Our environmental
management system includes measures and work procedures
governing environmental protection compliance that are required to
be followed by our employees and our subcontractors.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has 127 machines regulated
under the NRMM Regulation and out of which 38 machines were
exempted and 89 machines were approved by the Hong Kong
Environmental Protection Department under the NRMM Regulation.
In compliance with the NRMM Regulation on the emissions of
machinery, all of the 38 exempted machines are expected to be
phased out. To keep the Group abreast of the industry changes due
to the implementation the NRMM Regulation, we plan to acquire
new machines and equipment which are more environmental
friendly and are able to obtain approval under the NRMM
Regulation if applicable.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the Review Year, as far as the Board and the management
are aware, there was no material breach of or non-compliance with
the applicable laws and regulations by the Group that has material
impact on the business and operation of the Group.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND SUB-CONTRACTORS
Employees

The Group considers its employees the key to sustainable business
growth and also recognises its employees as its valuable assets.
Further, in light of the shortage of skilled labour in the local
construction industry, it is crucial to maintain a competitive
remuneration package and fringe benefits for our potential
and existing employees. In this regard, the Group provides
comprehensive remuneration package includes salary, discretionary
bonuses and other cash subsidies to attract, motivate and retain
appropriate and suitable employees to serve the Group. In general,
our Group determines employee salaries based on each employee’s
qualifications, position and seniority. Our Group has designed an
annual review system to assess the performance of our employees,
which forms the basis of our decisions with respect to salary raises,
bonuses and promotions. The Group also provides on-the-job
training and development opportunities to enhance its employees’
career development and learning.

Customers

The Group is aware of the risk of customer concentration, and
sought to reduce the reliance on major customer by undertaking
more sizable projects for other customers.

Besides that, the Group believes a strong and good relationship
with customers would increase its recognition and visibility in the
foundation industry. As such, the Group values the views and
opinions of all customers through various means and channels,
including regular review and analysis on customer feedback.

The Group also believes that a strong and good relationship with
customers can further develop new business opportunities in the
foundation industry.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THEBEWRE S H

Suppliers and Sub-contractors

The Group has developed stable and strong working relationships
with suppliers and sub-contractors to meet the Group’s customers’
needs in an effective and efficient manner. The Group works closely
with the suppliers and sub-contractors to make sure the tendering,
procurement and sub-contracting are conducted in an open, fair
and just manner. The Group’s requirements and standards are also
well- communicated to them before the commencement of the
project.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL POSITION AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

During the Review Year, there has been no change in capital
structure of the Group. The Group continued to finance its working
capital with internally generated cash flows and bank borrowings.

As at 31 March 2023, the Company’s issued capital was HK$12.0
million and the number of its issued ordinary shares was
1,200,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had total cash, bank balances
and pledged deposits of approximately HK$96.3 million (31 March
2022: approximately HK$120.4 million).

TREASURY POLICY

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policy. The Board closely monitors the Group’s
liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group'’s
assets, liabilities, and other commitments can meet its funding
requirements all the time.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had pledged (i) an investment
property situated in Hong Kong of approximately HK$4.5 million
(31 March 2022: approximately HK$4.8 million); (i) approximately
HK$10.2 million and RMB13.0 million bank deposits (31 March
2022: approximately HK$5.2 million and RMB13.0 million bank
deposits); and (iii) corporate guarantee given by the Company in
order to secure bank facilities granted to Kit Kee Engineering.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

As the Group only operates in Hong Kong and all of the revenue
and transactions arising from its operations were settled in Hong
Kong dollars, the Directors are of the view that the Group’s foreign
exchange rate risks are insignificant. Thus, the Group has not
entered into any derivative contracts to hedge against the foreign
exchange rate risk for the Review Year.

During the Review Year, the Group placed a portion of its cash
reserves in RMB in certificates of deposit for interest return, and we
incurred an exchange loss of approximately HK$1.3 million (For Last
Year: gain of approximately HK$0.6 million).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group had no capital
commitments for acquiring machine.

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group had been involved in
a number of claims, litigations and potential claims against the
Group in relation to work-related injuries and non-compliances. The
Directors are of the opinion that the claims, litigations and non-
compliances are not expected to have a material impact on the
consolidated financial statements, and the outcome for potential
claims is uncertain. Accordingly, no provision has been made to the
consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

During the Review Year, the Group did not have any significant
investment held, nor any material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries or associated companies.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENT
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the prospectus of the Company dated 26
January 2018 (the “Prospectus”), the Group did not have any other
plans for material investments or capital assets during the Review
Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THEBEWRE S H

USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds received by the Group, after deducting related
expenses, were approximately HK$91.9 million. These proceeds are
intended to be applied in accordance with the proposed application
set out in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds”
in the Prospectus. Such uses include: (i) enhancing the construction
machinery fleet; (i) strengthening the workforce and manpower; (iii)
reinforcing sales and marketing efforts; and (iv) funding of general
working capital. Details of the use of the proceeds are listed as
below:

Planned use
of proceeds

P8 RE AR

I AR B B (5 - AR A T 15 SEF
SR IEBAT - REMBRERLAR
SRR A B R EHEMR |~ BHERH
ARDA - ZZAROE  ((BRRERNE
B GDARBA T RA § GiInze 2 K 3
E RBF—SEEES - BRERR
R :

Balance of  Expected timeline of

Amount unutilised  full utilisation of the
utilisedupto amountupto remaining proceeds
31 March 31 March as at 31 March
2023 2023 2023
R-B-=%
HE HZ =A=t+-H
—E-=f “BEC=F EYHA

EHE =ZA=t+—-HH =ZA=+-8WM HBTHEFE

TERR BEARE RBRAMELH ZHEIRER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAT TAET TET
Enhancing the construction B 70 2 SR 1 2 X 60,311 60,311 - -
machinery fleet
Strengthening the workforce IR AF R AT 19,272 19,272 - -
and manpower
Reinforcing sales and MEEEREENE 4,761 3,264 1,497 Expect to be fully utilised
marketing efforts by 31 December 2023
(Note 1)
EER-Z==F
+ZA=+—R#
EHEA ()
Funding of general working ~ Bff—f2EE S 7,596 7,596 = =
capital
Total mat 91,940 90,443 1,497
Note: Mtz -
1. 31 December 2022 was the original expected date by which the 1. ZZ=Z=—F+=F=+—HAEHEXIDEH

remaining proceeds would be fully utilised, however the Group
had not fully utilised such proceeds during the reporting period. 31
December 2023 is the delayed expected date.

TRSHIBZRERY - A - AEER®RE
HERATZHBHRBEEAERE - T -=F
TZA=T—BERERNETEE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at 31 March 2023 and up to the date of this report, the
unutilised proceeds were placed in interest-bearing deposits with
authorised financial institutions or licensed banks in Hong Kong and
are expected to be fully utilised by 31 December 2023.

The actual application for the net proceeds was used and expected
to be used according to the intentions previously disclosed in the
Prospectus and there was no material change in the use of proceeds.
The unutilised amount is expected to be used in accordance with
the Company’s plan as disclosed in the Prospectus. Despite Hong
Kong's epidemic situation gradually improving and the government’s
relaxation on social distancing measures, the Company remains
concerned about the effectiveness of sponsoring business events
and charity functions organised by our customers during the
gradual resumption of social and economic activities at this time.
Therefore in order to effectively utilise the remaining proceeds and
to maximise the interests of the shareholders, the Company intends
to delay the expected date by which the remaining proceeds would
be fully utilised. Our Directors will continue to closely monitor the
latest developments in the COVID-19 pandemic and the Company
will continue to evaluate and adopt a prudent and flexible approach
for utilising the net proceeds effectively and efficiently for the long-
term benefit and development of the Group. The expected timeline
of full utilisation is based on the Directors’ best estimation barring
unforeseen circumstances, and would be subject to change based
on the future development of market conditions. The Board is of
the view that the delay mentioned is in the best interests of the
Company and the shareholders as a whole.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THEBEWRE S H

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2023, we employed a total of 304 full-time
employees (including two executive Directors but excluding three
independent non-executive Directors), as compared to a total of
205 full-time employees as at 31 March 2022. The remuneration
packages that the Group offers to employees includes salary,
discretionary bonuses and other cash subsidies. In general, the
Group determines employee salaries based on each employee’s
qualifications, position and seniority. The Group has designed an
annual review system to assess the performance of its employees,
which forms the basis of its decisions with respect to salary raises,
bonuses and promotions. The Group also adopted a share option
scheme whereby qualified participants may be granted options to
acquire shares in the Company. The total staff cost incurred by the
Group for the Review Year was approximately HK$157.8 million
compared to approximately HK$96.2 million of Last Year.

The remuneration of the Directors is decided by the Board upon
the recommendation from the remuneration committee of the
Company having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved not to recommend the declaration of final
dividend for the Review Year (For Last Year: nil).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFREREEBEESH

Biographical Details of the Directors and Senior Management are set
out as follows:

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. YIP Yuk Kit (EEZR) ("Mr. Yip”), aged 67, is one of the
controlling shareholders, the chairman of the Board, an executive
Director and chief executive officer of the Group. He joined the
Group in August 1993 and is one of the founders of the Group. He
is also a director of each and every wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group.

Mr. Yip is responsible for the overall business development and
business strategies of the Group. He has more than 45 years of
experience in the foundation industry. In 1977, Mr. Yip commenced
his business of earthwork and air compressor rental in Hong Kong
through Kit Kee Mechanics* (REEH##,) which was first registered
as a sole proprietorship. In 1986, Mr. Yip established Kit Kee
Engineering Company* (7R L2 2 F]) where he engaged in ELS
and foundation works in Hong Kong. On 19 August 1993, Mr. Yip
co-founded Kit Kee Engineering where Mr. Yip is responsible for
overseeing the projects and business development. From August
1993 and up to the present, Mr. Yip is the managing director of Kit
Kee Engineering.

Mr. Yip has entered into a service agreement with the Company
for an initial term of three years commencing on 8 February 2018
and will continue thereafter until terminated in accordance with
the terms of the agreement. The amount of emoluments paid for
the year ended 31 March 2023 to Mr. Yip is set out in note 12
to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2023 of the Company’s annual report. Such remuneration/
emoluments will be reviewed annually by the Board and the
remuneration committee and he is also entitled to a discretionary
bonus with reference to his performance and the operating results
of the Group.

Mr. Yip has not held any directorship in the last three years in
public companies the securities of which are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas. As at the Latest Practicable
Date, he was interested in 890,000,000 Shares held through Fame
Circle (representing 74.2% of the aggregate number of Shares in
issue). Save as disclosed above, Mr. Yip was not interested in any
Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO as at the Latest
Practicable Date. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Yip does not have
any relationship with any other Directors, senior management or
substantial shareholder or controlling shareholder of the Company.

*  For identification purpose only
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Mr. CHEUNG Chun Fai (3R#&x#&) (“Mr. Cheung”), aged 53, is an
executive Director of the Group. He joined the Group in October
1996.

Mr. Cheung is responsible for the overall management and
business operations of the Group. Mr. Cheung has over 25 years of
experience in the foundation industry. Mr. Cheung was a technician
at Fugro-McClelland Geotechnical Services (Hong Kong) Limited
from July 1990 to September 1991 and a resident technical officer
(laboratory) of Maunsell Consultants Asia Limited from December
1991 to January 1993. From March 1993 to April 1995, Mr. Cheung
worked in the Water Suppliers Department of the Government as a
technical officer. He then worked in High-Point Rendel (HK) Limited
as a technical officer from May 1995 to June 1996 and was a site
engineer at Hsin Chong (Foundations) Limited from June 1996 to
September 1996. Mr. Cheung joined the Group in October 1996 as
a site engineer. He was subsequently promoted to the position of
project manager in 2006 and was further promoted to the position
of director in 2017. Mr. Cheung obtained a Higher Diploma in
Building from the City University of Hong Kong in November 1995.

Mr. Cheung has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for an initial term of three years commencing on 8
February 2018 and will continue thereafter until terminated in
accordance with the terms of the agreement. The amount of
emoluments paid for the year ended 31 March 2023 to Mr. Cheung
is set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2023 of the Company’s annual report.
Such remuneration/ emoluments will be reviewed annually by the
Board and the remuneration committee and he is also entitled to
a discretionary bonus with reference to his performance and the
operating results of the Group.

Mr. Cheung has not held any directorship in the last three years
in public companies the securities of which are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas. He is not connected
with any Directors, senior management, substantial or controlling
shareholders of the Company, nor does he have any interests in the
Shares which are required to be disclosed pursuant to Part XV of the
SFO.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

RIREEE(TREE]D @ 5358 © BAKENRT
EE R-ANARFTANALREE -

REXBEARAEENEBEEREBRLE o
RECEHEEB2S FHHETELER - RAEER
—NNZEFEAZ—AN—F N AEEFugro-
McClelland Geotechnical Services (Hong Kong)
Limited WEMWE : B—ANL—F+AZ—
AN=F—AEEXREGEMN IEERERA
AIFEHRBME(BERE) - REEE—NAN=F
ZAZ-ANAFOAEBRBUNKEE -
AREMEES - HEREER—NNAFHEAE
— NARE N A B High-Point Rendel (HK)
Limited - BEERMEES - KB —NAARFRA
E-NANARFENAZEEFEMWMEIR)ERA
A AE THRAD o SRAER—NAASFTAMA
AEBEFHBRTREM  EER TS FEH
ABIRBEEFE R ZT—+FBEEAAEE
FoREAR—NNEF T+ —AREGESRT
REREHERHEUR -

RELADEARBTLRBWHZE - 8 —FT—N
FZANBER - IFRHP=F  THRUEK
SEEREERBHRZGERRLERLE -#BE
TR =FZA=t+-HLEFEEXNTRE
EZMEBBEHNARRBE_T_=F=4
=+ RLFEFRIEAMBRRME12
EBRFHH, Mo hESeRFHEEaeEF
EITRE  RETERZFAEZRARARAE
B2 REREET 2 BISIEA -

RAELBE=FIERNEFCEEBIEIMEM
BHEMS L2 ARRAEEEAMESTRYE -
REANAMEMEMES SREEE X2
SRR BRI BAEMBER - TMEER EARD
B ARBESRBEHROIEXVE T AR

Ego

2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. CHAN Ka Yu (BRZXF) (“Mr. Chan”), aged 44, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 18 January 2018. He
has entered into a letter of appointment for a fixed term of three
years with effect from 8 February 2018 and will continue thereafter
until terminated in accordance with the terms of the appointment.
He is entitled to an annual director’s fee of HK$180,000. Mr. Chan
is mainly responsible for overseeing the management independently
and providing independent judgement on the issues of strategy,
performance, resources and standard of conduct of the Company.
He is the chairman of the remuneration committee, and a member
of each of the audit committee and nomination committee. Save as
disclosed above, Mr. Chan does not hold any position in the Group.

Mr. Chan has over 15 years of working experience in professional
accounting, financial reporting, compliance services and corporate
finance such as initial public offerings. Since June 2013, he has
been working as the chief financial officer of Virtual Mind Holding
Company Limited (R##ERR B R A A]) (stock code: 1520), the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chan obtained a degree of Bachelor of Commerce in
Accounting from Hong Kong Shue Yan University in October
2009. He is a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since March 2009. Mr. Chan is currently an
independent non- executive director of Yield Go Holdings Ltd.
(stock code: 1796), and TS Wonders Holding Limited (stock code:
1767), both being companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Chan has not held any directorship
in the last three years in public companies the securities of which
are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas. He is
not connected with any Directors, senior management, substantial
or controlling shareholders of the Company, nor does he have any
interests in the Shares which are required to be disclosed pursuant
to Part XV of the SFO.
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Mr. LEE Kwok Lun (ZEB) ("Mr. Lee”), aged 39, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 18 January 2018. He
has entered into a letter of appointment for a fixed term of three
years with effect from 8 February 2018 and will continue thereafter
until terminated in accordance with the terms of the appointment.
He is entitled to an annual director’s fee of HK$180,000. Mr. Lee is
mainly responsible for overseeing the management independently
and providing independent judgement on the issues of strategy,
performance, resources and standard of conduct of the Company.
He is the chairman of the audit committee and a member of the
nomination committee. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Lee does not
hold any position in the Group.

Mr. Lee has over 15 years of experience in accounting, audit,
corporate finance and financial management. Mr. Lee is currently
the company secretary of Solis Holdings Limited (SFeiZ A R A
A]) (stock code: 2227), the shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange.

Mr. Lee obtained a degree of Bachelor of Arts (Hons) in Accounting
from the University of Hertfordshire in September 2006. He is a
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants since
January 2013 and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since September 2013. Mr. Lee is currently an
independent non-executive Director of Wing Chi Holdings Limited
(stock code: 6080), and Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company
Limited (stock code: 3616), the shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Lee has not held any directorship in
the last three years in public companies the securities of which are
listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas. He is not
connected with any Directors, senior management, substantial or
controlling shareholders of the Company, nor does he have any
interests in the Shares which are required to be disclosed pursuant
to Part XV of the SFO.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHAN Wa Shing (BFRZ) (“Mr. Chan”), aged 61, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 26
March 2019. He has entered into a letter of appointment for a
fixed term of three years with effect from 1 April 2019 and will
continue thereafter until terminated in accordance with the terms
of the appointment. He is entitled to an annual director’s fee of
HK$180,000. Mr. Chan is mainly responsible for overseeing the
management independently and providing independent judgement
on the issues of strategy, performance, resources and standard of
conduct of the Company. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Chan does
not hold any position in the Group.

Mr. Chan, is a barrister-at-law of Hong Kong. He joined the Hong
Kong Police Force in 1986 and retired in 2016 with his last position
being chief superintendent. During his employment with the Hong
Kong Police Force, he was called to the bar in Hong Kong in 1996.

Mr. Chan graduated with a bachelor of science in pharmacology
from the University of Portsmouth (previously known as Portsmouth
Polytechnic) in 1983. He obtained a postgraduate diploma in
business studies from London School of Economics in 1985 and
further obtained a master degree in public administration from the
University of Hong Kong in 1998.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Chan has not held any directorship
in the last three years in public companies the securities of which
are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas. He is
not connected with any Directors, senior management, substantial
or controlling shareholders of the Company, nor does he have any
interests in the Shares which are required to be disclosed pursuant
to Part XV of the SFO.

Saved as disclosed above, there was no change to any information
required to be disclosed in relation to any Director pursuant to
Rule 13.51(2)(a) to (e) and (g) of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) during the
Review Year. The Board is not aware of any information that ought
to be disclosed pursuant to the requirements under Rule 13.51(2)
(h) to (v) of the Listing Rules, nor are there any other matters that
ought to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders.
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Senior Management

Mr. CHAN Ho Shing ( B ) (“Mr. Chan”), aged 54, has been
the contracts manager of Kit Kee Engineering since July 2005.
He is mainly responsible for overseeing tender process, contract
management, administration and quality assurance matters.

Mr. Chan obtained a Certificate in Building Studies from the
Morrison Hill Technical Institute (currently known as the Hong
Kong Institute of Vocational Education (IVE) (Morrison Hill)) in July
1988, a Higher Certificate in Building Studies from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University (formerly known as Hong Kong Polytechnic)
in November 1990.

Mr. Chan has 35 years of experience in the foundation industry.
Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Chan worked for various
construction companies in various capacities. He was a site foreman
at Kin Ming & Co. (f#R3 2 &]) from August 1987 to August 1988
and an assistant quantity surveyor at Gammon Construction Limited
from October 1988 to July 1992. He was employed by Fanta (CFC)
Construction Co. Limited from August 1992 and later left with his
last position being commercial manager. Mr. Chan was a quantity
surveyor at Yat Ming Construction Co., Limited from July 1997 to
May 2005.

Mr. LEUNG Hoi Ki (R8#) ("Mr. Leung”), aged 34, has been the
financial controller of our Group since January 2017. He is primarily
responsible for the management of financial, accounting and
company secretarial matters of our Group.

Mr. Leung received a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration
in Accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
October 2011. Mr. Leung was admitted as a Certified Public
Accountant in March 2015. He has over 10 years of accounting
experience. From September 2011 to May 2014, he was employed
by BDO Limited, with his last position being a senior associate of the
Assurance Department. From June 2014 to November 2014, Mr.
Leung worked as a senior accountant at the Assurance Department
of Ernst & Young. From December 2014 to January 2017, he was
employed by KPMG with his last position being a manager.

Mr. Leung has been appointed as the company secretary of Easy
Smart Group Holdings Limited (15 1& & E#E A% B R A Al), a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2442), with effect from 9
May 2023.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Group recognises the importance of incorporating elements
of good corporate governance in the management structures and
internal control procedures of the Group so as to achieve effective
accountability. The Group is committed to maintaining good
corporate governance to safeguard the interest of shareholders and
to achieve effective accountability because the Group believes that
is the best way to maximise our shareholder’s value.

The Company has adopted the corporate governance code (the “CG
code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. Pursuant to
code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman of
the Board (“the Chairman”) and the chief executive officer of the
Company (the “Chief Executive Officer”) should be separated and
should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Yip was the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer during the Review Year. As
Mr. Yip has been assuming day-to-day responsibilities in operating
and managing Kit Kee Engineering since August 1993, the Board is
of the view that it is in the best interest of the Group to have Mr.
Yip taking up both roles for effective management and business
development.

Save for the above deviation, the Board considers that during the
period from 8 February 2018 (the “Listing Date"”) to 31 March
2023, the Company has complied with all the code provisions set
out in the CG Code.

TRELSRSE

REERAERREEIREE RAIMEZRT
NEIARMERERTEMNERN - BLER
BHNRES - AEEHNRGFHRFNER
A MRERERERNGEEREROHEES
THERASER BT ERBEREERA(CH
REH -

ARRABEHRA LR+ OMAEEEER
STRAITREREESTAND - RIBEXEIATRIN
SAMEXFEC2.1F - ARREFEXR(E
FDEARBITRAESK(ITHARD 2 ACRES
M TERE—ARE - REBFE  Eit
RETFRTBER - EREXREB-NAN=
FNANKR—BEAERNCTTIENBEELEEE
BE EFgRnhERERERBAEDAR
BEREHER  NEAKERENZ -

BREMREESI EEERBBEZT—/\FZA
NB(LEHAEPNE-_E-_=¢=/A=+—8H
HiR - ARBIDESTEERTRMEAAT
A& -

2022/23F3 o HEAEERERERERLA

27



28

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERELRS

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS OF LISTED ISSUERS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed issuers (the “Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific
enquiries of the Directors, all the Directors have confirmed that they
have complied with the requirements of the Model Code during
the period from the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual
report.

THE BOARD
Composition

The Company is committed to the view that the Board should
include a balanced composition of executive Directors and non-
executive Directors (including independent non-executive Directors
so that there is a strong independent element on the Board, which
can effectively exercise independent judgement. As at the date of
this report, the Board is chaired by Mr. Yip and comprised of five
members including two executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Biographical Details of the Directors and Senior
Management” in this report.

Mr. Yip Yuk Kit (Chairman)
Mr. Cheung Chun Fai

Mr. Chan Ka Yu
Mr. Lee Kwok Lun
Mr. Chan Wa Shing
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) since the Listing Date. The summary of the Board Diversity
Policy is disclosed as below:

o the Company recognises the benefits of having a diverse
Board to enhance the quality and effectiveness of the Board;

o in designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has
been considered from a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service;

o all Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having
due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board,;

o the selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the Board; and

o the nomination committee of the Board will report on the
Board’s composition under diversified perspectives, monitor
the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy, review the
Board Diversity Policy to ensure effectiveness and recommend
for any revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors have been appointed by
the Company for an initial fixed term of three years commencing
either from 8 February 2018 or from 1 April 2019 and shall continue
thereafter unless and until terminated by either the Company or the
Director giving to the other three months of notice in writing and
subject to rotation and re-election at annual general meetings of
the Company in accordance with the articles of association of the
Company.

The independent non-executive Directors have brought in a
wide range of business and financial expertise, experience and
independent judgement to the Board. Through active participation
in the Board meetings and serving on various Board committees, all
independent non-executive Directors will continue to make various
contributions to the Company.
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Throughout the Review Year, the Company had three independent
non-executive Directors, meeting the requirements of the Listing
Rules that the number of independent non-executive Directors must
represent at least one-third of the Board members, and that at least
one of the independent non-executive Directors has appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has given an
annual confirmation of independence to the Company pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. As at the date of this annual
report, the Company is of the view that all independent non-
executive Directors are independent in accordance with the relevant
requirements under the Listing Rules.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

Each of the Directors has entered into a service agreement or a
letter of appointment with the Company for a specific term and
is subject to termination provisions therein and provisions on
retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the amended and
restated memorandum and articles of association (the “Restated
Articles”).

In accordance with article 108 of the Restated Articles, at each
annual general meeting, one third of the Directors for the time
being will retire from office by rotation. However, if the number of
Directors is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but
not less than one third shall be the number of retiring Directors. The
Directors who shall retire in each year will be those who have been
longest in the office since their last re-election or appointment but
as between persons who become or were last re-elected Directors
on the same day those to retire will (unless they otherwise agree
among themselves) be determined by lot.

In accordance with article 112 of the Restated Articles, any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office only until the next following AGM of the Company and
shall then be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with article 108 of the Restated Articles, Mr. Yip
Yuk Kit, Mr. Cheung Chun Fai and Mr. Chan Wa Shing will retire
as Directors by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.
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Role and Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall management of the Group
and all day-to-day operations and management of the Company’s
business has been delegated to management under the leadership
of the chief executive officer of the Company.

The principal roles of the Board are:

set long term objectives and strategies;
o approve major policies and guidelines;

o prepare and approve financial statements, annual report and
interim report;

o approve major capital expenditures, acquisition and disposals;
. approve connected transactions;
o approve material borrowings and expenditures;

o review and monitor of internal control and risk management;
and

o declare and recommend the payments of dividends.

No corporate governance committee has been established and the
Board is responsible for the corporate governance functions of the
Company, which includes:

o develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

o review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

o review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

o develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and directors;
and

o review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

The Directors will review the Group’s corporate governance policies
and compliance with the CG code each financial year and comply
with the “comply or explain” principle in the corporate governance
report.
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Directors’ Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage for all
directors in relation to the discharge of their responsibilities.

Directors’ Training and Professional Development

The Company, from time to time, provides in-house training for
the Directors in the form of seminars, workshops and/or reading
relevant material on the latest development of applicable laws,
rules and regulations, management, financial and business issues to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The above training
costs are borne by the Company.

The Directors are required to provide the Company with details
of the training’s records. Based on those training’s record, the
Directors received the following training during the Review Year:

EERE
ARBEREREZTETRESECARERY
BEMNRR

EERIIREXRERE

ARE ABRESREASEIN  EAREA
BEFEREN RAUAREREHER - &
2 B REBEENRIE HEGR X
AABBIEREER  ABERLREFRENAR
KB o BB FIM R AR AR BAGE -

EEAAARAREBICENFAER - R
ERERILE  EFCREEFEEZUAT

Fal -

Type of

trainings

FIER

Mr. Yip Yuk Kit EEAKE AandB
AKB

Mr. Cheung Chun Fai SR 3R 5 A Aand B
AKB

Mr. Chan Ka Yu BRRFEAE Aand B
AKB

Mr. Lee Kwok Lun RIS A Aand B
AKB

Mr. Chan Wa Shing PR EE B o A Aand B
AKB

A: attending seminars/conferences/forums
B: reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to the economy,

general business, corporate governance and directors’ duties and
responsibilities
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Board and General Meetings

The Board meets regularly with at least 14 days’ advanced notice
being provided for quarterly meetings. For all other Board meetings,
notice will be given in a reasonable time in advance. The Directors
are allowed to include any matter in the agenda that is required for
discussion and resolution at the meeting. To enable the Directors to
be properly briefed on issues arising at each of the Board meetings
and to make informed decisions, an agenda and the accompanying
Board papers will be sent to all Directors at least three days before
the intended date of the Board meeting, or such other period as
agreed.

Minutes of the Board and committee meetings are prepared and
kept by the company secretary of the Company, and are open for
inspection by Directors upon request. All Directors have access to
the advice and services of the company secretary, and are allowed
to seek external professional advice if needed.

The Board seeks to maintain an ongoing dialog with the
Shareholders through the holding of general meetings. The Board
and external auditor will attend the general meeting to answer
any questions that may be raised by the Shareholders. A separate
resolution shall be proposed at the general meetings to address
each separate issue.

During the Review Year, the Board held four meetings and one
general meeting. The attendance record of each member of the
Board is set out below:
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EXRRBRTRRRESHARR ZHMNE
BYE - EFEQRINSREEN B2 MRS
[B] 2 % R AT BB fe i AR AT B - MR A& 18
REBUABRBALSTEBILEE °

REEFE  EFERTHRAERR —KER
RE - MBEFEREHFELEHIIMT

Board Meetings General Meetings

attended/ attended/

Board Meetings General Meetings

convened convened

HEESEERRE HERRAERE

BITEEEERNRY BITRRAERE

Mr. Yip Yuk Kit (Chairman) EERNLA(EE) 4/4 1/1

Mr. Cheung Chun Fai SR IR 4 A 4/4 11

Mr. Chan Ka Yu BRERFEAE 4/4 11

Mr. Lee Kwok Lun TR E 4/4 11

Mr. Chan Wa Shing PoR 2 P o A 4/4 11
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Subsequent to the Review Year and up to the date of this report,
the Board held one meeting and the attendance record of each

REEFERNEEARSBY > EFSHT
—Re%E MBEFEXKEBHFLEHIIM

member of the Board is set out below: N
Meeting attended/
Meeting convened
HEEERE
BITEBINY
Mr. Yip Yuk Kit (Chairman) BENLEFEE) 1”71
Mr. Cheung Chun Fai RIREALA 11
Mr. Chan Ka Yu PRRF LA 11
Mr. Lee Kwok Lun EEBL A 11
Mr. Chan Wa Shing BREE B S A& 11
BOARD COMMITTEES EEZEE
To facilitate the work of the Board, the Board has established three AEREZEETITE EF€@COK VY =EESEE
board committees to oversee specific aspects of the Company’s E&EEARQ 7%?‘{3’]%@%@&? MEzEZE
affairs, namely audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), @(FEZZEe]) FHZE(FMWNEZES])
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and KIEZZEE (fk%i,\ 2]) BEEEZEZLE

nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”). Each board
of committee has its own terms of reference relating to its authority
and duties, which have been approved by the Board and are
reviewed periodically. The terms of reference of each committee are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Each board of committee has been provided with sufficient
resources to discharge its duties and, upon reasonable request,
is able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company'’s expense.

SREERMBEESENBERE  UE
SEeMENRERRE - RART MBI
MU EHEERZESNBERE -

2

dat ﬂﬂH+ #T

SEEEZE N ERERRERBITRER

C RREEERK A EEE
%%‘\i ERBARBEE -
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Audit Committee

The Company established an Audit Committee on 18 January
2018 with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG
code. The primary roles of the Audit Committee include, but are
not limited to, (a) making recommendations to our Board on the
appointment, reappointment and removal of the external auditor,
and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor, and any questions of its resignation or dismissal;
(b) monitoring the integrity of our financial statements and annual
reports and accounts, half-yearly reports and, if prepared for
publication, quarterly reports, and reviewing significant financial
reporting judgements contained in them; and (c) reviewing our
financial controls, internal control and risk management systems.

The Audit Committee consists of three members who are all
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chan Ka Yu, Mr.
Lee Kwok Lun and Mr. Chan Wa Shing. Mr. Lee Kwok Lun is the
Chairman of the Audit Committee.
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During the Review Year, the Audit Committee held two meetings REBEE  BEXZESBITMALE W&
and the attendance record of each member of the Audit Committee  EZZEE &8 HBEREEIINT
is set out below:
Meeting attended/
Meeting convened
HEEERE
BITEBAY
Mr. Lee Kwok Lun (Chairman) TR E(FE) 2/2
Mr. Chan Ka Yu PR F I E 2/2
Mr. Chan Wa Shing BREE B 5L A 2/2
2022/23 F3 o RERSKERZRERERAR
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Subsequent to the Review Year and up to the date of this report,
the Audit Committee held two meeting, and the following is a
summary of the work performed by the Audit Committee during

the Review Year and up to the date of this report:

o reviewed the annual results of the Group for the year ended e

31 March 2023;

o reviewed the Group’s financial information, financial report e
system, risk management and internal control procedures;

o reviewed the Company’s Auditor's independence and e

objectivity;

o made recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment e

of the Company’s external auditor;

o reviewed the Company’s external auditor’'s management e
letter, significant findings and recommendations;

o reviewed the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications e
and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company'’s accounting and financial reporting function;

o reviewed and discussed the reports from the Company’s e
external consultant with the management; and

o met with the Company’s external auditor, in the absence of e

the management.

There had been no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee from the Listing Date and up to the date of this report.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established a Remuneration Committee on 18
January 2018 with written terms of reference in compliance with
the CG code. The primary roles of the Remuneration Committee
include, but are not limited to, (a) making recommendations to
our Board on our policy and structure for the remuneration of all
of our Directors and senior management personnel and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy; (b) reviewing and approving our management’s
remuneration proposals with reference to our Board’s corporate
goals and objectives; and (c) making recommendations to our Board
on the remuneration of non- executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee consists of an executive Director,
namely Mr. Yip Yuk Kit and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Chan Ka Yu and Mr. Chan Wa Shing. Mr.
Chan Ka Yu is the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The remuneration of the Directors and senior management is
determined with reference to the responsibilities, workload, the
time devoted and the performance of the Group. The Remuneration
Committee also ensures that no individual will be involved in
determining his own remuneration.
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During the Review Year, the remuneration of senior managementis REREFEE - = H 52 EH) 3B & E 5] R 0
listed as below by band: o

No. of person
Band of remuneration FEE AE
nil-HK$1,000,000 0% 1,000,000 T 1
HK$1,000,001-HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,00178 7% 1,500,000/ 7T 1

Further details of the Directors’ and chief executives’ emoluments
and the five highest paid individuals is set out in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BHREERESTRABURARSHFALH
HIFBERN R MBRRMEI2 -
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During the Review Year, the Remuneration Committee held REBEEE @ FHEZESRT—Xg# mM&
one meeting and the attendance record of each member of the HBMEZE &K 8 HELHEEIIWT ¢

Remuneration Committee is set out below:

Meeting attended/
Meeting convened

HESERE,

BITGERH

Mr. Chan Ka Yu (Chairman) BRRFIhE(FE) 171
Mr. Yip Yuk Kit BEENEE 11
Mr. Chan Wa Shing BREE B S A 11

Subsequent to the Review Year and up to the date of this report, REBFERIEEARESHEH  FHEZES
the Remuneration Committee held one meeting, and the following BT —A &% @ FHEZEeREBEFTERESE
is a summary of the work performed by the Remuneration  ZAN¥R%& B ERFTEITH TIEBERLANT
Committee during the Review Year and up to the date of this

report:

considered the remuneration paid to Directors and senior
management with reference to their responsibilities, workload,
the time devoted and the performance of the Group, as well
as remuneration paid by other comparable listed companies;

reviewed and made recommendations on the management
remuneration proposals with reference to the corporate goals
and objectives of the Board; and

made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
independent non-executive Directors.

e Z2REFNSVEEENRE  ITHE-
REAREEFREAKENRE - URE
A BB EMARXNE  ERESER
DRETREH

s Z2REFENLEXABRLREEMIIE
BREMFBD REMRER R
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N
e
e
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Nomination Committee

The Company established a Nomination Committee on 18 January
2018 with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG
code. The primary roles of the Nomination Committee include, but
are not limited to, (a) reviewing the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge and experience) of our Board at
least annually and making recommendations on any proposed
changes to our Board to complement our corporate strategy; (b)
identifying individuals suitably qualified to become our Board
members and selecting or making recommendations to our Board
on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships; (c)
assessing the independence of our independent non-executive
Directors; and (d) making recommendations relating to nomination
procedures, process and criteria.

The Nomination Committee consists of an executive Director,
namely Mr. Yip Yuk Kit and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Chan Ka Yu and Mr. Lee Kwok Lun. Mr. Yip
Yuk Kit is the Chairman of the Nomination Committee.

During the Review Year, the Nomination Committee held one
meeting and the attendance record of each member of the
Nomination Committee is set out below:
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Meeting attended/
Meeting convened

HEEERE

BITERIE

Mr. Yip Yuk Kit (Chairman) EENEEFEE) 1”1
Mr. Chan Ka Yu PR F I E 11
Mr. Lee Kwok Lun TR E 11

Subsequent to the Review Year and up to the date of this report,
the Nomination Committee held one meeting. The Nomination
Committee had reviewed the Board Diversity Policy and reported
on the Board’s composition under diversified perspectives, and had
monitored the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy. The
Nomination Committee had also recommended to re-elect Mr.
Yip Yuk Kit, Mr. Cheung Chun Fai and Mr. Chan Wa Shing at the
forthcoming AGM.

CEFEARREEAREAY  REEZEEH
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Group. The Directors also acknowledge
their responsibility to ensure the financial statements are published
in a timely manner. The Directors are not aware of any material
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern.

The Auditor’s reporting responsibilities are set out in the section
headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” in this report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the Review Year, the fee paid/payable to Grant Thornton Hong
Kong Limited by the Group, is set out as follows:

EERZHARMBHRERNEE

EZANEREREAKEMBHRERZEME-E
ENABRERRVBHRRES NENEE -
EEUTABMRSBHAEEFBLLERD
EEBEANERNEMNEATEEERE -

RBENE R E EHNARE B L XA R

HI—ET

B BE N &
REEFE  AEEEN BAURESE
HAERHERAANBEARIMT -

HK$
BT
Audit services EZRE 996,600
Non-audit services IEEZARTS 162,500

The amount of fee incurred for the non-audit services represented
HK$162,500 of the service fee paid to Grant Thornton Hong Kong
Limited in relation to review of interim financial information. The
Audit Committee was satisfied that non-audit services for the
Review Year did not affect the independence of the auditor.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems, and for reviewing its
effectiveness.

In meeting its responsibility, the departmental heads of the Group
have to complete a risk management and internal control self-
assessment guestionnaires, identify and evaluate those significant
risks and confirm to the management that appropriate internal
control policies and procedures have been established and properly
complied with. The management then reviewed the findings and
summarised all material issues to the Board and Audit Committee
annually. Review of risk management and internal control functions
are conducted on an annual basis.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

IFERRBEENERENEN TR HE
BN TFHR(FE) Bt EHAARA RN
ARG EM162,5008 T - EXEZ B R EMEIESF
EEERZRGAL T FEXBE B -

b EE R AR EEE
EFERRABIARANARE R RAHEE
ES L DEDE S

EEITREEER  AEEXAFIREATK
R EEEARETEBRFERES - B &
HHEERNRARMMEREERADHERZR
BTHENABEERRNIEF  c BEEERR
CERERYBFHMAEARBERRRE
ZeNEREZER AKEERFEELEERH
[\ B I M R SR B AE

2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT



The Group has established guidelines and procedures for the
approval and control of expenditures, to ensure the reliability of the
financial reporting, effectiveness and efficiency of operation and
the compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Whilst these
guidelines and procedures are designed to identify, monitor, report
and follow up on risks that could adversely impact the achievement
of the Group’s business objectives, they do not provide absolute
assurance against material misstatement, errors, losses, fraud or
non-compliance.

Although the Company does not have internal audit function, the
Board has put in place adequate measures to perform the internal
audit function at different aspects of the Group. The Group has
engaged Pivot CPA Limited (“Pivot”) to review the effectiveness
and efficiency of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems in relation to the financial, operational and compliance
controls, and the results were summarised and discussed with the
Audit Committee and the Board. The Audit Committee and the
Board are satisfied with the effectiveness and adequacy of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group.

INSIDE INFORMATION POLICY

The Company has established policy for ensuring that inside
information is disseminated to the public in an equal and timely
manner in accordance with applicable laws and regulations.
Procedures such as limit access to inside information to those
who need to know and requiring external parties to execute
confidentiality agreement have been implemented by the Company
to guard against mishandling of inside information. The Company
also reminds those relevant personnel and other professional parties
to preserve confidentiality of the inside information until it is publicly
disclosed.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has appointed Mr. Leung Hoi Ki, who is responsible
for facilitating the Board process, as well as communications among
the Directors, with shareholders and management. Mr. Leung has
confirmed that for the Review Year, he has taken no less than 15
hours of professional training to upgrade his skills and knowledge.
The biography of Mr. Leung is set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of the Directors and Senior Management” in
this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERELIRS

REEE I ERERIEFIFOES kT
NHERP R EN A ST - BENE KX
ARBTERERER - BEZFRIIREF
EHERM  BR RENREFRUAEEE
BEBERETNEENRR - BEABHR
ERPBEBARERM - 53R - B FFRAA
B e

BEARRWARAREANNE XL BES
SERMASRIENESANEETNREAEET
W EEZ R 8E - NEBZEEPivot CPA Limited
(TPivot D ET AL BT - K& K& FIEHIAE
PARBERE LN EITEERNRERSE &
MEREHEREZE S REST GRS RAW -
EREEENETEEMNIEENEREER
NI EIERZTIBE NS °

R EH B BUR

ARRAREHEBRE - UWHERAREEREER
SEBI RER AT BRI R AR o RAR]
WITZHEER  GINRBIEBEABEENAL
REFRINFALRBRE DS NER2TER
BABHE - AR T REABAEREME
EATBABHBERE BEEARBEARL -

REWE
ARAERZERBHELAERBDESTSHE
B ARREEE RN EFER RN ERE
ZEWER  RELABABNEEFE  REE
TR NEZ BRFIINERERERE
BEHME - REENEEENAREEERD
RELEREER ] -

2022/23F3 o HEAEERERERERLA

41



42

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERELRS

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Convening General Meetings by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Restated Articles, the Board may,
whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting.

Extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened on the
requisition of one or more shareholder holding, at the date of
deposit of requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company having the right of voting at general meetings.

Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the
Company Secretary by mail at Office K, 12/F, Kings Wing Plaza 2,
No. 1 On Kwan Street, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong for the
purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisition(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s)
by the Company.

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meeting

Shareholders are requested to follow Article 64 of the Restated
Articles for including a resolution at an extraordinary general
meeting. The requirements and procedures are set out above in the
paragraph headed “Procedures for Convening General Meetings by
Shareholders”.

Pursuant to Article 113 of the Restated Articles, no person, other
than a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by the Board
for election, be eligible for election to the office of Director at any
general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to propose
that person for election as a Director and notice in writing by that
person of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the
head office or at the registration office. The period for lodgment
of the notices required will commence no earlier than the day after
the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for
such election and end no later than seven days prior to the date of
such general meeting and the minimum length of the period during
which such notices to the Company may be given will be at least
seven days.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

IR RAER
BRREMBRRAREZERF

RELEINAAEAF  EFEGARERR/A
ERRE B RRRSIAE

BRENAGTAB - ERZHZRRERR
B EZERRNRRERHERERRAFATDR
THZ—ZHMEENRBRRAE LRREZAR
BIBUR AR o

FRFBRANEANARNESSA R AWER
HEFEREFRAPARET R RIRES?2
HI 1218KE) - EUBREESRREAHER
PrigR 2 EM =B M BRAKRRENAE - B
SRANREEREMEARNGH - NEES
ERHERHRI2IARNRELHBRERAS
& BIBEEAJHZEBLANAZARSTAR
TEREH  Mz(F)FERARESSREZ
REAEAMBRNAESEERBAART

BRfE -

RBERAELREBRZER

RERABRBE BN MR EAMFERRE N KR E
ER2RZER - HERTEREFHN LR
BRBRRAGZREFI K-

RIFEEINARE113MF - BRIF-BAAEHESR
ZEANTEEFESNERBRAL —HZ RS
ATBRERPAEBBEEZEABANCERE
MM ER - TAERALREESR
SEREEMNRRAG LEELHEES BRI
HEEEHE) - EXMABANHRETER
BERETEEMARNRRASBEETELZ
BR ATERZBRRASARAHILR -
MAAARELZERBNZZEARARED
+H-

2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT



Procedures by which Enquiries may be Put to the
Board

The Group values feedback from shareholders on its efforts
to promote transparency and foster investor relationship.
Shareholders are welcomed to send their enquiries to the Board
by post to the principal place of business set out in the section
headed “Corporation Information” in this report or by email at
info@dragonrise-group.com.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board strives to maintain on-going dialogue with shareholders
and the investment community, the Company has established a
shareholders’ communication policy to set out the Company’s
procedures in providing the shareholders and investment community
with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and understandable
information about the Company.

Latest information on the Group including, but not limited to
annual and interim reports, circulars, announcements and notices of
annual general meetings are updated on the website of the Stock
Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and on the website of the Company
(www.kitkee.com.hk).

In addition, the Company regards the annual general meeting as
the primary forum for communication by the Company with its
shareholders and for shareholder participation. Shareholders are
encouraged to attend the annual general meeting, where all Board
members and external auditor are available to answer questions on
the Group’s business.

The annual general meeting will be held on Friday, 11 August
2023, the notice of which shall be sent to the shareholders of the
Company at least 20 clear business days prior to the meeting.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

Save for the adoption of the Restated Articles for the purpose of
the Listing, during the Review Year, there had been no significant
changes in the constitutional documents of the Company.
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INTRODUCTION

Dragon Rise Group Holdings Limited and its operating subsidiary,
namely Kit Kee Engineering Limited ("KKE"” or the “Company”)
(Collectively, called "DRG" or “the Group”) are a long-established
subcontractor of foundation works services in Hong Kong. Our
services are mainly required in the construction of commercial
and residential buildings. We principally provides excavation
and lateral support works, pile cap construction works, and the
disposal of excavated materials from piling and ancillary services,
including dismantling of shoring, site formation, steel fixing and site
clearance, in Hong Kong.

The board of Directors (the “Board”) is fully committed to
formulating and implementing ESG strategies. Its ESG performance
is supervised by the Board members. Relevant risks and
opportunities have been embedded into the Group’s strategic
goals, which are also closely aligned with the overall mission and
vision on sustainability. While developing the Group’s goals, we
firmly adhered to principles of good corporate governance and had
carefully considered our activities’ influences on the environment
and the Hong Kong society. Corporate social responsibilities were
also integrated into the Group’s business strategy and management
approach.

The Group is delighted to present the Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG") Report for the year ended 31 March 2023
(“Review Year”) in the following to illustrate and highlight our
efforts and performance in achieving sustainable development in
both the environment and social aspects.

This ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide as set out
in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“the
Listing Rules”) (“ESG Reporting Guide”), with the aim to inform
relevant parties and stakeholders of our policies, measures and
performance regarding environmental, social and governance issues.
To ensure a comprehensive ESG reporting, we would continuously
take note of different ESG issues and assess their relevance to our
ESG reporting.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES AND BOUNDARY

This Report mainly covers the major operation of the Group in Hong
Kong which is provision of foundation works service. Information
in this Report was sourced from the official documents, statistical
data and operational information of the Group. We adhered to
the reporting principles of the ESG Guide, namely “Materiality”,
“Quantitative” and “Consistency” principles that are described
below.
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Materiality: The Group has identified key ESG issues through its
annual materiality assessment Topics that are relevant and important
to the stakeholder and the Group are covered in this Report.

Quantitative: Key performance indicators (KPIs) in this Report
explained its purpose and are applicable for comparisons.

Consistency: Consistent methodologies are adopted over time to
allow meaningful comparisons of ESG data.

BOARD STATEMENT

The Group's internal strategies, policies and procedures are designed
with the objective of creating sustainable values for its stakeholders
and minimising the Group’s unavoidable environmental impacts
generated from operation. The Board has ultimate responsibility for
ensuring the effectiveness of the Group’s ESG management.

The governance structure is led by the Board while power and
authority are delegated to the management of the Group. The
management of the Group has embedded ESG issues in the Group's
overall direction and strategies, and is responsible for establishing
an ESG strategy, managing risk management, and keeping
updated on regulatory updates with assistance from key members
of the operational department (the “ESG workgroup”). The ESG
workgroup is responsible for identifying business related ESG issues,
determining the Group’s ESG goals and target, monitoring ESG
performance and reporting to the management. All business entities
and departments are covered by the risk governance structure and
risk management process of the Group.

The Board, the management and the ESG workgroup organise
and hold an ESG management meeting quarterly to review the
implementation of ESG work, the content of policy and strategies
established, and the goals and targets set so as to ensure that
appropriate policy and effective ESG risk management are in place.

STAKEHOLDER COMMUNICATION

Communication with stakeholders is extremely crucial to our group,
we insist on continually seeking opportunities to do so. We work
to thoroughly understand the needs and expectations of various
stakeholders through daily communication, the Group’s official
website, e-mail, and other channels and respond to them. The
Group has established a communication mechanism for stakeholder
expectations and concerns and proactively builds a relationship of
mutual trust. The people and groups that significantly influence the
Group's activities or are significantly affected by its operations serve
as our key stakeholder group.
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group conducts materiality assessment annually to identify the
material ESG factors. The Board and the ESG workgroup have taken
part in the assessment to be one of the key stakeholders to provide
opinions on the selection of material ESG factors.

In the materiality assessment, we first identify potential ESG
reporting issues. The issues are then being analysed to determine
the importance to the Group’s stakeholders and business in
aspects such as the Group’s strategies, market development and
stakeholders’ concerns. Following this, the identified ESG issues
are listed, discussed and given priority. Finally, it is evaluated and
approved by the management.

. ENVIRONMENTAL

1.1

Environmental Policies

The Group complies with its industry relevant
environmental laws, regulations, codes of practice, and
other requirements. The Group implements different
measures to avoid, reduce or control pollution where
technically and economically feasible in order to reduce
greenhouse gas emissions and air emissions to safeguard
the health of both our workers and our stakeholders.

Air pollution control: ensure strict compliance
with the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter
311 of the Laws of Hong Kong) in areas including
“construction dust” and “open burning”.

Procedures are set up to mitigate and control
dust or air pollutants emission. The procedures
cover areas relevant to storing, handling and
transporting construction materials, using tools
and vehicles, and using eco-friendly fuel.

Waste control: ensure strict compliance with
the Waste Disposal (Chemical Waste) (General)
Regulation (Chapter 354C of the Laws of Hong
Kong) in the handling of “general waste”,
“construction waste” and “chemical waste”.

Procedures are set up for handling and disposing
wastes, setting up and maintaining waste storage
conditions, and regulating protective gear for
personnel handling different types of wastes.
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o Noise pollution control: ensure strict compliance
with the Noise Control Ordinance (Chapter 400 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) in terms of “construction
time regulation” and “construction noise
mitigation and control”.

Procedures are set up to regulate the allowable
time and the specific types of equipment for
conducting percussive piling works. Measures
to mitigate the impact of noise pollution such
as choosing tools that would emit less noise,
scheduling noisy works to be further away from
residential areas, schools and hospitals, and
installing noise shields around equipment that is
expected to emit a lot of noise.

o Water pollution control: ensure strict
compliance with the Water Pollution Control
Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) concerning sewage that would result
from concrete works, vehicle cleaning, other
construction procedures, and site canteen and
toilet facilities.

Procedures are set up to regulate the discharge
of waste water into designated waste water
discharge points. Measures to prevent leakage of
waste water into non-designated discharge point
are instructed to foremen to control the impact of
waste water to the neighbouring communities.

We ensure that the execution of all construction works
complies with the relevant laws and regulations, namely,
the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), the Noise Control Ordinance
(Chapter 400 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Water
Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter
354 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

During the Review Year, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with laws and regulations
relating to greenhouse gas emissions and air emissions
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste
that would have a significant impact on the Group.
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1.2

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Emissions 1.2 B
Plants, machineries and vehicles consuming fossil fuels is HEBDRHNOEE  HERER
the major source of greenhouse gas emissions from our EHEMEEPAERBHERNEER
operations. R o
The following presents the Group’s Greenhouse Gas TYXNRAEBREEFERNAE
("GHG") emissions for the Review Year: FECE=EREDH Y
Aspects 1.1 Unit 2023 2022
BH1.1 By —E-= TE &
Nitrogen Oxides gram 364,821 378,164
REY) 7
Respiratory Suspended Particles gram 30,172 31,200
BLON =2 3 7
In 2022, the Group set target to reduce 10% of GHG R-ZZE_—_F XAEBEERER
emissions by 2027, using 2022 as the baseline year. B NI _FREEF - 58
To manage the exhausts from our machineries and to EZEZLFHIARD10%0AE
comply with the Air Pollution Control (Non-road Mobile REBYM - REIRMSPTEEN ) R
Machinery) (Emission) Regulation (Chapter 311Z of the RAEEBTFCERSEES GEBEY
Laws of Hong Kong), all our machineries to be used at ) (BERO RO (BEEDE
construction sites comply with the prescribed emission 3MZE)  BMERETIHFERAN
standards. Further, all our plants, machineries and motor FrE eI E R ENPERURE -
vehicles use diesels with sulphur content not exceeding Btah - PR ERE -« #es oq
0.005%. BEHEREME TH1B0.005%H) 5
iils
Use of Resources 1.3 BiRER

In 2022, the Group set target to reduce 10% of energy
consumption by 2027, using 2022 as the baseline year.
The Group is committed to minimizing the impact of its
business activities to the environment by following the
below principles:

o comply with all the legal requirements
and contractual obligations relevant to the
environmental aspects in the construction
contracts in which the Group engaged.

o reduce and avoid creating wastes.

o obtain and renew the mandatory environmental
licenses, registrations and permits.

o turn off the air-conditioning system at night or
when leaving the office.
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o keep the office temperature at 25°C in summer.
o use LED lights or energy-saving lighting at our
office.

The following presents the Group’s direct energy
consumption for the Review Year:

BiR - tgRELRES
- EFBBATAERHE
25°C e

o HEMAEEMLEDEKERRLIR
AR

AEBROBEFENEZERHEE
5T

Aspects 2.1 Unit 2023 2022
[Em2.1 By —=E-= —E_-—
Electricity Usage kWh 11,229 11,403
HE= TR

Electricity Usage Intensity kWh/office 11,229 11,403
RAE=E TERE PAE

Owing to the nature of our operations, other than
the consumption of drinking water, our operations do
not require the use of water or raw materials. There is
also an absence of packing materials involved in our
operations. As such, the Group has not placed emphasis
on the development of policies in these areas.

Waste Management 1.4

Due to the nature of our construction works, our major
non-hazardous waste is construction and demolition
(“C&D") materials composed principally of soil. To
control air pollution during transportation of C&D
materials to landfills, we ensure the dump trucks used
by our subcontractors are installed with a mechanical
cover system which is in good service condition to cover
the dump bed containing the C&D materials. Further,
all dump trucks exiting construction sites are required
to have the dust or debris on top of the mechanical to
be cleaned so as not to obstruct its operation or pollute
areas close to the vicinity of construction sites.

Although we are well aware of potential pollutions
C&D materials can bring to the environment, the Group
is unable to control the quantity of C&D materials
to be disposed in a project. The required disposal
quantity is stipulated in the construction program in the
construction contract, and the program is designed by
the main contractor or the employer to the contract.
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DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Regarding hazardous waste, the Group does not
produce any from its operations and thus consider
ESG reporting in this aspect is irrelevant to the Group.
During the Review Year, the Group had 22 projects that
disposed of soil as compared to 23 for the year ended
31 March 2022. The following presents the relevant
comparison:

NEZEEYME  AEENERL
EEXTHNEEZSEY  HWREEH
HAERIRE e REREARE
EEE - NRBETE - AEEES
NREEARELENEE  MEBEE=
T -_—_F=-A=+—RHULFEAA
231E - AL 2ANWNT -

Aspects 1.4 Unit 2023 2022
[Em1.4 By —E-= —E_—
Construction disposal: Soil tonnes 1,914,684 956,948
BREREY - IR A
Construction disposal intensity tonnes/per construction

projects 87,031 41,606

BREEEWETE

The soil that is required to be disposed as a part of our
operations are disposed of in designated locations as
prescribed under applicable laws. The quantity of soil
to be disposed of is determined by our customers and
is otherwise proportionate to the number of projects
undertaken by the Company. As such, the Company
does not have a reduction policy that may apply to the
disposal of soil.

The main type of waste disposed of in the course of the
Company's operations is that of soil. The Company is
not required to dispose of hazardous waste.

Climate Change

The Group recognises the importance of the
identification and mitigation of significant climate-
related matters; therefore, the Group is committed
to managing the potential climate-related risks which
may impact the Group'’s business activities. The Group
has established risk management policy in identifying
and mitigating different risks including climate-related
risks. The Board meets regularly and cooperates closely
with key management to identify and evaluate climate-
related risks and to formulate strategies to manage the
identified risks.

Wa, S EEEEE
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Through the above method, the Group identified the
material impacts on the Group’s business arising from
the following risks:

Physical Risks

The increased frequency and severity of extreme
weather such as typhoons, storms and heavy rains can
disrupt the Group's operations by damaging the power
grid and communication infrastructures, and injuring
its employees during their work, leading to reduced
capacity and decreased in productivity, or expose
the Group to risks associated with non-performance
and delayed performance. To minimise the potential
risks and hazards, the Group has flexible working
arrangements and precautionary measures during bad
or extreme weather conditions.

Transition Risks

The Group anticipates that there will be more stringent
climate legislations and regulations to support the
global vision of carbon neutrality. From a listed
company’s perspective, we acknowledge the increasing
requirements of climate-related information disclosures.
One example is the update of the ESG Reporting
Guide in respect to significant climate-related impact
disclosures of an issuer. Stricter environmental laws
and regulations may expose enterprises to higher risks
of claims and lawsuits. Corporate reputation may
also decline due to failure to meet the compliance
requirements for climate change. The related capital
investment and compliance costs thus increase.
In response to the policy and legal risks as well
as reputation risks, the Group regularly monitors
existing and emerging trends, policies and regulations
relevant to climate and be prepared to alert the top
management where necessary to avoid cost increments,
non-compliance fines and/or reputational risks due to
delayed response.
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DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

SOCIAL
1.1 Employment and Labor Practices

Employees are our most invaluable assets. It is our
priority to ensure that the occupational health and
safety of all employees, subcontractor workers and
the surrounding communities to our construction
sites is adequately maintained. Our comprehensive
Safety Management System provides a framework
for monitoring and evaluating the implementation of
our safety policies and measures. We further strive to
continuously improve our workplace safety policies
in accordance with guidance received from the Labor
Department from time to time.

It is also our aim to enhance the well-being and
development of our employees. As an equal opportunity
employer, the Group has put in place policies to
ensure that it treats all employees on an equal footing
in matters related to, among others, recruitment,
promotion, appraisals, discipline, remuneration and
benefits, compensation and dismissal, and working
hours and rest periods. An employee’s age, gender,
family status, sexual orientation, physical disability,
ethnicity and religion would not affect his career with
us. During the Review Year, we received no complaints
regarding discrimination issues from any of our
stakeholders. Needless to say, we ensured that no child
nor forced labor was employed by the Group.

Apart from providing competitive remuneration and
benefits, we continue to support and nurture our
employees through staff development and training
programmes.

The Group has devised a staff handbook for its
employees to understand important information relating
to the Group’s human resources policies, rules, and
work ethics surrounding employment. It is an essential
tool in helping to define the expectations of both the
management and the employees, and also to protect
them from unfair and/ or inconsistent treatment and
discrimination.

During the Review Year, there was no incidence of
labor dispute or litigation regarding compliance to the
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57). Save as disclosed
above, the Group complied with all relevant laws with
respect to employment and labor, and child and forced
labor.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Group had employed 304 full-time employees as
at 31 March 2023, all of whom are from Hong Kong.
Out of the total number of staff, 271 of our employees
were male and 33 of them were female. Majority of the
workforce were within the 41-70 age group, accounting
for 244 of our staff, while 58 employees were under 40
years old.

During the Review Year, the Group's overall full-time
employee turnover rate was approximately 23%. The
employee turnover rate for male and female were
approximately 24% and 17% respectively.

Health and Safety

The management of the Group is responsible for the
overall health and safety of employees. The Group has
been accredited with, and our policies follow, OHSAS
18001:2007 for our occupational health and safety
management system.

We place emphasis on occupational health and work
safety and provide safety training to our staff covering
topics such as our safety measures and procedures
for reporting accidents. Due to the nature of works
in construction sites, risks of accidents or injuries to
workers are inherent. As such, we devised a safety
management system to govern our site workers and
subcontractors.

Work injuries will be reported according to our internal
guidelines which was set up with reference to the work
injury reporting requirement by the Labor Department.
Based on our safety management system, we ensured
safety and health of our employees in connection with
the use, handling, storage and transport of articles
and substances; providing all necessary information,
instructions, training and supervision for ensuring safety
and health; providing and maintaining safe access to
and egress from the workplaces; and providing and
maintaining a safe and healthy working environment.

During the Review Year, 15 incidents of work injuries
arose, which led to 4,546 lost labor days (FY2022: 18
incidents of work injuries occurred, which led to 5,454
lost labor days). The Group is pleased to report that no
fatality cases related to our employees occurred during
the Review Year.
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1.3

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Our safety officer and board of directors are responsible
for overseeing our Group's health and safety
management system to ensure our compliance with the
relevant statutory requirements. A safety committee
meeting is held on a monthly basis with our foremen
for reviewing the health and safety issues related to our
operations. Under the direction of our safety officer,
our foremen are responsible for monitoring on-site
implementation of our safety management system.

Save as disclosed above, the Company complied with
all relevant laws with respect to the provision of a safe
working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

Training and Development

The knowledge and skill levels of our employees are vital
to the Group's success, and hence we provide sufficient
training and development programmes to allow them to
excel at their work.

Our training programmes range from professional and
technical training to personal development skills and our
employees are required to attend an induction training
to ensure they thoroughly understood the Group's
safety and health policies. In addition, the Group
provides adequate job and safety training to employees
to equip them with the required safety knowledge and
work skills to tackle situations and challenges to be
encountered at diverse work sites.

During the Review Year, the percentage breakdown of
employees trained and the average training hours per
employee, by gender and employee category are as
follows:
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lll. OPERATING PRACTICES

.1

.2

Supply Chain Management

As mentioned, our quality management system which
governs our daily operation for quality control and
improvement meets the requirements of 1SO 9001:2015.
Our internal policies and thus the procurement process
are governed by this standard. We maintain an
approved suppliers list set up by the board of directors.
Only suppliers meeting our stringent quality standards
can be added to the list for our purchases.

Under our policies, our Purchasing Department will
only purchase supplies from these approved suppliers
to ensure quality of our purchases. During the Review
Year, the Group had engaged 51 (FY2022: 58) suppliers
and subcontractors while all of them were located
in Hong Kong. Further, with reference to the quality
requirement of our construction projects, our project
staff or the directors would also pay visits to suppliers to
communicate our requirements, while at the same time
inspect the suppliers’ warehouse to conduct a sample
check on the quality of the goods. Upon reception of
goods at project sites, the foremen are responsible for
the inspection of the delivered goods to ensure they can
meet our quality requirements before settling payment.

For subcontractors’ quality management, similar to
that of purchasing, we maintain a list of approved
subcontractors. Regular inspection on the quality of
works and progress as delivered by our subcontractors
would be performed by our project managers. We have
made it clear to our subcontractors that compliance
with the labor laws and regulations is mandatory when
handling safety and employment matters at construction
sites.

During the Review Year, the Group did not identify any
non-compliances in relation to safety and labor laws and
regulations.

Product Responsibility

Achieving and maintaining high quality standard for
projects are the most important for the sustainable
growth of the Group. The Group strives to maintain
good relationship with our major customers to
establish good reputation and to gain future business
opportunity.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware
of any material non-compliance with any laws and
regulations in Hong Kong related to product health
and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided and methods
of redress including but not limited to, the Trade
Descriptions Ordinance and Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance, that would have a significant impact to the
Group. There was no complaint received during the
Reporting Period. Given the Group’s business nature,
the Group was not involved in the sale of products,
therefore disclosure on product recall procedures and
number of products recalled are not applicable.

lll.3 Anti-corruption

Over the years, we have witnessed no incidences
of suspected or actual bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering activities occurring within the Group.
We stand firmly by our anti-corruption policies and
procurement practices as stated in our internal manuals
which comply with applicable laws. Acceptance of
kickbacks, commissions or any form of benefit is strictly
prohibited during any procurement exercise, contract
negotiation or other business dealings.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware
of any material non-compliance with any laws and
regulations in Hong Kong related to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering including but not limited
to, the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance, that would have
a significant impact to the Group.

lll.4 Conflict of Interest Management

In order to prevent employees from not taking
corresponding measures because of their personal
interests, the Group has formulated the “Declaration
of Interest” which provides guidelines and procedures
to employees in exercising their utmost good faith and
honesty in all transactions involving their duties and
under no circumstances use their positions or knowledge
gained for their own personal benefits. Employees must
ensure that there is no conflict of interest between
their personal interests and their duties, obligations and
responsibilities to the Group. Those who have or have
had a personal relationship with related person where
a conflict of interest is perceived should provide written
declarations at the earliest possible opportunity.
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lI.5 Whistleblowing Mechanism

Committed to the highest possible standards of
openness, probity and accountability, the Group expects
and encourages our employees who have concerns
about any suspected misconduct or malpractice within
the Group to come forward and voice those concerns.
Therefore, the Group adopts a “Whistleblowing Policy”
for all levels and operations. Complainants are assured
of protection against unfair dismissal, victimisation or
unwarranted disciplinary action, even if the concerns
turn out to be unsubstantiated. The Audit Committee
is responsible for monitoring and reviewing the
effectiveness of the “Whistleblowing Policy” and make
recommendations for further improvement based on
investigation results.

.6 Community Investment

We are committed to making a positive impact on the
communities we serve. In September 2022, the Group
made a contribution to the charity event “Cantonese
Opera for the Elderly, Welcoming Mid-Autumn Festival”
(BEZEEBRERDFM). This event aimed to bring
joy and entertainment to the elderly in Hong Kong by
offering free livestream Cantonese Opera performances
and making donations of goods through various charity
organizations. Through this involvement, we sought
to enhance the well-being and quality of life of the
elderly in our community. Furthermore, in March 2023,
the Group contributed to a charity donation initiative
that focused on providing staple food to families in
need. Through the distribution channels of numerous
organizations, we aimed to reach out to disadvantaged
families and alleviate their hardships.

We believe in the importance of giving back and
supporting the well-being of the communities we
operate in and will continue to participate in various
charity activities to support those in need.

IV. FUTURE APPROACH TO SUSTAINABLE
DEVELOPMENT

In the future, we will:

continue to raise our staff and subcontractors’
awareness in relation to environmental protection;

maintain the highest standards for occupational health
and safety to protect our staff members and the
communities located in the vicinity of our operations;
and

further extend our care to the community by
participating in more charity services.
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The Board is pleased to submit this annual report together with the
audited financial statements of the Group for the Review Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company, the principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

REORGANISATION AND SHARE OFFER

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 22
February 2017 as an exempted company with limited liability. The
Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 8
February 2018.

Pursuant to the Reorganisation, the Company became the holding
company of the Group on 21 August 2017.

RESULTS/BUSINESS REVIEW

The results of the Group for the Review Year are set out in the
section headed “Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income” on page 78 in this report. The business
review of the Group for the Review Year is set out in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 6 to 20.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movement in the share capital of the Company during
the Review Year are set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the
Review Year are set out in the section headed “Consolidated
Statement of Changes in Equity” on page 81.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company at 31 March 2023, calculated
under the Companies Law of Cayman Islands amounted to
approximately HK$67.1 million (31 March 2022: HK$70.1 million).

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend the declaration of a final
dividend for the Review Year.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
GROUP’S SECURITIES

During the Review Year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Group’s
securities.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movement in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Review Year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Restated
Articles or the Laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company are set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” on pages 27 to 43 in this report.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING ("AGM")

The 2023 AGM will be held on 11 August 2023. The notice of
the AGM will be published and dispatched to shareholders of the
Company in the manner as required by the Listing Rules in due
course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Hong Kong branch register of members of the Company will be
closed from 8 August 2023 to 11 August 2023 (both dates inclusive)
for the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to attend
and vote at the forthcoming AGM. No transfer of shares may be
registered on those dates. In order to qualify for the shareholders’
entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates should be lodged
with the Company’s Branch Registrar in Hong Kong, Boardroom
Share Registrars (HK) Limited, 2103B, 21/F, 148 Electric Road, North
Point Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 7 August 2023.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEHE

BE HEIEOAEERES

REBEFE - AARNREEANB QRS ER
B hESERAREEE(AES

E R L VE S
AEREREEFEONE  BRRRELDH
BRSBTS MR 13 -

BEABERE

18 3 51) 40 81| o B 2 B B A 1) 4 ST AT B
BEE BEAQAARLYARERTEE
AL ©

TEER
ARAEMEREBER ZEMINARES
7EA3ATEEREARE]—H -

BREFAS(RRBERZ])
—ECFRBBEFREER S _=ZFNA
+—HET - RRBFEASBEEHIZ LETHRA
MEANBREAMETETFAQRRE -

HEREBFERR
RABEBERDBEELIEBSNR T -_=F
NANBE-_ZE-_=ZF)\B+—BEEEE®W
B EERERMDBEER  UWEEREAER
HEEERRABFASTNG ERE - REE
HEBEERERNDBEELTFE - BRERERK
REGEREEREBFERASTRNE LRE -
FEBPXHERBEREER-_ZE=_=FN
AEtBTHFOE=+28] FEARREFER
DBFETEDREERESFZLAR AR ik
AEBILAERE148552112103B=) °

2022/23F3 o HEAEERERERERLA

59



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFERE

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the Review Year and up to the
date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yip Yuk Kit (Chairman)
Mr. Cheung Chun Fai

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Ka Yu
Mr. Lee Kwok Lun
Mr. Chan Wa Shing

In accordance with article 108 of the Restated Articles, at each
annual general meeting, one third of the Directors for the time
being will retire from office by rotation. However, if the number of
Directors is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but
not less than one third shall be the number of retiring Directors. The
Directors who shall retire in each year will be those who have been
longest in the office since their last re-election or appointment but
as between persons who become or were last re-elected Directors
on the same day those to retire will (unless they otherwise agree
among themselves) be determined by lot.

In accordance with article 112 of the Restated Articles, any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office only until the next following AGM of the Company and
shall then be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with article 108 of the Restated Articles, Mr. Yip
Yuk Kit, Mr. Cheung Chun Fai, and Mr. Chan Wa Shing will retire
as Directors by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to the Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Details of Director’s service contracts are set out in the section
headed "Biographical Details of the Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 21 to 26.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has a service contract with any member of
the Group which is not determinable by the Group within one
year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

COMPETING INTERESTS

The Directors confirm that neither the controlling shareholders of
the Company nor their respective close associates is interested in
a business apart from the Group’s business which competes or is
likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business
during the Review Year, and is required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS

As disclosed in the prospectus of the company dated 26 January
2018, Mr. Yip and Fame Circle Limited (the “Controlling
Shareholders”) entered into a deed of non-competition in favour of
the Company on 18 January 2018 regarding the non-competition
undertakings given by each of the Controlling Shareholders in
favour of the Company (for itself and as trustee for its subsidiaries)
(the “Non-competition Undertakings”). A summary of the principal
terms of the Non-competition Undertakings is set out in the section
headed “Relationship with our Controlling Shareholders” of the
prospectus of the Company.

The Controlling Shareholders have provided a written confirmation
to the Company confirming that he/it has fully complied with the
Non-competition Undertakings. The independent non-executive
Directors have reviewed the confirmations of the Controlling
Shareholders and were satisfied that the Controlling Shareholders
have fully complied with the terms of the Non-competition
Undertakings during the Review Year. No new competing business
was reported by the Controlling Shareholders throughout the
Relevant Period.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited
consolidated financial statements in this report, is set out on page
156.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance coverage for
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its
Directors and senior management arising from corporate activities.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No Director, or any entity connected with a Director, had any
material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance to the business of the
Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party
during the Review Year.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as otherwise disclosed, no contract of significance to which
the Company, its holding companies, or any of its subsidiaries was
a party, and in which the controlling shareholders’ of the Company
had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted or at
any time during the Review Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Review Year.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of Directors and senior management of the
Group are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of the
Directors and Senior Management” on pages 21 to 26.

EMOLUMENT POLICY FOR DIRECTORS

A remuneration committee is set up for reviewing the Group’s
emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the
Directors and senior management of the Group. The Remuneration
Committee recommends Directors’ remuneration to the Board by
reference to the benchmarking of the market. The Company also
looks into individual Director’s competence, duties, responsibilities,
performance and the results of the Group in determining the exact
level of remuneration for each Director.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
EMOLUMENTS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ and chief executives’” emoluments and the
five highest paid individuals are set in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND
THE ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of the
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) which have been
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including any interests or
short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO) or which, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
have been entered in the register referred to therein, or have been,
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Companies (the “Model Code"”) in the Listing Rules,
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Long Position in Our Shares

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEHE
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Number of

ordinary Shares Percentage of

Name of Directors Capacity/Nature held/interested in shareholding
BEBERR

EENSA 56, HE HZEREE BEED

Mr. Yip Yuk Kit Interest in a controlled corporation (Note) 890,000,000 74.17%

EEARE ZiEEE e (M) 890,000,000 74.17%

Note: The Company will be owned as to 74.17% by Fame Circle Limited.
Fame Circle Limited is legally and beneficially owned as to 100% by
Mr. Yip. Under the SFO, Mr. Yip is deemed to be interested in the
same number of Shares held by Fame Circle Limited.

Mzt : AQF & AFame Circle Limited#H74.17% °
Fame Circle Limited R £ ERERHE S
ik o RIBEFHFRBAEKRD  EEERKEA
#Fame Circle Limited ST i8R £ B D R A
M o
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Long Position in the Shares of Associated
Corporation

REBEERODPNER

Number of
Name of associated ordinary shares Percentage of
Name of Directors corporation Capacity/Nature held/interested in interest
BEBEER
BEEnR HEEE AR 5 HE VEBERE A EEEIL
Mr. Yip Yuk Kit Fame Circle Limited Beneficial interest 50,000 100%
EEREAE Fame Circle Limited ey 50,000 100%

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the Directors
had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange under
the Model Code.

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL AND OTHER
SHAREHOLDERS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2023, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the
Company) had interests or short positions in Shares or underlying
Shares which would fell to be disclosed to the Company and the
Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO or, who are, directly or indirectly, interested in 10%
or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the
Company or any other member of the Group:

BREXFEEEN R-B_=F=A=1+—
B BEESNAQAHEEMEBERE(EE
REHZ LB HOIEXVER) R - 8RR
HERETFEAETAERIAR  AREES
KNEIEGEAIE3S2ERENERLM - KRER
TR G AR A LB

FERRREAMBKRRA KRG R EE
R4 By R

REERM R-ZZTE-=F=A=+—H" T
AL (AEFARRAREFHEFTHABR) KK
0 SKARBE AR 12 TR B AR IR E 75 R B (R B B XVED
F2R3DEMREAME AR R R RATR#ELS
HORE - REEREREE M RN A EER
BRTRARA KA KBTI RN B QR
RAE LRENEMRRBRANEE10%3K A
s

Number of

ordinary Shares Percentage of

Name Capacity/Nature held/interested in interest
BEBEER

B HE 55, HE VEBERE B EZEIL

Fame Circle Limited Beneficial interest (Note 1) 890,000,000 74.17%

Fame Circle Limited B (1) 890,000,000 74.17%

Ms. Yip Lai Ping Interest of spouse (Note 2) 890,000,000 74.17%

EENRL i B 4 =5 (T 5E2) 890,000,000 74.17%

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes:

1. Fame Circle is owned as to 100% by Mr. Yip. Mr. Yip is the sole
director of Fame Circle. Under the SFO, Mr. Yip is deemed to be
interested in the same number of Shares held by Fame Circle.

2. Ms. Yip is the spouse of Mr. Yip. Under the SFO, Ms. Yip is deemed
to be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr. Yip is
interested.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) on 18 January 2018 which will remain in force for ten
years from that date. The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme
is approximately five years. The purpose of the Share Option
Scheme is to attract and retain the best available personnel of our
Group, and to allow the participants of the scheme an opportunity
to have a personal stake in the Company.

Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include any
employee (full-time or part-time), director, consultant or advisor of
any member of the Group, or any substantial shareholder of the
Company, or any distributor, contractor, supplier, agent, customer,
business partner or service provider of any member of the Group.
The basis of eligibility of any participant to the grant of an option
under the scheme will be determined by the Board from time to
time based on their contribution or potential contribution to the
development and growth of the Group.

The number of shares issuable under options granted to each
eligible participant in accordance with the Share Option Scheme
shall be limited to 30% of the shares of the Company in issue from
time to time, and limited to 10% of the shares in issue as at the
date of the Company’s listing.

Each grant of options to a Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company (or any of their respective associates)
must be approved by our independent non-executive Directors
(excluding independent non-executive Director who is the grantee
of the option). Where any grant of options to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive Director (or any of
their respective associates) would result in the Company’s shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options already granted
and to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to such person in excess of 0.1% of the issued shares
of the Company in aggregate and with an aggregate value (based
on the closing price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant)
in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, is subject to
shareholders’ approval in advance in general meeting.
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The exercise price of options is determined by the Board, but shall
be at least the highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on
the date of grant of the option, which must be a business day; (ii)
the average closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; and (iii) the
par value of the Company’s shares.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of securities
of the Company available for issue under the Share Option Scheme
was 120,000,000, representing 10% of the issued shares as at
the date of this annual report. No share option has been granted,
exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Share Option Scheme since
its adoption on 18 January 2018, and there is no outstanding share
option as at 31 March 2023.

ARRANGEMENT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Review Year and up to the date of this
report was the Company or any of its subsidiaries or a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company or any body corporate.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The percentage of sales and purchases for the Review Year
attributable to the Group’ major customers and suppliers are as
follow:

Sales

— the largest customer 49.4% (For the year ended 31 March
2022: 24.1%)
93.2% (For the year ended 31 March

2022: 88.8%)

— five largest customers

Purchases

— the largest supplier 23.6% (For the year ended 31 March
2022: 13.5%)
52.9% (For the year ended 31 March

2022: 43.3%)

— five largest suppliers

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholder
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of
the Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major customers
or suppliers noted above.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken in
the normal course of business are set out in the note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements, and none of which constitutes
a discloseable connected transaction as defined under the Listing
Rules.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 15 to
the consolidated financial statements.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The details of the use of proceeds for the Review Year is set out
in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on
pages 6 to 20 in this report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Directors confirmed
that the Company has maintained a sufficient amount of public
float for its Shares as required under the Listing Rules during the
Review Year and up to the date of this report.

RETIREMENT SCHEME

The Group participates in the mandatory provident fund prescribed
by the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter
485 of the Laws of Hong Kong). Save as the aforesaid, the Group
did not participate in any other pension schemes during the Review
Year.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Review Year have
been audited by Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited, who will
retire and, being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. There has
been no change in the auditor of the Company since its Listing.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REVIEW YEAR

There have been no material events occurring after 31 March 2023
and up to the date of this report.

By Order of the Board

Dragon Rise Group Holdings Limited
Yip Yuk Kit

Chairman and executive Director

Hong Kong, 27 June 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Grant Thornton
=]

To the members of Dragon Rise Group Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Dragon
Rise Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together, the “Group”) set out on pages 78 to 155, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 March 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 March 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Accounting for construction contracts

HAREEREE@
BESHNETRE

Refer to the summary of significant accounting policies in note 2.14, note 4(a) for the critical accounting judgements

involved and note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

The Group recognised revenue and costs from construction
contracts amounted to approximately HK$784,126,000
and HK$759,964,000 respectively for the year ended 31
March 2023.

The Group's revenue and costs of construction contracts
are recognised based on output method by reference
to the direct measurements of the value of the services
transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining services promised under the contract. The value
of the services transferred to customer to date is measured
according to the progress certificate (by reference to
the construction works certified by the customers or
their agents). When the outcome of a construction
contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is
recognised only to the extent of contract costs incurred
that are likely to be recoverable.

These transactions require the management’s estimation
and judgement of the contract revenue, direct cost and
variation works, if any, which may have an impact on the
accounting for construction contract and corresponding
profit margin incurred, we therefore identified such as a
key audit matter.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Our audit procedures in relation to the construction
contracts included the following:

o understanding the basis of estimation of the
budgets through discussion with the management
who is responsible for the budgeting of the
construction contracts, and evaluating the
reasonableness of the estimated profit margins
by taking into account of the profit margins of
historical similar projects;

o inspecting the key terms and conditions of
construction contracts and verifying the total
contract revenue;

o assessing and checking, on a sample basis, the
accuracy of the budgeted construction revenue
by agreeing to contract sum or variation orders
as set out in the construction contracts or the
agreements entered with customers;

. selecting, on a sample basis, the construction
contracts to examine project manager’s budget
of the cost components to actual cost incurred,
such as cost of materials, subcontracting charges
and labour costs, etc. We compared the budgeted
construction costs to the supporting documents
including but not limited to invoices, quotations
and rate of labour costs, etc.; and

o evaluating the management’s assessment on
revenue recognised from the construction
contracts, on a sample basis, based on the latest
progress certificates issued by the customers or
their agents, including the certified contract work
and variation orders, if any, and discussing with
management and the respective project managers
about the progress of the projects and cost
incurred for work performed but not certified.

2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Estimation of expected credit losses on trade

receivables and contract assets

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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HAREEREE®@
TR SRERNRERAENEENTER
FEEER

Refer to the summary of significant accounting policies in note 2.7, note 4(b) for the critical accounting estimates
involved, note 16, note 17 and note 31.4 to the consolidated financial statements.

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

As at 31 March 2023, the net carrying amount of
trade receivables and contract assets amounted to
HK$38,816,000 and HK$132,070,000 respectively (net
of expected credit losses (“ECL") of HK$262,000 and
HK$1,533,000, respectively), accounted for approximately
55% of the Group's total assets in aggregate.

Management performed periodic review on the status of
construction projects and individual credit evaluations on
significant customers. These evaluations focused on the
customer’s settlement history and current and future ability
to pay, and took into account the information specific
to the customer as well as pertaining to the current and
future economic environment in which the customer
operates.

We identified the ECL measurement on trade receivables
and contract assets as a key audit matter due to the
significant management’s judgements and estimates
involved in the ECL assessment.

Our audit procedures in relation to the management’s
assessment on the ECL measurement of trade receivables
and contract assets included:

o understanding, evaluating and validating the
design and operating effectiveness of the controls
over impairment assessment of trade receivables
and contract assets. Those controls related to
the identification of events that triggered the
provision for impairment of receivables from
construction contracts and estimation of the
impairment provisions;

J obtaining management’s assessment on the
collectability of individual significant customers,
and corroborating management’s assessment
against relevant supporting evidence, including
credit history and financial capability of these
customers;

J evaluating the independent external valuer’s
competence, capabilities and objectivities;

J consulting the independent valuer engaged by the
management and obtaining the independent ECL
valuation report to reassess the ECL allowance of
trade receivables and contract assets; and

o assessing the reasonableness of management’s
ECL allowance estimates by examining the
information used by the independent valuer
engaged by the management to form such
judgement, including testing the accuracy of the
historical default data, evaluating whether the
historical loss rates are appropriately adjusted
based on current economic conditions and
forward-looking information.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Accounting for construction contracts
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Estimation of expected credit losses on trade

receivables and contract assets
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B X BEN R =

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the 2023 annual report
of the Company, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors assisted by the Audit Committee are responsible for
overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed
terms of engagement and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B X BEN R =

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

11th Floor, Lee Garden Two

28 Yun Ping Road

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong SAR

27 June 2023

Kan Kai Ching
Practising Certificate No.: P07816
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FelRERtZEaRE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —F - =F=H=+—HIF)F

2023 2022
—E_= —_FE-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
THxT T
Revenue W 2= 5 786,209 613,617
Direct costs HEERA (762,014) (594,243)
Gross profit EF 24,195 19,374
Other gains, net EHbugzs - HE8 6 7,127 1,814
Administrative expenses TR (22,023) (18,958)
Expected credit losses (“ECL") (5HR) BB E S EK
(allowance)/reversal on trade FIER A HE ERTER
receivables and contract assets, net EEBR(EHEERE
EE DB - F5E (74) 336
Finance costs % & A 7 (186) (547)
Profit before income tax R B 15 84 A0 7 8 9,039 2,019
Income tax (expense)/credit Fr5fi () 155 9 (1,116) 5,412
Profit and total comprehensive FRERAR
income for the year 2HKNELEE 7,923 7,431
HK cents HK cents
B4l Bl
Earnings per share attributable to AR EREEAELZ
equity holders of the Company BRER
Basic and diluted HEARRE#E 11 0.66 0.62
The notes on pages 84 to 155 are an integral part of these Z£84ZF 1558 ¥ iR X EEAMBHREY

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
fRe MBI R

Asat 31 March 2023 R-—E-—=#=H=+—H

2023 2022
—_E_= —EF2-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment YIEE - A SR 13 35,179 45,134
Investment property EME 14 4,480 4,790
Trade and other receivables E 5N E bR GRIE 16 168 =
Deferred tax assets FEEFIBE E 22 - 339
39,827 50,263
Current assets REBEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 N E b el FIE 16 39,867 47,655
Contract assets BREE 17 132,070 79,526
Cash, bank balances and pledged e WITHERK
deposits BT 18 96,261 120,419
268,198 247,600
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 N E b e 08 19 (40,490) (35,331)
Contract liabilities aEH8aE 17 (99) (45)
Borrowings, secured HIRHER 20 (1,883) (6,639)
Lease liabilities HEaE 21 (876) (489)
(43,348) (42,504)
Net current assets RBEEFRE 224,850 205,096
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBEE 264,677 255,359
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Lease liabilities HEAE 21 (618) -
Deferred tax liabilities EIEF A B & 22 (777) =
(1,395) -
Net assets BEE 263,282 255,359
2022/23 3 o RERKERZRERERAR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
ReEMERAiR

Asat 31 March 2023 RZFE-_=F=H=+—H

2023 2022
—E-= —=E_—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
CAPITAL AND RESERVE EXR#E

Share capital &z 23 12,000 12,000
Reserves i 24 251,282 243,359

Equity attributable to equity holders 72 Bz iEH AEG
of the Company fE= 263,282 255,359

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27
June 2023.

Mr. Yip Yuk Kit
EBEREE

Director

EF

The notes on pages 84 to 155 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.

EEEeRN T -_—F AT tHILAERRK
HEFEE o

Mr. Cheung Chun Fai
RIRE &
Director

EF

F8AE IS5 AZMEABRAERAMBHRERZ
Al BB °

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ 2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
ﬁA#Emﬁihi

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #Z2 - & - = =F—HIFE

Share Share Other Retained
capital premium* reserve* earnings* Total

A RtaEr  HuREr  RERN* At

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT  TET  TER TR TR

(Note 23) (Note 24) (Note 24)

(fzE23) (FizE24) (FiizE24)

Balance as at 1 April 2021 RZEZ-EMA-R&EH 12,000 96,898 686 138,344 247,928
Profit and total comprehensive FRENRE2AKRER

income for the year - - - 7,431 7,431
Balance as at 31 March 2022 RZZE-—#=ZA=+-AK

and 1 April 2022 “RIEMA-RES 12,000 96,898 686 145,775 255,359
Profit and total comprehensive FRENRE2EKRER

income for the year = = = 7,923 7,923
Balance as at 31 March 2023 R-E-=5=A=1+-H

553 12,000 96,898 686 153,698 263,282

R The reserves accounts comprise the Group's reserves of  * ZERFEGEREEREAERN _ZE-_=F=/A=

HK$251,282,000 (31 March 2022: HK$243,359,000) as at 31 March +—BMERE BRI ETF 251,282,000 7T
2023 in the consolidated statement of financial position. (ZZEZZ=ZF=A=+—H : 243,359,000/
T0) B o

The notes on pages 84 to 155 are an integral part of these  ZEg4Z|55E Y R XSS AHBREY
consolidated financial statements. N s
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FeBeRE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —F - =F=H=+—HIF)F

2023 2022
—E_= —_FE-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHxT FHET
Cash flows from operating activities K& EHFIERERE
Profit before income tax BR 1525 A& £ 9,039 2,019
Adjustments for: BLAT S IEEL FAE
Depreciation e 13 21,678 18,738
ECL allowance/(reversal) on: sHR(BERE) AT IE B /Y
TERRE EEIE R ¢
- contract assets, net -AREE  FE 17 321 501
- trade receivables, net - B S REIKFIA - FRE 16 (247) (837)
Changes in fair value of investment REMENFEES
property 14 310 (70)
Interest income FBUTA 6 (722) (364)
Finance costs 7% & 7 186 547
Net foreign exchange loss/(gain) &5 &R () F58 1,034 (584)
Operating profit before working capital &8 & & & B) B £ & i 7
changes 31,599 19,950
Decrease in trade and other receivables ‘2 5 K - {h JiE U 25 78 ik 2> 6,820 6,757
(Increase)/Decrease in contract assets AHBEGEN, R (52,865) 51,037
Increase/(Decrease) in trade and other B 5 R E M FE( 5718
payables &, G ) 5,159 (1,413)
Increase/(Decrease) in contract liabilities & £9& &30, O 4) 54 (135)
Cash (used in)/generated from & (A FiBE &
operations (9,233) 76,196
Income tax refund R EFTEH - 2,547
Net cash (used in)/from operating HETB) (BT, FTis
activities & FEE (9,233) 78,743

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FERafER

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —F - =F =HA=+—HI-F/Z

REZHRBHRERE
BEWE - W kRE

2023
e

I

HK$'000
FET

2022
—EF2-—

HK$'000
TAT

equipment 13 (9,950) (15,600)
Purchase of financial asset at amortised & B 1% # #5 5k A< 51| BR 49

cost TRMEE (17,532) -
Redemption of financial asset at & [ 42 8 8 A AR D1 BR A

amortised cost CREE 17,532 17,155
Interest received B B 6 722 364
Repayment from a director EFEX 1,047 1,517
Increase in pledged bank deposits B IR IR 1T IE FR 8 h0 (5,000) (15,997)
Net cash used in investing activities REZBAE S F5E (13,181) (12,561)
Cash flows from financing activities BEZHFESRERE
Proceeds from bank borrowings SRITERATE A 30 3,136 35,589
Repayments of bank borrowings BEIFITER 30 (7,892) (40,337)
Payment of lease liabilities SHBEEaE 30 (768) (720)
Interest paid EFE (186) (547)
Net cash used in financing activities A EE TS FE (5.710) (6,015)
Net (decrease)/increase in cashand BERBELZEYWCRD),

cash equivalents I h0EFE (28,124) 60,167
Cash and cash equivalents at the RENHRE RIREE

beginning of the year &Y 99,206 39,039
Cash and cash equivalents at the end RERNEERRESE

of the year (note 18) B (H£18) 71,082 99,206
The notes on pages 84 to 155 are an integral part of these Z#84ZF 1558 v M # Ak % A BtEHREx 2
consolidated financial statements. Ral 2|25 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fReMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 Bl Z —FE_=F=H=+—HI-FZ

GENERAL INFORMATION

Dragon Rise Group Holdings Limited (“the Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability. The Company’s shares are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
"Stock Exchange”).

The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in “Corporate
Information” section to the annual report. As at 31 March
2023, the directors considered the Company’s immediate
and ultimate holding company is Fame Circle Limited (“Fame
Circle”), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
(the “BVI"”) and is wholly owned by Mr. Yip Yuk Kit (“Mr.
Yip”, Mr. Yip and Fame Circle each being a “Controlling
Shareholder”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 15
to the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2023 were approved for issue by the Board of Directors
on 27 June 2023.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the "HKICPA”) and the accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ 2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M5 8 R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —FE _=F=H=+—HI-FZ

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EAEHNHEHEEw@m
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 2.1 EEE@m

The consolidated financial statements also comply with
the applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (“CO") and the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”).

The significant accounting policies that have been
used in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements are summarised below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented in
the consolidated financial statements. The adoption
of new or amended HKFRSs and the impacts on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements, if any, are
disclosed in note 3.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
investment property which is stated at fair value. The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the functional
currency of the Group, and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousands (“HK$'000"), except when otherwise
indicated.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and
assumptions are used in preparation of the consolidated
financial statements. Although these estimates are based
on management’s best knowledge and judgement of
current events and actions, actual results may ultimately
differ from those estimates. The areas involving a
higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M5 H RN

For the year ended 31 March 2023 Bl Z —FE_=F=H=+—HI-FZ

2.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ 2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2023 incorporate the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”). The financial statements of the subsidiaries
are prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing
whether the Group has power over the entity, only
substantive rights relating to the entity (held by the
Group and others) are considered.

The Group includes the income and expenses of a
subsidiary in the consolidated financial statements from
the date it gains control until the date when the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised
gains and losses on transactions between group
companies are eliminated in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Amounts reported in the financial
statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where
necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting
policies adopted by the Group.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment loss
unless the subsidiary is held for sale or included in a
disposal group. Cost also includes directly attributable
costs of investment.

The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividends received and
receivable at the end of the reporting period. All
dividends whether received out of the investee’s pre or
post-acquisition profits are recognised in the Company’s
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M5 8 R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —FE _=F=H=+—HI-FZ

2. ERSTHEHMEw@w

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3

24

Foreign currency translation

In the individual financial statements of the consolidated
entities, foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency of the individual entity
using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates
ruling at that date. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the end of the reporting period retranslation of
monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or
loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated
(i.e. only translated using the exchange rates at the
transaction date).

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (other than right-of-use
assets) are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses (see note 2.8). Cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition
of the asset. Costs of right-of-use assets are described
in note 2.11. Depreciation commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method, at the following rates
per annum:

Plant and machinery 20-30%
Motor vehicles 30%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20%
Leasehold improvements Shorter of lease term

or 5 years

Accounting policy for depreciation of right-of-use assets
is set out in note 2.11.

2.3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 Bl Z —FE_=F=H=+—HI-FZ

2.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.4 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

2.5

The assets’ residual values, depreciation methods and
useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
the end of each reporting period.

The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal
is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part
is derecognised. All other costs, such as repairs and
maintenance, are charged to profit or loss during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and buildings which are
owned or held under a leasehold interest (see note 2.11)
to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation.

On initial recognition, investment property is measured
at cost, and subsequently at fair value, unless its fair
value cannot be reliably determined at that time.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the investment property.

Fair value is determined by external professional valuers,
with sufficient experience with respect to both the
location and the nature of the investment property. The
carrying amounts recognised at the end of the reporting
period reflect the prevailing market conditions at the
end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from either changes in the fair
value or the sale of an investment property are included
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M5 8 R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —FE _=F=H=+—HI-FZ

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EAEHNHEHEEw@m
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Financial instruments 26 TWMIA

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire,
or when the financial asset and substantially all of its
risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability
is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged,
cancelled or expires.

Classification and initial measurement of
financial assets

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component and are measured
at the transaction price in accordance with HKFRS 15
“Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (“HKFRS
15"), all financial assets are initially measured at fair
value, in case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), plus transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets
carried at FVTPL are expensed in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

Financial assets, other than those designated and
effective as hedging instruments, are classified into the
following categories:

- amortised cost;

- FVTPL; or

- fair value through other comprehensive income.

The classification is determined by both:

- the entity’s business model for managing the
financial asset; and

- the contractual cash flow characteristics of the
financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M5 H RN

For the year ended 31 March 2023 Bl Z —FE_=F=H=+—HI-FZ

2.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ 2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Financial instruments (continued)

Classification and initial measurement of
financial assets (continued)

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that
are recognised in profit or loss are presented within
finance costs and “Other gains, net” except for ECL
allowance of financial assets which is presented as a
separate item in profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets
Debt investments

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the
assets meet the following conditions (and are not
designated as FVTPL):

- they are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold the financial assets and collect
its contractual cash flows; and

- the contractual terms of the financial assets give
rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in “Other gains,
net” in profit or loss. Discounting is omitted where the
effect of discounting is immaterial. The Group’s cash,
bank balances, pledged deposits and trade and other
receivables fall into this category of financial assets.

Classification and measurement of financial
liabilities

The Group'’s financial liabilities include borrowings, lease
liabilities and trade and other payables.

Financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are initially
measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted
for transaction costs unless the Group designated a
financial liability at FVTPL.

Subsequently financial liabilities (other than lease
liabilities) are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M5 8 R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —FE _=F=H=+—HI-FZ

2. ERSTHEHMEw@w

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6

2.7

Financial instruments (continued)

Classification and measurement of financial
liabilities (continued)

All interest-related charges reported in profit or loss are
included within finance costs.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated
as a derecognition of the original liability and the
recognition of new liability, and the difference in the
respective carrying amount is recognised in profit or
loss.

Accounting policy of lease liabilities is set out in note
2.11.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in profit or loss over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least twelve months after the end of
the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Impairment of financial assets and
contract assets

The impairment requirements under HKFRS 9 “Financial
Instruments” (“HKFRS 9") use forward-looking
information to recognise ECL — the “ECL model”.
Instruments within the scope included loans and other
debt-type financial assets measured at amortised cost,
trade receivables and contract assets recognised and
measured under HKFRS 15.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M5 H RN

For the year ended 31 March 2023 {2 —F = =F = A =+—HI-F/Z

2.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ 2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.7 Impairment of financial assets and

contract assets (continued)

The Group considers a broader range of information
when assessing credit risk and measuring ECL,
including past events, current conditions, reasonable
and supportable forecasts that affect the expected
collectability of the future cash flows of the instrument.

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction
is made between:

- financial instruments that have not deteriorated
significantly in credit quality since initial
recognition or that have low credit risk (“Stage 1");
and

- financial instruments that have deteriorated
significantly in credit quality since initial
recognition and whose credit risk is not low
(“Stage 2").

“Stage 3" would cover financial assets that have
objective evidence of impairment at the end of the
reporting period.

“12-month ECL"” are recognised for the Stage 1
category while “lifetime ECL" are recognised for the
Stage 2 category.

Measurement of the ECL is determined by a probability-
weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life
of the financial instrument.

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group
applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL and
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at the
end of each reporting period. These are the expected
shortfalls in contractual cash flows, considering the
potential for default at any point during the life of the
financial assets. See note 31.4 for further details.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M5 8 R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —FE _=F=H=+—HI-FZ

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EAS:HBEHBE@
POLICIES (continued)
2.7 Impairment of financial assets and

27 sREERSHNEERE®

contract assets (continued)

The Group measures the loss allowance for other
receivables equal to 12-month ECL, unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increase in the
likelihood or risk of default occurring since initial
recognition.

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
assets at the end of the reporting period with the risk of
default occurring on the financial assets at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

- significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

- existing or forecast adverse changes in regulatory,
business, financial, economic conditions, or
technological environment that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations; and

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M5 H RN

For the year ended 31 March 2023 Bl Z —FE_=F=H=+—HI-FZ

2.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ 2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.7 Impairment of financial assets and

contract assets (continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
end of each reporting period. A debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if it has a low risk of
default, the borrower has strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in
the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfill its contractual cash flow
obligations.

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collateral held by the Group).

Detailed analysis of ECL assessment of trade receivables,
contract assets and other financial assets at amortised
cost are set out in note 31.4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M5 8 R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —FE _=F=H=+—HI-FZ

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EAS:HBEHBE@
POLICIES (continued)
2.8 Impairment of non-financial assets

2.8 FTMEERE

Property, plant and equipment (including right-of-
use assets) and the Company’s interests in subsidiaries
are subject to impairment testing. They are tested for
impairment whenever there are indications that the
asset’s carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting
market conditions less costs of disposal, and value in
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessment
of time value of money and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where
an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the recoverable
amount is determined for the smallest group of assets
that generate cash inflows independently (i.e., a cash-
generating unit). As a result, some assets are tested
individually for impairment and some are tested at cash-
generating unit level. Corporate assets are allocated
to individual cash-generating units, when a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

The impairment loss is charged pro rata to the assets
in the cash-generating unit, except that the carrying
value of an asset will not be reduced below its individual
fair value less cost of disposal or value in use, if
determinable.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to determine
the asset’s recoverable amount and only to the extent
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined,
net of depreciation, if no impairment loss had been
recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 Bl Z —FE_=F=H=+—HI-FZ

2.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ 2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.9 Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue before being unconditionally entitled
to the consideration under the payment terms set out
in the contract. Contract assets are assessed for ECL
in accordance with the policy set out in note 2.7 and
are reclassified to receivables when the right to the
consideration has become unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. A contract liability would also be recognised
if the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable
would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. For
multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities
of unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

2.10 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and short term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M5 8 R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —FE _=F=H=+—HI-FZ

2. ERSTHEHMEw@w

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.11 Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group considers
whether a contract is, or contains a lease. A lease
is defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract, that
conveys the right to use an identified asset (the
underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange
for consideration’.

To apply this definition, the Group assesses
whether the contract meets three key evaluations
which are whether:

. the contracts contains an identified asset,
which is either explicitly identified in the
contract or implicitly specified by being
identified at the time the asset is made
available to the Group;

o the Group has the right to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits
from use of the identified asset throughout
the period of use, considering its rights
within the defined scope of the contract;
and

o the Group has the right to direct the use of
the identified asset throughout the period
of use. The Group assess whether it has the
right to direct ‘how and for what purpose’
the asset is used throughout the period of
use.

For contracts that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-
lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease and
non-lease component on the basis of their relative
stand-alone prices.

2118

2022/23 E R

REHFRER  AEEEZE
AHRERUBEMEE - H
EERIAHIEHH—F
- BECHBNEE(HEE
BE) R — B E R 2 B8
HARE] -

om0 %

RIEAZER  AEEFNEE
HNEESFE=HEEFNHE
=

s AHNERLSEIEHANE
ZE - ERBH T AER

ARBEBBREEANHEAR
& B A I 338 A B OR
FAFETE

¢ EHRERAOREE
BN R - AEME
EEARNEGREE
£ AR (8 P 2 i B &
BB A 5
% &

s AEKERTHEENEME
ERHPERATEERE
HRIEE - NEHEFG
HEODARETREER
EEEAARNER A
AKRBEE] -

REEHEEHINENR—IA
F A LRRIME B I G AR
MoMBHIME - AEEKA
WRTANREIEESHE
MIFREAKE Y CAERY
B BRRELE)

- MREERREEAT

97



98

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M5 H RN

For the year ended 31 March 2023 Bl Z —FE_=F=H=+—HI-FZ

2.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ 2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.11 Leases (continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases
as a lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability
on the consolidated statement of financial
position. The right-of-use asset is measured at
cost, which is made up of the initial measurement
of the lease liability, any initial direct costs
incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset at the
end of the lease, and any lease payments made in
advance of the lease commencement date (net of
any lease incentives received).

Except for those right-of-use assets meeting the
definition of investment properties, the Group
depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-
line basis from the lease commencement date
to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the
right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term
unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership at the end of the lease term. The
Group also assesses the right-of-use asset (except
for those meeting the definition of investment
properties) for impairment when such indicator
exists.

At the commencement date, the Group measures
the lease liability at the present value of the lease
payments unpaid at that date, discounted using
the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group’s
incremental borrowing rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBEERME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —F - =F =HA=+—HI-F/Z

2. ERSTHEHMEw@w

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.11 Leases (continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases
as a lessee (continued)

Lease payments included in the measurement of
the lease liability are made up of fixed payments.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability
will be reduced for lease payments made and
increased for interest cost on the lease liability.
It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or
lease modification, or if there are changes in in-
substance fixed payments.

When the lease is remeasured, the corresponding
adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or
profit and loss if the right-of-use asset is already
reduced to zero.

On the consolidated statement of financial position,
right-of-use assets have been included in
“Property, plant and equipment”.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition
are considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

As a lessor, the Group classifies its leases as either
operating or finance leases.

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of the underlying asset, and classified
as an operating lease if it does not.

The Group also earns rental income from
operating leases of its investment property. Rental
income is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease.
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2.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ 2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.12 Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can
be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future uncertain events
not wholly within the control of the Group, are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

An onerous contract exists when the Group has a
contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting
the obligations under the contract exceed the economic
benefits expected to be received from the contract.
Provisions for onerous contracts are measured at the
present value of the lower of the expected cost of
terminating the contract and the net cost of continuing
with the contract.

2.13 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital
is determined using the nominal value of shares that
have been issued. Any transaction costs associated with
the issuing of shares (net of any related income tax
benefit) to the extent they are incremental costs directly
attributable to the equity transaction are deducted from
share premium.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M5 8 R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —FE _=F=H=+—HI-FZ

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EAEHNHEHEEw@m
POLICIES (continued)

2.14 Revenue recognition 214 TR

Revenue arises mainly from the contracts for the
construction services.

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group
follows a 5-step process:

W EFBRERERBEA -

RETREHEANE  ~AEEERK
hEFRRE

1. Identifying the contract with a customer 1. HAEEFPHEL
2. ldentifying the performance obligations 2. WBABAHEE

3. Determining the transaction price

4. Allocating the transaction price to the performance
obligations

5.  Recognising revenue when/as performance
obligation(s) are satisfied

In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is
allocated amongst the various performance obligations
based on their relative stand-alone selling prices. The
transaction price for a contract excludes any amounts
collected on behalf of third parties.

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over
time, when (or as) the Group satisfies performance
obligations by transferring the promised goods or
services to its customers.

Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to
the customer for more than 12 months, revenue is
measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction with the
customer, and interest income is accrued separately
under the effective interest method. Where the contract
contains a financing component which provides a
significant financing benefit to the Group, revenue
recognised under that contract includes the interest
expense accreted on the contract liability under the
effective interest method.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 Bl Z —FE_=F=H=+—HI-FZ

2.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ 2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.14 Revenue recognition (continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

Revenue from construction contracts are
recognised over time as the Group's performance
creates and enhances an asset that the customer
controls which referred as the designated areas
where the construction work services performed.
The progress towards complete satisfaction of
a performance obligation is measured based on
output method, which is to recognise revenue
on the basis of direct measurements of the value
of the services transferred to the customer to
date relative to the remaining services promised
under the contract, that best depict the Group's
performance in transferring control of services.
The value of the services transferred to customer
to date is measured according to the progress
certificate (by reference to the construction works
certified by the customers or their agents).

Contract costs are recognised when incurred.
When the outcome of a construction contract
cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is
recognised only to the extent of contract costs
incurred that are likely to be recoverable.

Revenue from the sales of construction materials
is recognised at the point in time when control of
the asset is transferred to the customers, generally
on delivery of the construction materials.

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion
basis using the effective interest method. For
financial assets measured at amortised cost that
are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate
is applied to the gross carrying amount of the
asset.

Accounting policies for rental income are set out
in note 2.11.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M5 8 R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —FE _=F=H=+—HI-FZ

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EAEHNHEHEEw@m
POLICIES (continued)
2.15 Government Grants

2. 15 U By

Grants from the government are recognised at their
fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that
the grant will be received and the Group will comply
with all attached conditions. Government grants are
deferred and recognised in profit or loss over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that the grants
are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to income is presented
in gross under “Other gains, net” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

2.16 Employee benefits

Retirement benefits to employees are provided through
defined contribution plans.

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement
benefit plan under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance, for all of its employees who are
eligible to participate in the Mandatory Provident Fund
("MPF") Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in funds under the
control of independent trustees. The minimum monthly
contribution is made at the lower of (i) HK$1,500; or
(i) 5% of the relevant monthly payroll costs to the MPF
Scheme, which contribution is matched by employees.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or
loss as employees render services during the year. The
Group'’s obligations under these plans are limited to the
fixed percentage contributions payable.

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022,
there were no contributions forfeited by the Group
on behalf of its employees who left the plan prior to
vesting fully in such contribution, nor had there been
any utilisation of such forfeited contributions to reduce
future contributions. As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, no
forfeited contributions were available for utilisation by
the Group to reduce the existing level of contribution.
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2.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ 2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.16 Employee benefits (continued)

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the end of the
reporting period.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick
leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the
time of leave.

2.17 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in which
they are incurred.

2.18 Accounting for income taxes

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise
those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities
relating to the current or prior reporting period, that
are unpaid at the end of the reporting period. They
are calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws
applicable to the fiscal periods to which they relate,
based on the taxable profit for the year. All changes
to current tax assets or liabilities are recognised as a
component of tax expense in profit or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and their
respective tax bases. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, tax losses available to be carried
forward as well as other unused tax credits, to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit, including
existing taxable temporary differences, will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences,
unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBEERME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —F - =F =HA=+—HI-F/Z

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EAS:HBEHBE@
POLICIES (continued)
2.18 Accounting for income taxes (continued)

218 IS BN E T REE @)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither taxable nor
accounting profit or loss.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

For investment property measured using the fair value
model in accordance with the accounting policy above,
the measurement of the related deferred tax liability
or asset reflects the tax consequences of recovering
the carrying amount of the investment property
entirely through sale, unless the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period the liability
is settled or the asset realised, provided they are enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period.
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Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are LL%RIEé{?iEF“@JﬁATEmEP
recognised in profit or loss, or in other comprehensive M EREMmEE RS E

income or directly in equity if they relate to items that
are charged or credited to other comprehensive income
or directly in equity.

When different tax rates apply to different levels of
taxable income, deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured using the average tax rates that are expected
to apply to the taxable income of the periods in which
the temporary differences are expected to reverse.
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2.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ 2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
2.18 Accounting for income taxes (continued)

The determination of the average tax rates requires
an estimation of (1) when the existing temporary
differences will reverse and (2) the amount of future
taxable profit in those years. The estimate of future
taxable profit includes:

- income or loss excluding reversals of temporary
differences; and

- reversals of existing temporary differences.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are
presented in net if, and only if,

(@)  the Group has the legally enforceable right to set
off the recognised amounts; and

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities in net if, and only if,

(@)  the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities; and

(b) the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

(i)  the same taxable entity; or

(i)  different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously, in each future
period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —FE _=F=H=+—HI-FZ

2. ERSTHEHMEw@w

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.19Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares
segment information based on the regular internal
financial information reported to the chief operating
decision maker (the “CODM") for their decisions
about resources allocation to the Group’s business
components and for their review of the performance of
those components.

2.20Related parties

For the purposes of the consolidated financial
statements, a party is considered to be related to the
Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over of the
Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is @ member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group.

(b) the party is an entity and if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of
the same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member);

(iii)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures
of the same third party;

2190 IR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M5 H RN

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &2 — & —

ZF=ZA=1T—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.

POLICIES (continued)

2.20Related parties (continued)
(b)  (continued)

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a party, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.

Close family members of an individual are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that individual in their dealings with the

entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —FE _=F=H=+—HI-FZ

3. BRAETR] RAEMERT B R

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED
HKFRSs
() Amended HKFRSs that are effective for

annual periods beginning on 1 April 2022

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first
time the following amended HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA, which are relevant to the Group’s operations
and effective for the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the annual period beginning on 1 April
2022:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment =

Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts = Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract
Amendments to HKFRSs  Annual Improvements to HKFRS

Standards 2018-2020

Merger Accounting for Common Control
Combination

Accounting Guideline 5
(Revised)

The adoption of the amended HKFRSs had no material
impact on how the results and financial position of
the Group for the current and prior periods have been
prepared and presented.

B EZEA
(i) A=E-_—_FMWA—H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 Bl Z —FE_=F=H=+—HI-FZ

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED 3. AT RZETEBIHBER
HKFRSS (continued) 452 Bl
(i) Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (i) EEMEEKRERNE B
B EZEA
At the date of authorisation of these consolidated REZSHREVBEHRRTETEB

B AEEYEEFEAETET
LA R RERAFET REETEE
RITEERE R -

financial statements, certain new and amended HKFRSs
have been published but are not yet effective, and have
not been adopted early by the Group.

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and other EAUBREEAETR  RBRANREME
amendments'

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between EAUBREEAE0NR REAHEBEAAR

and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint BRI EAE8T RELEHEAE
Venture (iE31%) HEKEA?
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback? ERNBREENE6Y  EREDENAERE
(ig31%)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or EASHENZIR(BILN) BEEIEATIEEN:
Non-current and related amendments RBAEREBRESS
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 FHEBED

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants? BEQTEAEIRBIA) WEZERERDEE

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies’ BREENEIRRERY EHHRRE

and HKFRS Practice BREENERREEN
Statement 2 (iE37%)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates' BRETENEGR(BIN)  ERtEENES

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and EASENZ R HREE-XHMEER
Liabilities arising from a Single (B31%) & EREMELE

Transaction'

‘ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 1

R-FB_=F—A—HHZEH

January 2023 b6 H) F[Z B AR R

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 2 RZZTE_MF—A—HB=z2%&HA
January 2024 bR ) 2 BARR AR R

3 Effective date not yet determined 3 ERBHEARETE

The directors anticipate that all of the pronouncements
will be adopted in the Group’s accounting policy for the
first period beginning on or after the effective date of
the pronouncement. The new and amended HKFRSs are KIET BBV REELBEHT S
not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s WAREBMNGES M BEHRREKREK
consolidated financial statements. A o

E=FEG - A XHEOERKR A
e H Hlsk 2 R AR R0 B EHIE
EASESFBRARA - #Hal &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

& M5 8 R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —FE _=F=H=+—HI-FZ

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

(a) Critical accounting judgements

As explained in note 2.14, revenue recognition on a
project is dependent on management'’s estimation of
the total outcome of the construction contracts, with
reference to the progress certificates issued by the
customers and their agents. The Group reviews and
revises the estimates of contract revenue, contract costs
and variation orders, prepared for each construction
contract as the contract progresses. Budgeted
construction costs are prepared by management on the
basis of quotations from time to time provided by the
major contractors, suppliers or vendors involved and
the experience of management. In order to keep the
budget accurate and up-to-date, management conducts
periodic reviews of the budgeted construction costs by
comparing the budgeted amounts to the actual costs
incurred.

Significant judgement is required in estimating
the contract revenue, contract costs and variation
work which may have an impact on progress of the
construction contracts and the corresponding profit
taken.

The Group recognised revenue and costs from
construction contracts amounted to approximately
HK$786,209,000 and HK$762,014,000 (31 March
2022: HK$613,617,000 and HK$594,243,000)
respectively for the year ended 31 March 2023.

As at 31 March 2023, the net carrying amount of
contract assets amounted to HK$132,070,000 (net
of ECL allowance of HK$1,533,000) (31 March
2022: HK$79,526,000 (net of ECL allowance of
HK$1,212,000)).

4,

EREEEET R E
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HMEERHKE  ARRAREER
BEmffst - BERERAHAEEE
RIFEBEARZS  HEBKAIR
MESTRREHRNOBEEREEE
MERMET - RERBEEER
B BEEESBLREFSHE
PELEBRRANZRIHAEERZE
RAETERES -

A KIREE  ARRAREE T
RBEMEALY UGV E
A M0 RARFE TR -

REE-_ZT-_=F=F=+—H1t
FE AEERBRESOHKRE R
B 7R 9 B FE 3R 49786,209,00058 7T
$762,014,0008 C(ZE=_—F =
A=+—H : 613,617,000 T
594,243,000/ 7T) °

R-ZZE-_=%F=HA=+—8 " &%
EEMKR®EFER132,070,000%8
JT (R F0RR 1,533,000 TR TBHR{E
EBERE B (ZE=_F=A8
=+—H : 79,526,000 7t (R HIK
1,212,000/8 TR TEHAE E B 18 B 1
218)) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &2 — & —

ZF=ZA=1T—HIFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Critical accounting judgements (continued)

Details of the revenue and contract assets/liabilities are
disclosed in notes 5 and 17 respectively.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities with the next financial year are
discussed below:

Key sources of estimation uncertainties

The Group makes allowances on items subjects to ECL
(including trade receivables and contract assets) based
on assumptions about risk of default and expected
loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing
market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates
at the end of each reporting period as set out in notes
2.7 and 31.4. As at 31 March 2023, the carrying
amounts of trade receivables and contract assets
amounted to HK$38,816,000 (net of ECL allowance of
HK$262,000) (31 March 2022: HK$39,488,000 (net of
ECL allowance of HK$509,000)) and HK$132,070,000
(net of ECL allowance of HK$1,533,000) (31 March
2022: HK$79,526,000 (net of ECL allowance of
HK$1,212,000)) respectively. Details of the trade
receivables and contract assets are disclosed in notes 16
and 17 respectively.

4. FESFHHEIRHE @

(a)

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M5 8 R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —F - =F =HA=+—HI-F/Z
4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4. FESTHFRAE®
JUDGEMENTS (continued)
(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainties

(b) HEFTHEEHENETERZ@®

(continued)

Management estimates the recoverable amount
of items of property, plant and equipment when
an indication of impairment exists. This requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating
units. Estimating the value in use requires management
to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows
from the cash-generating unit and also to choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. Changing the assumptions
selected by management to determine the level of
impairment, including the discount rates or the growth
rate assumptions in the cash flow projections, could
materially affect the net present value used in the
impairment test. The carrying amount of property,
plant and equipment as at 31 March 2023 was
HK$35,179,000 (2022: HK$45,134,000). Based on
the impairment assessment of the management, no
impairment of property, plant and equipment was
made for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.
Further details are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the
expected manner of realisation or settlement of the
carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of each
reporting period. Deferred tax assets were recognised
in respect of the tax losses arising in Hong Kong to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will
be available against which the assets can be utilised.
Therefore, estimates are made to establish whether
deferred tax balances should be recognised. As at 31
March 2023, the Group has unused tax losses arising in
Hong Kong of HK$15,807,000 (2022: HK$31,616,000)
available for offset against future profits. Deferred tax
assets have been recognised in respect of HK$2,608,000
(2022: HK$5,217,000) of such losses, which were
offset against deferred tax liabilities. Further details are
set out in notes 9 and 22 to the consolidated financial
statements.

ERERTFEREDREGEY
¥ BB AREEENATRES
HoWFEBATHEESEEEMNE
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BB R=ENRE EXNEREE
BRI B AT REKFE (215
REFESREBA P AR ERRE
) Al sE g EUREA B P AR FER
EEEEAXE RZT_=F=
B=+—H %% BHEEED
BRME{E 435,179,0008 L (T ==
£ 45,134,000870) ° IRIEEEE
FRE G AEERBE_T =
=FER-_F-_—_F=A=+—HI
FEBERYE - M RREED
BB - E— P BENERE TSR
FMIFE13 ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —F - =F=H=+—HIF)F

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WERkDHBER

5.1 Revenue 5.1

The Group’s principal activities are disclosed in note 1 of
the consolidated financial statements.

Revenue recognised for the years ended 31 March 2023
and 2022 are as follows:

U &=
NEBNTEEBNGEETERE
BsF 19 58 o

BE T _=FK-_F-_—F=A
—t—HIEFERROREOT

2023 2022
—E=-= T

HK$’000 HK$’'000

Revenue from contracts with REBMEREERE15HKN
customers within the scope of HEANEF AN

FERT THET

HKFRS 15
Contracting revenue & #h s 784,126 613,617
Sales of construction materials SHEEEMB 2,083 -
786,209 613,617
Timing of revenue recognition EEBUHRELEREI55HKE
under HKFRS 15 T RE R UK S Y B RS 2
Services transferred over time BE B R 8 72 19 AR TS 784,126 613,617
Good transferred at a pointin time ~ REEMEEENE R 2,083 =
786,209 613,617
Contracting revenue =) &

Revenue from construction contracts are recognised over
time as the Group’s performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls which referred
as the designated areas where the construction work
services performed. The progress towards complete
satisfaction of a performance obligation is measured
based on output method, which is to recognise revenue
on the basis of direct measurements of the value of the
services transferred to the customer to date relative to
the remaining services promised under the contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 =% =

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

5.1

5.2

Revenue (continued)
Sales of construction materials

Revenue from sales of construction materials are
recognised at a point in time when the Group transfers
control of the assets to the customer.

Segment information

The CODM has been identified as the executive directors
of the Company. The CODM regard the Group’s
business as a single operating segment and review the
overall results of the Group as a whole to make decision
about resources allocation. Accordingly, no segment
analysis information is presented.

Geographical information

No separate analysis of segment information by
geographical segment is presented as the Group’s
revenue and non-current assets are principally
attributable to a single geographical region, which is
Hong Kong.

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers which individually contributed
over 10% of the Group's revenue is as follows:

Customer A BEA
Customer B' =B
Customer C! BEC
Customer E! BEE
Customer F BFEF

5.

FEMBEERME

ZF=A=1—HIFE

W Ko EpE R @

5.1 W= @
HEEZENF
KEHEREMBNORZINAEER

1 EENZEHEEEZTF HNERE
RHRERR ©

52“%§ﬂ

ERERARECHBERAR
E’J%ﬁ.ﬁ%% I%ﬁ‘«%&%%ﬂﬁ$
SENEBRSE—RKENE - X
BEHASEERZRE  UBLEBER
DEIEHIRE - Bt - WEZ5 D
oI B

I EH
HRAEEN RS MIERBEET

EREE-WER(FE) HUEZ

ﬁ?ﬁi‘lﬂﬂz"ﬁﬁiﬂ MO EBERZE
T

BEREEFEFHEHN

BRI AEEKRRBEBI0%NE P
Yesan T

2023 2022
—E_= —E- %
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT T
387,609 131,405
128,694 85,988
103,711 96,287
N/A2FiE 2 148,071
N/A2FiE 2 83,213

L The customer represents a collection of companies
within a group.

2 The corresponding revenue did not individually
contribute over 10% of the Group's revenue during the
year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —F - =F=H=+—HIF)F

6. OTHER GAINS, NET 6. Hfttz - FHE
2023 2022
—E_= —Eo—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ExT FHET
Net (losses)/gains from changes in REMENFERE(EE),

fair value on investment property Wz F 58 (I 5E14)

(note 14) (310) 70
Rental income HEUWA 156 156
Interest income FLEMA 722 364
Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain fE 5 (E518) s 58 (1,258) 584
Government grant and subsidies (note) BT # B & 4 B (Ff 55) 7,817 640

7,127 1,814
Note: BffaE -
During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group received a subsidy REBEZZZE_=F=A=+—HILFE  KX&
amount of HK$7,817,000 from the Employment Support Scheme B EBBUTRLA( &R E S B TR
("ESS”) under the Anti-epidemic Fund, set up by the Hong Kong ¥ EI(RBEZEET 1)) Y ER 857,817,000
Government. TG ©
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group recognised the REBEE-_T-_—_F=A=+—HALLFE  &&
subsidies of approximately of HK$640,000 in relation to Construction EREEX R eENREXAFEERES
Innovation and Technology Fund launched by the Construction R 7 #1640,00078 SO F Y -

Industry Council.

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BMBEHR

2023 2022

—E_= —=E_—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FH&T
Bank loans interest IRITERF B 146 529
Finance charges on lease liabilities HEBENREER 40 18
186 547

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ 2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M5 8 R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —F - =F =HA=+—HI-F/Z

PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 8. BRFFSBiIADEF

Profit before tax is stated after charging/ BR TS ADERIE K, GTA)

2023
===

—_——

HK$’000
FERT

2022
—mm——

=

HK$'000
TAT

(crediting): AT&RIA
(a) Staff costs (including directors’ (a) ET KA (BIEESEHEH)
remuneration (note 12(a)) (M¥3E12(a))
— Salaries, wages, bonus and other -4 I8 -tk
benefits H 18 A 153,591 93,340
— Retirement scheme contributions - SRR EME (P REa)
(note a) 4,253 2,893
Staff costs (including directors’ BT (BIEEEE)
remuneration) (note b) (F$5ED) 157,844 96,233
(b) Other items (b) Hfth1EH
Depreciation, included in: E - 5TA
Direct costs BEXA
— Owned assets - BBEE 20,861 17,955
Administrative expenses THAX
— Owned assets - BBEEE 40 61
— Right-of-use assets - FRAEEE 777 722
21,678 18,738
Lease charges: HMEMAX :
— Short term lease of office - WHAENHEE 25 =
= Short term lease of machinery -KEEBHEE 27,339 16,341
Total lease charges HEM A% 27,364 16,341
Subcontracting charges (included in SBRAZGEAEEZEKD)
direct costs) 172,637 205,408
Cost of sales of construction HEREMBRAGIARRE
materials (included in direct costs) [p&N) 2,050 =
Outgoings in respect of investment BREWE Z X H
property 18 18
Auditor’s remuneration ZE AN BN & 1,159 1,060
ECL allowance/(reversal) on trade FTIR/ () & 5 e 5k E &
receivables and contract assets, ABHEENTEHREERERE
net % 74 (336)
Donation B 63 133

2022/23 E R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —F - =F=H=+—HIF)F

8. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX (continued) 8. BRATBHANER @
Notes: 5T

REBEEZT_=FRK=_T=__F=A=
T—BLEFE  AEEVERREERE
BB AR AR & B B W (]
HE O NESBITAE R KA ERER
BAREER -HE_E-_=FR_FT—
—HFZA=+—8 - BEDRUERA
7R 5 (B8 F LAV IR B RUKF -

(@  During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, there (@)

were no contributions forfeited by the Group on behalf of
its employees who left the plan prior to vesting fully in such
contribution, nor had there been any utilization of such
forfeited contributions to reduce future contributions. As at
31 March 2023 and 2022, no forfeited contributions were
available for utilization by the Group to reduce the existing
level of contributions.

(b)  Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration) are as follows: by BIXKN(BEZEZFHHNOT
2023 2022
—EC-=F 2
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHER FHAIT
Direct costs BEERA 144,460 85,132
Administrative expenses TERB 13,384 11,101
157,844 96,233
9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) 9. FiBHiEX (E%)

RRAREAEEEEBEFENHERR
ARAREBHERNBE T =R T

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in the
consolidated financial statements as the Group has available

tax losses brought forward from prior years to offset the
assessable profits generated during the years ended 31 March
2023 and 2022.

FENEHER

Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax

FZA=Z+BLFEELANERD G
M W BRERE M RRPFHRER AT

SHERE -

2023

—E=-=

HK$"000
FERT

2022
—F-—

HK$'000
TAT

Deferred tax (note 22) IR IE (1 5E22) 1,116 (5,412)
Income tax expense/(credit) for the year ERFFEHFE, (%) 1,116 (5,412)
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10.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M5 8 R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —F - =F =HA=+—HI-F/Z

FrEHMA (E %) m
BpRABEREMSARSR - FAH
EEGFT S BATE ML T -

INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (continued) 9.

The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the profit
before income tax per consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as follows:

2023 2022
—E-= g
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Profit before income tax B TS FE A A 9,039 2,019
Tax at Hong Kong profits tax rates of ~ 1Z&BFEHIEE16.5%
16.5% (2022: 16.5%) (ZEBE=-—F :16.5%)
STEMIE 1,491 333
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses A KRB AT 75 =/ & 1,049 770
Tax effect of non-taxable income HERTHEBWAR TG E (1,409) (306)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 7R FERF IH 18 M B 5 22 £ (5) -
Tax effect of recognition of tax losses — #EFRSCAI A MR A BB K
previously not recognised Mg & - (5,217)
Utilisation of tax losses previously not — BhF LA R #E RO B TB &5 18
recognised - (999)
Others HAh (10) 7
Income tax expense/(credit) for the year FRFFERHEE S, (%) 1,116 (5,412)
DIVIDENDS 10. RE
No dividend was paid or proposed for the years ended 31 HEZZ - —FR-T-__F=-HF=1+—

March 2023 and 2022, nor has any dividend been proposed

since the end of the reporting period.

2022/23 IR o

BIEFE  ARRAEFTEDNHEZIK
MEMBE - BRERRAR - TREEH

IRAERIAR S

RASEZRARLT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —F - =F=H=+—HIF)F

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE 11. 8RER
The calculation of basic earnings per share attributable to RRARE=FEE ARIEERERBAIRIA
equity holders of the Company is based on the following: TEEFE
2023 2022
—E-= T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Earnings &%
Profit for the year attributable to RARERFEE ARGFEA
equity holders of the Company il 7,923 7,431
‘000 '000
TR TR
Number of shares KRG EE
Weighted average number of ordinary &A% it 19 2 (Kt 5E23)
shares (note 23) 1,200,000 1,200,000
There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares during the BHE-_Z =K -_FT-_—F=F=+—
years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 and therefore, diluted HIEFEWRAESE NN TRRKR  FHit
earnings per share equals to basic earnings per share. BRESRNESENERERET -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M5 8 R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —F - =F =HA=+—HI-F/Z

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 12. EEREBETHRAEMEREA

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EREMEAL

INDIVIDUALS

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s (a) EERRESTHAEME
emoluments

Riz EmRR - R BEPIFE383(1)
fER AR (REEZMIER) RAI
F2HBBENEENRHTTRARN

Emoluments of the directors and chief executive
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)
of the CO and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of

Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as BT -
follows:
Salaries, Retirement
allowances Discretionary scheme
Fees  and benefits bonuses contributions Total
& 28 BiRctE
e kA s e @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT AL FEL TET TAT
Year ended 31 March 2023 HE-Z-=fF=h
St-HLEE
Executive directors: HITEE
Mr. Yip BEk - 791 66 - 857
Mr. Cheung Chun Fai RIRELE - 1,067 89 18 1,174
Independent non-executive directors: ~ BUHH{TEE -
Mr. Chan Ka Yu BREXTEE 180 - - - 180
Mr. Lee Kwok Lun TEBLE 180 - - - 180
Mr. Chan Wa Shing RERLAE 180 - - - 180
540 1,858 155 18 2,57
Year ended 31 March 2022 HE-B--F=f
St-HLEE
Executive directors: HITEE
Mr. Yip 93 = 756 63 = 819
Mr. Cheung Chun Fai RiRELE = 976 85 18 1,079
Independent non-executive directors: ~ BVHH{TEE -
Mr. Lo Chi Wang (note (i) BR LK () 75 = = = 75
Mr. Chan Ka Yu RRFAA 180 = = = 180
Mr. Lee Kwok Lun ZEBEE 180 = = = 180
Mr. Chan Wa Shing RERLAE 180 - - - 180
615 1,732 148 18 2,513
Note: 5T
(i)  Resigned on 1 September 2021. () RZEZ—FNA—BHEfE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 =% =

ZF=ZA=1—HIFE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(a)

(b)

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments (continued)

For the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the above
directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

There were no arrangements under which a director
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
year (2022: nil).

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023
included two (2022: two) directors whose emoluments
are disclosed in note 12(a). The aggregate emoluments
in respect of the remaining three (2022: three)
individuals are as follows:

12. EERBETHRAEMERE
EZESHMEALTw

(a)

(b)

EERESTHAEME @

BE_ZF-_-FR-FT-__%=A
=t RLEFE AEEAERL
BEEXMEAME  ERSMER
£ B S H B AR £R (B By O BR B B
Bra(E -

FAWEEERESR B RETM
MEMZHE(CTE_—_F : 8) -

TEREMEAL

BE_T-_=f=-A=+—A1tF
B ALBERASEMEALE
ﬁm%%%LJ__ﬁ GBS

$> ﬁ@ﬂi?&ﬁg#[ﬁ?u() Hﬁ%

%%%’E\QDT

2023 2022
—E-= —_EF_—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Salaries, fee and allowances e 18 KERL 3,065 2,506
Discretionary bonuses BIBIEAT 385 209
Retirement scheme contributions  :RKEH 2% 54 54
3,504 2,769
The emoluments fell within the following bands: e eE T

Emolument bands: & E -
Nil-HK$ 1,000,000

HK$1,000,001-HK$1,500,000

T ITE 1,000,000 7T
1,000,001 7L E 1,500,000 7T

Number of individuals

A

2023
—g—=

2022
—m——

=

2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBEERME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —E - =#F = H=+—HIFF/Z

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. M3 - W R RE
Furniture,
fixtures and Plant and Motor Right-of- Leasehold
equipment machinery vehicles use assets  improvement
ffi -
EE%E
k&% BEREE RE  EREEE HEUREE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TATL TATL TAT TAL TAL TAT
Cost R
As at 1 April 2021 A S Y R 1,161 138,567 9,234 2,638 - 151,600
Additions NE - 16,046 388 - - 16,434
Written off s - (2,135) (100) - - (2,235)
As at 31 March 2022 AZF-—#=B=t+-H 1,161 152,478 9,522 2,638 - 165,799
Asat 1 April 2022 R-E-—FMA—-H 1,161 152,478 9,522 2,638 - 165,799
Additions NE = 9,710 = = 240 9,950
Reassessment of lease term ~ BT FEETRE (D)

(Note) - - - 1,773 - 1,773
Written off i - - - (2,638) = (2,638)
As at 31 March 2023 RZBZ=£=A=1-H 1,161 162,188 9,522 1113 240 174,884
Accumulated ZitHE

depreciation
Asat 1 April 2021 R=F-—FNA—H (1,100) (93,748) (7,880) (1,434) - (104,162)
Charge for the year FARY (61) (17,226) (729) (722) = (18,738)
Depreciation written back B HERNTE

upon written off - 2,135 100 - - 2,235
As at 31 March 2022 AZE-—F=H=1-H (1,161) (108,839) (8,509) (2,156) - (120,665)
Asat 1 April 2022 R-ZE--FmA—-A (1,161) (108,839) (8,509) (2,156) - (120,665)
Charge for the year ﬁmﬁ-ﬂi‘z = (20,361) (500) (777) (40) (21,678)
Depreciation written back B EERTE

upon written off - - - 2,638 - 2,638
As at 31 March 2023 RZBZ=f=A=1-H (1,161) (129,200) (9,009) (295) (40) (139,705)
Net book value REFE
As at 31 March 2023 R-BZ=£=A=1-H - 32,988 513 1,478 200 35179
As at 31 March 2022 RZEZZF=A=1-H = 43,639 1,013 48 = 45,134
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —F - =F=H=+—HIF)F

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. Y% - BB EFRE@®

(continued)

Note: During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group has renewed M RBE-ZE-_=F=A=1+—HIEF
the lease arrangement for office premise with a remaining lease B AEESETHAEMENEER
term of 20.6 months for an additional period after the end of B UERERBERZER BRI
the original lease term. No option to renew the lease after the M B THEAR206M[A - RELNER
end of the contract. The Group makes fixed payments during % WESEHENZEEE KAEER
the contract period. EXHAEDEEMNRK

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of the Group’s NR-_EFE-_=®F#=H=+—H  &~&H

right-of-use assets in relation to the office premise is WANEYENFTAREENERES

HK$1,478,000 (2022: HK$482,000). 1,478,000 7T (Z T — —F : 482,000/

7T) °
14. INVESTMENT PROPERTY 14. REY=

Movements of the carrying amounts presented in the AR RRFT 2 EEEE Y &8 n

consolidated statement of financial position can be AT

summarised as follows:

2023 2022
—E-= T

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTER FHET

Carrying amount as at 1 April RUA—BHEREE 4,790 4,720
Changes in fair value of investment RERERNIZEEMEN A TE

property recognised in profit or loss e (310) 70

Carrying amount as at 31 March R=A=+—H®OE@EE 4,480 4,790
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M5 8 R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —F - =F =HA=+—HI-F/Z

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued) 14. REMHEmw

Fair value measurement of investment REMENAFETE

property

The following table shows the Group’s investment property TRINTERE BRI RAREERIRE

measured at fair value in the consolidated statement of MEREEHEEENRNTERFE  DAR=

financial position on a recurring basis, categorised into three BATESZR BESRENRTENHEA
levels of a fair value hierarchy. The levels are based on the FEZABREREERE  FBEOT :
observability and significance of inputs to the measurements,

as follows:

Level 1:  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for F—E: HREEERBGEREREMSHN
identical assets and liabilities. WECREETE) -

Level 2:  inputs other than quoted prices included within FE: EBEXBERE—EBEEHN
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or WMENIINE SRR
liability, either directly or indirectly, and not using (AR o WAEREARNA
significant unobservable inputs. B A BUE -

Level 3:  significant unobservable inputs for the asset or FE=E: BEIEBNEATAHEREH
liability. AR o

2023 2022
—g== —z=——

— =

Level 3 Level 3

$£=B E=I=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET Tt

Recurring fair value measurement EEMAFENE

Investment property: TEYE

Residential property in Hong Kong BENEEYZE 4,480 4,790
There have been no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the BT =N T - —F=F=+—
years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022. HIEFE  MESARELE=]E -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —F - =F=H=+—HIF)F

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued) 14. REVHEmw
Fair value measurement of investment REMENAFETFTE@®
property (continued)
The investment property was revalued by an independent RBE—_=ZFR_EB__F=ZfF=+—
qualified valuer as at 31 March 2023 and 2022, who have H BEVEL—ZBILESERGERM
the relevant experience in the location and category of (HFTEEYMENHER KA R BB K
property being valued. There was no change to the valuation BB - £ HERMSEZS -
techniques during the year.
Set out below are information about the fair value of INTE#HINEBERBE=EATFEERSE
investment property categorised under Level 3 fair value WIREMELTENER
hierarchy:

Range of unobservable input
FUBEEGABBENEE
Valuation 31 March 31 March

technique Unobservable input 2023
—E-=

fh{ERT % T BRE A RE =H=t+—H

Investment property:

REWE :

— Residential property Income Market yearly rental rate taking HK$434 HK$428
capitalisation into account of individual per per
approach factors such as location, square feet square feet

environment, age,
accessibility, floor, size, etc.
-EEME WAB AT A misFFEE Gt R BFAER FBFEHIR

NE - RE - ER 43438 ¢ 4287 7T
R EE - HEES
EBIE=)

Capitalisation rate of 3.3% 3.0%
reversionary income
EHEBAER X 3.3% 3.0%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBEERME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —F - =F =HA=+—HI-F/Z

INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued)

Fair value measurement of investment
property (continued)

The fair value of the residential investment property in Hong
Kong are determined using income capitalisation approach by
capitalisation of future rental, which largely use unobservable
inputs (e.g. market yearly rental rate, capitalisation rate,
etc.) and taking into account the significant adjustment on
term yield to account for the risk upon reversionary and the
estimation in vacancy rate after expiry of current lease. In the
valuation, the capitalisation rate adopted is by reference to
the yield rates observed by the valuer for similar properties
in the locality and adjusted for the valuer’'s knowledge of
factors specific to the respective properties. The fair value
measurement is positively correlated to the future rental and
negatively correlated to the capitalisation rate.

Fair value adjustment of the investment property is recognised
in the line item 'Other gains, net’ in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

The Group’s borrowings and banking facilities are secured
by the investment property with carrying amount of
HK$4,480,000 (2022: HK$4,790,000) as at 31 March 2023
(note 20).

2022/23 IR o

14. REMHEmw

BEVMENAFEFTE@

FEEEREVENRFERABAERN
LR EBEARAREEENMEMEE - =
ZFATIEEEARBEMTSEFHE
T BAMERE)  UE R EHRKE
K BAFHBCAREERROER) MR
THHERRE=ERNME - £bE
B FIRANERNMRTI2EMAEMRE
HWROUMEMBRI SR - WIRER
EMSEEMERERRNT FETH
B QAFEAEEAKES2ERA - &
EXERZ2Z8EH -

BREMERAFHERABRSAKRA RS REM
PERSERI AWK FE] -

NEBMABRRIBITEE AL E MEE
IR EEREMER_T=_=—"F=A=
+— B8 IREE A4,480,0008 T (—E =
— 4 14,790,000/ 7T) (F5£20) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —F - =F=H=+—HIF)F

15. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 15. RITE QRN ER
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2023 R-E_=FR_FE_—_F=A=+—
and 2022 are as follows: H XZWBAFFEET
Place of
incorporation/ Issued and
establishment  Type of paid up capital/ Equity interest
Company name and operation  legal entity registered capital attributable to the Group Principal activities
HEMAL/ BRTRAR 31|
NEEH RIREEME EARRER B&/ERER FEfh IR AE TERH
2023 2022
—E-_=F —ZE_—!
Directly held
EBRAE
Richer Ventures Limited The BVI Limited liability 350,000 ordinary 100% 100%  Investment holding
company shares of US$1
Richer Veentures Limited RBRIEHE  ARAA 350,000 R EE 100% 100%  RAER
1ETHERR
Top Growth Ventures Limited The BVI Limited liability 50,000 ordinary 100% 100%  Investment holding
company shares of US$1
Top Growth Ventures Limited XBRIEHE  ARAA 50,0008 SR A E 100% 100%  RAER
1ETHERR
Able Standard Enterprise Limited The BVI Limited liability 1 ordinary 100% = Investment holding
(note (a)) company share of US$1
Able Standard Enterprise Limited XBRAEE  ARAA \hEkEE 100% - RERR
(B @) 1ETHERR
Treasure Apex Enterprise Limited The BVI Limited liability 1 ordinary 100% = Investment holding
(note (b)) company share of US$1
Treasure Apex Enterprise Limited AERRES  ARRA \REREE 100% - REER
(P (b)) 1ETHERR
Vast Perfect Enterprise Limited The BVI Limited liability 1 ordinary 100% = Investment holding
(note (b)) company share of US$1
Vst Perfect Enterprise Limited XBRIEE  ARAA \hEkREE 100% - RERR
(B (b)) 1ETHERR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M5 8 R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —F - =F =HA=+—HI-F/Z

15. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Company name

rAEB

Place of

incorporation/
establishment
and operation

AR/
RIRERDE

Type of
legal entity

EARRER

15. KB A TS @

Issued and

paid up capital/
registered capital
BETRAR
B&/ERER

Equity interest

attributable to the Group

ARH
EiRE

2023
—ECCE

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

100%

100%

100%

2022
—E-CF

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

100%

Principal activities

IRER

Undertaking foundation
works in Hong Kong

EEBRENETR

Trading of construction
material

BEREMH

Inactive

TR

Inactive

TR

Inactive

Ta

Able Standard Enterprise Limitedi® ==
TCHENACRERBREIESEMAK

VAR

Treasure Apex Enterprise Limited }&zVast
Perfect Enterprise Limitedi A =& — —
A—BEEBELRHSTMKL -

Indirectly held
BEEE
Kit Kee Engineering Limited Hong Kong Limited liability 300,000
company ordinary shares
ALIRARAA R BRAR 300,000 & B
Dragon Rise Asia Limited Hong Kong Limited liability 10,000
company ordinary shares
ERATNEHBRAA A ARATA 10,0008 & &k
Dragon Rise Investment Limited Hong Kong Limited liability 10,000
company ordinary shares
Dragon Rise Investment Limited 0 BRAT 10,0000 &%
Guangdong Dragon Rise Construction ~ The PRC Limited liability Registered capital of
Limited company RMB5,000,000
BREFREARLA TE ARRA AR¥5,000,0007T
MEMER
Guangdong Dragon Rise Trade The PRC Limited liability Registered capital of
Development Limited (note (c)) company RMB5,000,000
EREABHERARAANECQ) HE BRAT AKH5,000,0007
EMER
Notes: (T
(@  Able Standard Enterprise Limited was established and (a)
incorporated on 2 September 2022 in the BVI.
(b)  Treasure Apex Enterprise Limited and Vast Perfect Enterprise (b)
Limited were established and incorporated on 1 July 2022 in
the BVI.
(0 Guangdong Dragon Rise Trade Development Limited was (©)

established and incorporated on 6 February 2023 in the PRC.

EREARSERERARAN_-_ZT_=
F-ANBERBEEMKTL -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —F - =F=H=+—HIF)F

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 16. ESZ R H Mt EWRKIEA
2023 2022
—ZE=-= —ZE——
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B EE THET TR
Trade receivables B 5 EWRIE
— from third parties —-REE=H () 39,078 39,997
Less: ECL allowance, net o EHEEEE
B FE (262) (509)
38,816 39,488
Deposit, prepayment and other ®e ENREREM
receivables W RIE
Other receivables H i fE Y R IE 361 354
Prepayment (note) TEAS SR E (B 5E) 500 3,506
Advance to sub-contractors EERNEEE - 3,000
Utility and other deposits PREXERAMES 248 150
Amount due from a director el — B ESZFIA (b) - 1,047
Amount due from the ultimate holding & Ut & 48 #2 A% A B FE
company (b) 110 110
1,219 8,167
40,035 47,655
Portion classified as non-current assets 38 AIETRBEER 5 (168) =
Current Portion MENEB 39,867 47,655
Note: No prepayment was made for purchasing materials as at 31 e R—_ZTE-_=F=—A=+—H TEHR
March 2023 (2022: HK$3,000,000). BEMAIMNBANRB(CZE-—F
3,000,000 7T) °
The directors of the Company consider that the fair values AAFEERA  ANZEESHEELE
of trade and other receivables which are expected to be S BB A - W S & E A e Y ol
recovered within one year are not materially different from GEER —FE R E) B A P (E B HBEEE
their carrying amounts, because their balances have short WEEAZR o

maturity periods on their inception.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —F - =F =HA=+—HI-F/Z

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

The Group usually provides customers with a credit term of 28
to 45 days (2022: 28 to 45 days). For the settlement of trade
receivables from provision of construction services, the Group
usually reaches an agreement on the term of each payment
with the customer by taking into account of factors such
as, among other things, the credit history of the customer,
its liquidity position and the Group’s working capital needs,
which varies on a case-by-case basis that requires the
judgement and experience of the management.

The details of ECL measurement for trade and other
receivables are set out in note 31.4 to the consolidated
financial statements. As at 31 March 2023, ECL allowance of
HK$262,000 (31 March 2022: HK$509,000) was recognised
on these debtors.

Based on the invoice dates (or date of revenue recognition,
if earlier), the ageing analysis of the trade receivables, net of
ECL allowance, was as follows:

16.

g 5 & H b e W FRE @)
AEEBERARFRHE28FE45K(ZE =
T 28FASK)EAH o B EIRMERE
ERBNEZRRFENS @ AEEEE
REENFOBREZTFERGZ T
(EHeR)EFNEEREY - RBESHK
MEALELBEESHTRERE  HiZE
AIERTmMAEMNE  WEKEEEEMNH
B R A B o

EHE S REMENRFIBENBHEEEE
STEFBEERGE N BHREME31 .4 R
—T_=FZA=1+—H ERHEEK
BRFHER 262,000 (T -—F=A
=+—H 509,000 L) NIEHEEE
B -

REZZAN(RREERBAY - ARE
ERE)  BHRUFBEHGKEREES
BRENREONIT -

2023 2022

—E-= —_ET——
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
0-30 days 0E30K 26,692 38,492
31-60 days 31E260K 12,124 -
61-90 days 61290k - -
Over 90 days EBHEI0K - 996
38,816 39,488

(a) Trade receivables

The movement in the ECL allowance on trade
receivables is as follows:

(a) BEZEBWFRIEA

B9 HORN B B R
SEMT :

2023 2022
—E2-= —=ET-=

HK$'000 HK$'000

FEx T

Balance as at 1 April AN A — B R4k 509 1,346

ECL reversal recognised during FAERMEREEEIE

the year, net B[ - FEE (247) (837)

Balance as at 31 March R=ZA=1+—HN%&& 262 509
2022/23 % o HERKEBEEERLF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —F - =F=H=+—HIF)F

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(b) Amounts due from a director/the ultimate
holding company
The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

Particulars of amounts due from a director and the
ultimate holding company, disclosed pursuant to section
383(1)(d) of the CO, are as follows:

16. E5 K E M EWFIE @

(b)

BW—EES BRERLD
AMIE
AMREAEER w8 RAKE
i -

RAR A B BIZE383(1)(d) IR 4% F& &Y
B —BEERKEERAF K
EFEMT

Maximum
amount
31 March outstanding 31 March
2023 during the year
= e FARS =
=A=+-—H i KB BB =A=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THET THT
Mr. Yip B4 - 1,047 1,047
Fame Circle (note) Fame Circle(fftsF) 110 110 110
Balance as at 31 March R=A=T—B84&H 110 1,157
Note: MzE -

Fame Circle is wholly owned by Mr. Yip and Mr. Yip is the sole
director of Fame Circle.

17. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES

17.1 Contract assets

Fame CircleHEX A2 EHANERE
AFame CircleR) M —=E = -

17. EHEEREGHNEE

17.1

BHREE

2023 2022

—ZE_-= T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT THIT
Unbilled revenue REEBE W 76,655 49,350
Retention receivables EURE & 56,948 31,388
Less: ECL allowance, net B TEEAEEBERE - FE (1,533) (1,212)
132,070 79,526
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBEERME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —F - =F =HA=+—HI-F/Z

17. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 17. EHEEREGHNEE®
LIABILITIES (continued)
17.1 Contract assets (continued)

171 60 EE®

Note:

Unbilled revenue represents the Group’s right to receive
consideration for work completed and not yet billed because
the rights are conditional upon the satisfaction by the
customers on the construction work completed by the Group
and the work is pending for the certification by the customers.
The contract assets are transferred to the trade receivables
when the rights become unconditional, which is typically at
the time the Group obtains the certification of the completed
construction work from the customers.

Retention receivables included in contract assets represent
certified contract payments in respect of works performed,
for which payments are withheld by customers for retention
purposes, and the amount retained is withheld on each
payment up to a maximum amount calculated on a prescribed
percentage of the contract sum.

Changes of contract assets during the year ended 31 March
2023 were mainly due to:

(i) Changes in retention receivables as a result of changes
in number of ongoing and completed contracts during
the year; and

(i) Changes in number of contract works that the relevant
services were completed but yet been certified at the
end of each reporting period.

The contract assets are transferred to the trade receivables
when the rights become unconditional, which is typically at
the expiry date of the period for the provision of assurance
by the Group on the service quality of the construction work
performed by the Group. The gross amount of contract
assets expected to be recovered/settled over one year is
HK$16,233,000 (31 March 2022: HK$12,634,000), all of the
remaining balances were expected to be recovered/settled
within one year.

BsE -

AREBRSEAESEE#EAE TIIRE
WCERR (BB B W R A B & P E AR
SEMMTKEETRAFAEERETIRIE
HREPREM®AFERE o REFRK
RERGE  SREENEREEIRE
WHIE - —RAAEEESEFEHE ST
TEETIZMRER -

FtAR ’JéfEE’JJE%U% SREBENT
RORBAAMMNR  MEBNRTIEAT
F# f’H Be MEENFEMRE
H‘U%%EF;Z%ES%%@\%Eﬂﬁiﬁ’ﬁttﬁ
HHmRSEHE

éﬁé:*:_i A=+—BIt#F
BREEEPTEHR

m%

iﬁﬂ%&ﬁﬂF&E%ﬁ}Z HEE B
HIREE) - BRERRE S B
28 &

—
=

() REBEBHR - HHBBE =K
BRRBEHEOTRNKE R
88 -

RIEFIK B EEER(—RAASERE
ETHERETREMRSE =RHE 1%;
HREME) ANEEDNEREES
Wk IE o TEERAS B E — Euﬁz@/m
ZANEE#TAR16,233,00008 T (=
T —HF=ZA=+—H 12,634,000
JL)  FTERBEBEBN —FRlkE 4
go

2022/23F3 o HEAEEREREKERERLA

133



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —F - =F=H=+—HIF)F

17. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 17. EHEEREHNEE®

LIABILITIES (continued)

17.1 Contract assets (continued) 171 60 EE®
The details of ECL measurement for contract assets BT EAHNEETEHEESIEN
are set out in note 31.4 to the consolidated financial HBHRGEMERERME .4
statements. Based on ECL assessment, ECL allowance BIEBHEEBETG  R2Z=
of HK$1,533,000 (2022: HK$1,212,000) has been =#=A=+—HEBH"1,533,000
recognised as at 31 March 2023. BIT(ZEZ=F : 1,212,000%7T)

MR EEEIRRE -

The movement in the ECL allowance on contract assets AEHNEEMBHREEBBRBENE
are as follows: E NS
2023 2022
—E_= —_FE_—
HK$'000 HK$'000
THxT FH&T
Balance as at 1 April KU A —Bo&EeR 1,212 711
ECL allowance recognised during F AR IEEEEIE
the year, net B - FE 321 501
Balance as at 31 March R=ZA=1+—Hr%&& 1,533 1,212
17.2 Contract liabilities 17.2 608 E

2023 2022
g .

—_—=—— —= ==

HK$"000 HK$'000
FTERT TAT

Contract liabilities arising from BEAHBHRI

construction contracts from EENEHNEE

billings in advance of

performance 99 45
All of the contract liabilities are expected to be FFEEHNABEBEER —FRIK
recovered/settled within one year. Bl #H -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M5 8 R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —F - =F =HA=+—HI-F/Z

17. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 17. EHNEERGHNEBE®W
LIABILITIES (continued)
17.2 Contract liabilities (continued) 172 EHEBE@W
Revenue recognised in relation to contract EERESHEEKm
liabilities
2023 2022
—E=-= =
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FTERT FHT
Revenue recognised that was STAFIE N BEEHRE
included in the contract B R A
liabilities balance at the
beginning of the year 45 180
Unsatisfied long-term construction REBHRHEREH
contracts
The transaction price allocated to the remaining R=A=+—8  2EEKRELHX
unsatisfied or partially satisfied performance obligation EBOBUNKRTRENEENR S
as at 31 March are as follows: BT -
2023 2022
—ZE=-= —E_
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FTHER FHT
Within one year —FNRN 991,538 716,012
The amounts disclosed above do not include transaction LEXEBRNRBATBESEIE
price allocated to performance obligations which have JB %918 & AT X (B PR il i el R
been satisfied but not yet recognised due to variable BRHNBEHNEENRSHER

consideration constraint.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —F - =F=H=+—HIF)F

18. CASH, BANK BALANCES AND PLEDGED 18. BHE - |ITAEKRREEIFER

136

DEPOSITS

2023 2022
—E_= —_EF-—

HK$"000 HK$'000
FERT TAT

Cash, bank balances and pledged

Be  RITESK MRS ERER

deposits 96,261 120,419
Less: bank deposits, pledged B BRI TR (25,179) (21,213)
Cash and cash equivalents per the meaRensrkE IR R

consolidated statement of cash flows  FE&Z5EY 71,082 99,206

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates.

Pledged bank deposits earn effective interest rate at 0.01%
—0.68% (2022: 0.01%) per annum and have a maturity of 1
to 2 month. They have been pledged to secure bank facilities
(note 20).

Included in bank and cash balances of the Group is
HK$16,705,000 (2022: HK$17,509,000) of bank balances
denominated in Renminbi (“RMB") placed with banks in the
PRC. RMB is not a freely convertible currency. Under the PRC’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement and Sales and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for
foreign currencies through banks that are authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

The directors consider that the fair values of cash at bank are
not materially different from their carrying amounts, because
their balances have short maturity periods on their inception.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ 2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT

IR1TIR €L T HIRTT T AF R OE B FI =
BREVF 8. o

DIIRITIERIR0.01%E0.68% (= F
ZIZF :0.01%) M E K F F R BT
B R—E=mMEA/EE - RITTERIELRE
EXR1T R & AU (B 5E20) ©

REBERIRTTRIA S &8 8 1516,705,000
BT (ZZE = Z4 : 17,509,000 7T) FF 52
EFBRRITHAARE(ARE ] FE
RIERTTAE8R o ARIR AP B A9 HNE B bl {6150 LA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —F - =F =HA=+—HI-F/Z

19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

19. EZREMENSRE

2023 2022
—E2-= —EF_—

HK$’'000 HK$'000

F&T AT

Trade payables (note (a)) B 5 P 508 (@) 36,702 32,361
Accruals and other payables (note (b))  FEFTE B & E A fE(S 5008

GE() 3,788 2,970

40,490 35,331

Notes:

(a)

Payment terms granted by suppliers are 0 to 30 days (2022: 0
to 30 days) from the invoice date of the relevant purchases.

it

(a) HEBRTHNZBRAERBHEE
ZEAHLH0EIOR(ZZTE=__F : 0

30K) °
The ageing analysis of trade payables based on the invoice date B 5N FIERER B B RE DT
is as follows: T
2023 2022
—E-= —=2_—
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THET FHTT
0-30 days 0ZE30K 29,509 29,424
31-60 days 3126 0K 7,166 2,937
61-90 days 61E90K 27 -
36,702 32,361

As at 31 March 2023, accruals and other payables mainly
comprised of: (1) accrued professional fee which amounted to
HK$1,761,000 (2022: HK$1,447,000); (2) accrued purchase
costs for acquisition of plant and machinery which amounted
to HKS$NiIl (2022: HK$414,000); (3) accrued employee benefits
of approximately HK$1,058,000 (2022: HK$860,000); and (4)
amount due to a director which amounted to HK$267,000
(2022: nil). The amount due is unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

All trade and other payables are denominated in HK$.

All amounts are short-term and hence, the carrying values of
the Group’s trade payables and accruals and other payables are
considered to be a reasonable approximation of fair value.

by MN-ZZBE-_=F=A=+—H " E:FE
BREMEMRBEESE  (1)ET
HEEM1,761,0008 0 (T _—F :
1,447,000 7) : (2)BAKERE &
BHROEABEERATEL(ZTE ==
& 1 414,000770)  S)FEEHE BEFILY
1,058,000 7T (- & = —4F : 860,000
70) ¢+ KA — B EEFRIE267,00078
T(ZE = —F : &) o B HFHIEAEER
- REREREREE -

© FAEBSRHMENFIESGUBTH
B o

(d)  FEFRRA/EHMFE Bt - N&E
WE SENTIBIANEFTERREMLE
NFENEAERSESEATFEARER
=
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —F - =F=H=+—HIF)F

20. BORROWINGS, SECURED 20. HIEHFER
As at 31 March 2023, the secured bank loans were repayable R-ZZE_=F=ZA=+—H8 ' AEENE
as follows: EHRITEROT :

2023 2022
—m— = —mm— —

—_—_=—= —

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#ExT FHET
Bank loans repayable on demand FEZKERBMRITER(FIFE@Q)
(note (a)) 1,883 6,639
Notes: B3
(@)  As at 31 March 2023, the bank loans are interest-bearing at (@ RZZTE-Z=F=A=+—8 " BITEXK
4.58% t0 4.76% (2022: 2.67% to 4.76%) per annum. BREFEKLS8%ELT6%(Z T ==
2.67%E4.76%)5TE.
(b)  As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the banking facilities of the b) R-BE_=FR-_FE__—_F=ZA=+—
Group were secured by: H AEEMRITHEBEAUTEAE
®:
(1) Corporate guarantee given by the Company; (1) ZAARHREMLEER
(2)  Charges on the investment property owned by the ) AEEMEBREME T 14)
Group (note 14); and 21 R
(3)  Charges on certain bank deposits (note 18) made by the 3) AEEMHETRITFRLEES)
Group. P
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBEHREME
For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —F - =F =HA=+—HI-F/Z
HEAE

21. LEASE LIABILITIES 21.

The analysis of the Group'’s lease liabilities is as follows:

AEBEHERESTAOT

2023 2022
—E-= —_ET——
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FAT
Total minimum lease payments: IEEENFRERE -
Within one year —FRX 946 492
After one year but within two years — &% ERMER 630 =
1,576 492
Future finance charges KRR TEE R (82) 3)
Present value of lease liabilities HEAERA 1,494 489
Present value of minimum lease HIEEENFIRE :
payment:
Within one year —FR" 876 489
After one year but within two years — & BERMFER 618 =
1,494 489
Less: Portion due within one year B —FERIERE S
included under current liabilities GIRmERERA) (876) (489)
Portion due after one year included R—F1E3H D
under non-current liabilities GIRERBEEN) 618 -

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the total cash outflows
for the leases are HK$808,000 (2022: HK$738,000).

BE_EZ_=#=-A=+—HILFE ®
EMIES AR TR A808,0008 T( ==
— 4 :738,000/87T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —E - = = HA=+—HIFFZ

22. DEFERRED TAXATION 22, IEERIE
The net movement in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) and RERA MIEAR R R NFER F N AR LR 18
recognised in the consolidated statement of the financial BE/(BBZHFENAT :

position during the year are as follows:

Deferred tax

Deferred tax liabilities
assets  attributable to
attributable to  accelerated tax

tax losses depreciation
Big B E
BEEHMN WESHEMN
BEEHBREE EEHESE @gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAET FET
As at 1 April 2021 R-E-—FMA—H - (5,073) (5,073)
Recognised in profit or loss PAE 2 BERR (P 51 9)

(note 9) 5217 195 5412
As at 31 March 2022 and RZEZZF=A=+—HK

1 April 2022 “E-—FPA—H 5,217 (4,878) 339
Recognised in profit or loss RE=ETER (M 9)

(note 9) (2,609) 1,493 (1,116)
As at 31 March 2023 R-B-=%=A=+-H 2,608 (3.385) (777
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had RBMEHR - XEEFEX16,012,000%
unused tax losses of approximately HK$16,012,000 TL(ZZE=—4% : 31,616,000/ L) A H
(2022: HK$31,616,000) available to carry forward against R IBEE A 4588 - DA 8 R R FEER B UK
future taxable income. No deferred tax assets have been A RZZEZ=F=A=+—H "  BRRK
recognised in respect of tax loss approximately HK$205,000 How M e AR FEOAIME - A R IR
(2022: HK$Nil) of such losses as at 31 March 2023 due to E51847205,0008 (2= —F : T8
unpredictability of future profit streams. These tax losses do T HRRIBELERIBEE - REBREIEN
not expire under current legislation. ZEHEEEY TSR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —F - =F =HA=+—HI-F/Z

SHARE CAPITAL 23.

2023
o=

—_—_—=

Number of
shares
43 & E

Authorised: EE
As at 1 April and 31 March REA—BR=A=1+—H 10,000,000,000

@

2022
—E-CF
Number of
HK$'000 shares HK$'000
TER BGEE TAEx

100,000 10,000,000,000 100,000

Issued and fully paid: ERTRBE:
As at 1 April and 31 March REA—BR=ZA=1+—H 1,200,000,000 12,000 1,200,000,000 12,000
RESERVES 24. f#f

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements
therein for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
of the consolidated financial statements.

Share premium

The share premium represents the difference between the par
value of the shares of the Company and net proceeds received
from the issuance of the shares of the Company.

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
share premium account of the Company may be applied for
payment of distributions or dividends to the shareholders
provided that immediately following the date on which the
distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company
is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course
of business.

Other reserve

Other reserve of the Group represents the difference between
the nominal values of the share capital of subsidiaries
acquired by the Group and the nominal value of the
Company’s share issued under the Group’s Reorganisation
(the "Reorganisation”) in connection with the listing of its
shares on the Stock Exchange. Details of the Reorganisation
are set out in the paragraph headed “Reorganisation” in the
section headed “History and Development” in the Company’s
prospectus dated 26 January 2018.

AEEFBEERERBE_T-_=FR=
E-_F-A=t+-RILFEZEINE
EMBRRZGAREEBHRANZT -

B 47 (B
B9 HEEARAROEAERETADA
BSFREHEFEZAOEE -

RERASEERRE - NABRMEER
AR NABRRAENDIKRSKARE - 1
EEEEZEINORIBENBBMERR
AARNERARRGARETIHNE
15 o

Hitf#
AEBEMFEEEAREMEENE LR
MRAEEEREASEEA(EHE]) %
TTEVAR R B A OB SR B RO E{E 2 A
MNEE -  EAFRBHENARRIBHA=F
—NFE-AZTRANBERERIES R
BRI-mMEHE] K-

2022/23 % o HAKREZERBRLF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —F - =F=H=+—HIF)F

25. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 25. AR B BT K
THE COMPANY

2023 2022
—_E_= —_F-—
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
P FET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
Non-current asset ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KRB RRNEE 15 143,765 143,765
Current assets RBEE
Other receivables H el skI8 177 256
Amounts due from subsidiaries JFE Uk B B8 A B FRIE 79,198 80,687
Cash and cash equivalents BeMReEEY 996 2,221
80,371 83,164
Current liability REEE
Other payables H fhpE R 5RIE (1,704) (1,428)
Net current assets REEEFEE 78,667 81,736
Net assets EEFE 222,432 225,501
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXR®EE
Share capital [N 23 12,000 12,000
Reserves ff 210,432 213,501
Total equity R 222,432 225,501
Mr. Yip Yuk Kit Mr. Cheung Chun Fai
BEEAEE RIRE L4
Director Director
EE E2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M5 8 R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —F - =F =HA=+—HI-F/Z

25. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 25. AQ T B BEMRR TR @
THE COMPANY (continued)

The movement of the Company’s reserves are as follows: RARIREEOESAT
Share Other  Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
R 5B 2ttt eS| @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
THT TR THL THIL
Balance as at 1 April 2021 R-B--FMA-AZ&& 96,898 143,371 (23,771) 216,498
Loss and total comprehensive FABEREZABRER
loss for the year - - (2,997) (2,997)
Balance as at 31 March R-ZB-Z—F#=A=1+-HR
2022 and as at 1 April 2022 “ECFNBA-He&H 96,898 143,371 (26,768) 213,501
Loss and total comprehensive FABERZEBRER
loss for the year = = (3,069) (3,069)
Balance as at 31 March R=B-=f=A=1+-H
2023 &R 96,898 143,371 (29,837) 210,432
Note: Other reserve of the Company represents the difference MieE : NA R E A EBIEA R B P EE A
between the total equity of subsidiaries acquired by the AR AR IR EABRITHARR]
Company and the nominal value of the Company’s share issued RIPEE 2 ErZEE -

under the Reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —E - = = HA=+—HIFFZ

26. LEASE COMMITMENTS
As lessee

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the lease commitments for
short-term leases are as follows:

26. FERIE
EREE A
KRB —_=ZFR_EFE_—_F=ZfF=+—
B SHHEENHEERENT :

2023 2022
—E:-= - F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FE&xT THET
Within one year —FRX 126 =
As lessor fEREHEA
As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the future aggregate RZEZ=FR-_TF-__F=F=+—

minimum lease receipts under non-cancellable operating
leases in respect of the Group’s investment property are
receivables as follows:

B AEBERKREMERBETAIRELE
& U 2 AR R A KT & e Wk 4a s an
™

2023 2022
—E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FHET
Within one year —FRN 56 156
After one year but within two years — &% - BRMERN - 56
56 212
The Group leases its investment property (note 14) under AEBEELEHEE TZ?‘?FT&TETX&%%
operating lease arrangements which run for an initial period (Mf5E14) M AHMF(=ZT ==

of two years (2022: two years), with an option to renew the
lease terms at the expiry date or at dates as mutually agreed
between the Group and the respective tenant.

27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the balances and transactions detailed elsewhere
in this report, the Group had the following transactions with
its related parties during the year.

ENEFNHESMAX

Rental expenses paid to a director

mE)  HEBENHEERHBHHAE
B s AERAE P e ) B BB B E 15K
RIBRE

B R 5
BRASR 5 P R R 52
5N+ ARG P BLEL BB T HETT A T2
5

27.

2023
—m——

—=

2022
—_FE-—

HK$'000
TAT

HK$'000
FET

25 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 {2 = F = =F = H=+—HIFFZ

27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Key management personnel remuneration

The emoluments of the directors and senior management of
the Company, who represent the key management personnel

27.

BEBAERS @
TEEEAEME
HE_E-_ =GR -_FT-_—HF=A=+—
BEFE  ARAEERaREERE (A

during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 are as FEEBABMEWT
follows:
2023 2022
—E_= T

HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHETT
Salaries, fee and allowances e o me MoERL 3,480 3,282
Discretionary bonuses BB IEAL 437 277
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 3R RI8 & 21 5 54 54
3,971 3,613

28. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group has been involved
in a number of claims, litigations and potential claims against
the Group in relation to work-related injuries and non-
compliances. The potential claims and litigations against the
Group, as a subcontractor, are insured by main contractor’s
insurance policy, the directors are of the opinion that the
claims, litigations and non-compliances are not expected
to have a material impact on the consolidated financial
statements, and the outcome for potential claims is uncertain.
Accordingly, no provision has been made to the consolidated
financial statements.

29. PERFORMANCE BOND

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has two (2022:0ne)
outstanding performance bond of approximately
HK$5,492,000 (2022: HK$4,514,000) given by a bank in favor
of the Group’s customer as security for the due performance
and observance of the Group’s obligations under the contract
entered into between the Group and its customer. If the
Group fails to provide satisfactory performance to its customer
to whom performance bond has been given, such customer
may demand the bank to pay it the sum or sum stipulated in
such demand. The Group will become liable to compensate
such bank accordingly. The performance bond will be released
upon completion of the contracting works.

28.

29.

2022/23 IR o

RARBE
RZEZ=FR_TF-__F=F=+—
B AEBPRZBEHEAEENTHE
ETEREBEHNER - FRARBERR °
HEAEB(WEADBR)MBERRKF
MY HRBEARENRRERR  EERE
ZERE - FARTAHREHERTSY
RAVBRRENEATE  BBEHR
MERBTET - ALt - BERGE TS
WMFAEL B -

BHRES
RZE-_=%F=A=+—8 ' x&8
EM(ZZEZ=F : )EREENED

RFEL 495,492,000 T(Z T = 4 :
4,514,000%87T) * HA—HRITUREE
MNEFAZ=A  EAREBEASER
BEIINHWAHNE N ZABHRETHEE
ERER - WAEEELZARS(ERAE
BTBRORJFSIEESERENRE
AlEAEPAUNERETRESINERE
KA RTAM SR HE - AEEBEET
MABRITELEENEE - BHORES
TSI A # TIRB WL o

RASEZRARLT
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REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —F - =F=H=+—HIF)F

30. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING  30. MEEBEENEE 2 HIR
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing

AEERERPMELRBECEHAINE

activities can be classified as follows: R
Bank Lease
loans liabilities Total
BITER HEERE Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET
As at 1 April 2021 RZTE-Z—FHH—H 11,387 1,209 12,596
Cash-flows: ReRE
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENHEEHSNEARL S = (720) (720)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENHEEHRSHF EHH = (18) (18)
Proceeds P18 5/ 38 35,589 = 35,589
Repayments BE (40,337) = (40,337)
Other changes: Hit 25
Interest expense for lease liabilities HEREANEHAXZ = 18 18
As at 31 March 2022 R-ZE-_-#=H=+—H 6,639 489 7,128
As at 1 April 2022 R-ZE-_—_FmMA—H 6,639 489 7,128
Cash-flows: RERE
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENHAERENEARIL D - (768) (768)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ERHERSOFER S - (40) (40)
Proceeds P8 3UA 3,136 - 3,136
Repayments B2 (7,892) - (7,892)
Other changes: Hit &5 :
Reassessment of lease term EHAHE - 1,773 1,773
Interest expense for lease liabilities HEGENSFAX - 40 40
As at 31 March 2023 R-B-=%=ZA=+—H 1,883 1,494 3,377

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —F - =F =HA=+—HI-F/Z

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUE MEASUREMENT

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of
financial instruments in its ordinary course of operations.
The financial risks include foreign currency risk, interest
rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall
risk management strategy seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group's financial performance. Risk
management is carried out by the senior management of the
Group and approved by the board of directors.

The Group's exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

31.1Categories of financial assets and
liabilities
The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position relate to the following
categories of financial assets and liabilities:

TREE

Financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost:

31.

BEERBEERDFENE

AEERBEBEBBIETERESRTAM
AEMHRRE - MEERBEINEER -
MxEk - EERRMABESRER - A
SENEERREERE S ESHARE
MHBRENBETNZERERE - Bk
ERTHAAKESREEERTELES
SHE

7R 0 R S R R A R R
= b FF R A0 B 5 LB SR T S
KT -

BM1EREEREBEDE
LA B TS 4R R 2 FT 51 BE T (B B T 5
CHEERBESELED

2023
e

—E ==

2022
e

— =

HK$'000
TAT

HK$°000
FERT

REHERATRNEREE -

— Trade and other receivables - EBH hEMEWZRIE 39,425 39,992
- Cash, bank balances and pledged - R#& - SR774 8% N EEEFER
deposits 96,261 120,419
— Amount due from a director - —REEHIE - 1,047
- Amount due from the ultimate — W AR A B R IR
holding company 110 110
135,796 161,568
Financial liabilities SRAE
Financial liabilities measured at HEEKATTENSREE
amortised cost:
— Trade and other payables - B MEMENFRIE (40,490) (35,331)
— Lease liabilities -HEaE (1,494) (489)
- Borrowings, secured - BIEMER (1,883) (6,639)
(43,867) (42,459)
2022/23 3 o HAKHEZERERLT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —F - =F=H=+—HIF)F

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR BRREERAFETE®
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

31.2Foreign currency risk

31.

31.2 5N R B

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair
value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.
The Group's exposures to currency risk arise from its
cash at bank denominated in RMB of HK$16,706,000
(2022: HK$17,464,000), which is not the functional
currency of the respective group companies.

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the
Group's profit after income tax during the year and
equity in regards to the strength in the functional
currencies of the group companies against relevant
currencies. Weakens in the same % of functional
currencies of the group companies against relevant
currencies will have equal and opposite impact on the
results of the year. The sensitivity rate is the rate used
when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management's
best assessment of the possible change in foreign
exchange rates.

31 March 2023 —E-_=f=H=+-—H

Sensitivity

BRELR

INEER R FEINEE R B EE S T AN
FEIARESREHBREDNRR °
AEEEBRMNEEREBIKRERAARE
(WIHBEBRARMNINEEE)FTERN
$R1738416,706,0008 T (ZFE - —4F :
17,464,000/ 7T) °

TR ) R [ A ORR 1R 0 ) R i 2
SERRZMREEEAREEETHENK
BE - REABZHEEELHERES 2
REFEDLRERHFAREEEEEE
BEROTE - GRELXTIARATIEE
BAEBHRESINERRSERA LR - B
EEEHIERA RS 2 RIEFE ©

Decrease in
profit after
income tax
MRETBH#
i AR 2
HK$'000
FHTT

Decrease
in equity

rate

R D
HK$'000
TAT

RMB AR 5% (697) (697)
31 March 2022 —E-—_F=H=+—8H
RMB AR 5% (729) (729)

The sensitivity analysis of the Group’s exposure to
foreign currency risk at the end of the year has been
determined based on the assumed percentage change
in foreign currency exchange rates taking place at
the beginning of the financial year and held constant
throughout the year.

2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M5 8 R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —FE _=F=H=+—HI-FZ

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)
31.3Interest rate risk

31. BEBREER AFPETEW®

31.3FZRE

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value
or cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s
interest rate risk arises primarily from borrowings and
lease liabilities. Borrowings and lease liabilities bearing
fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest
rate risk and the exposure to the Group is considered
immaterial.

The exposure to interest rate risk for the Group bank
balances and pledged bank deposits are considered
immaterial.

31.4Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a
financial instrument would fail to discharge its obligation
under the terms of the financial instrument and cause
a financial loss to the Group. The Group’s exposure
to credit risk mainly arises from granting credit to
customers in the ordinary course of its operations. The
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk on recognised
financial assets is limited to the carrying amount as at
31 March 2023 and 2022 as summarised in note 31.1.

As at 31 March 2023, for trade receivables, the
Group usually provides customers with a credit
term of 28 to 45 days (2022: 28 to 45 days). For
the settlement of trade receivables from provision
of construction services, the Group usually reaches
an agreement on the term of each payment with
the customer by taking into account of factors
such as, among other things, the credit history of
the customer, its liquidity position and the Group's
working capital needs, which varies on a case-
by-case basis that requires the judgement and
experience of the management.

FERBRESRHTANAFESKER
ERERSEMISH RN I MK
BRKRER - AREHF XER
TEREERLRBEERE - RETE
MEFENBREEERBEANE
8 S E R R E e R AN R A
EHHEBRFER /L AERX -

AEERITER R BB FRITER
B R E B AR AR R L T EK ©

3145 ERAMK
FERBRESR T AN F HKRAE
BEcHMTANKERBETHEEE
MEAREBEKMEEENREE -
AEEFEENEERREERS
REBEEKBERRMBZSELE
B - AEEREEREREEME
B2 &ERXEERBRREMAMES AT
MlilN—FE—_=FR T _—F=
B=+—BZ2BKmE -

R-_BE-_=F=ZA=+—8"
RESHEWFIEMS @ ~&E
BERREFIRME28E458K
FEEH(ZZE-_—F : 28F45
H) - pAEREBEREERBED
BoRWFIEMS + AEER
EREENRNFTHERFEZE
Bt st R(EFRB)RR
MEERY - RBESKRIR
AEEEEBEESHFRERE
HiZ@ERIERmARTR - I
BREEEER A REE -

2022/23F3 o HEAEEREREKERERLA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 {2 —F = =F = A =+—HI-F/Z

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)
31.4Credit risk (continued)

The Group applies the simplified approach for
trade receivables and contract assets to provide
ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the
use of the lifetime expected loss provision for
these receivables due from third parties. These
evaluations focus on the counterparty’s financial
position, past history of making payments and
take into account information specific to the
counterparty as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the counterparty operates.
Monitoring procedures have been implemented
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue balance.

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, individual
credit evaluation on significant customers is
performed by an independent valuer engaged
by the management to estimate the ECL of trade
receivables and contract assets. These evaluation
focused on the customer payment history and
current and future ability for payment taking into
account the information specific to the customer
as well as pertaining to the current and future
general economic environment in which the
customer operated.

The expected loss rates are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected
life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-
looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. At the end of each reporting
period, the historical default rates are updated
and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ 2022/23 ANNUAL REPORT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M5 8 R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —FE _=F=H=+—HI-FZ

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 31. BiREKREER ATV EFE®
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

31.4Credit risk (continued) 31.4ZE R kR @

Trade receivables and contract assets are written
off (either partially or in full) to the extent that
there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is
generally the case when the Group determines
that the debtor does not have assets or sources of
income that could generate sufficient cash flows
to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. The
directors of the Group reviewed and considered
no irrecoverable amounts should be taken account
for the overdue trade receivables balances as at 31
March 2023 and 2022.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has concentration
of credit risk as 41% and 97% (2022: 19% and
97%) of the total trade receivables were due from
the Group’s largest customer and five largest
customers respectively and the aggregate amounts
of trade receivables from the Group’s largest
customer and five largest customers amounted
to HK$15,770,000 and HK$37,994,000 (2022:
HK$167,000 and HK$38,492,000) of the Group's
total trade receivables as at 31 March 2023
respectively.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has adopted
expected loss rate ranging from 0.001% to
19.73% (2022: 0.001% to 29.95%) and 0.001%
t0 19.73% (2022: 0.001% to 29.95%) on the
gross carrying amounts of the trade receivables
and contract assets amounted to HK$39,078,000
(2022: HK$39,997,000) and HK$133,603,000
(2022: HK$80,738,000), respectively. The loss
allowance of trade receivables and contract
assets as at 31 March 2023 are HK$262,000
(2022: HK$509,000) and HK$1,533,000 (2022:
HK$1,212,000), respectively.

2022/23 E R

W EmEERAKE NS - &
SEWAKRIEREGHNEE (B9
R FHWME o TIARE
B REE AL EEELWA
FOBR A EE A R SRR & A
BB TMEENRIEZ —KIE
Mo AREEFEHILRAR
ZE=FRT_F=H
= +t—BaBEZEKKEL
RN AT U B S E o

R-_ZTE-_=F=/A=+—
B BARE5EKRKIERRE
H41%M9T7% (Z T = —4F :
19% K97 %) 7 7l & FE W AR
EERATFRAREFHN
B BMAEBEEERR
g MR _ZET-_=F=H
—t+—B AEEZEZEK
RIBRERERAELEERA
RERAATEFENE ZERK
SRIE4EE S R A15,770,000
T % 37,994,000 T (=
T4 :167,000BT R
38,492,000/ 7T) °

N—TE-_=F=A=+—8 -
REBERE ZEBKIBERE L
& EMBRE42{E39,078,000/5
JL(=ZZF = =4 : 39,997,000
#IT) K% 133,603,000/ 7T
— T - —4 :80,738,000
B IT) D B ER AT F0.001%
£19.73% (=T == :
0.001%%29.95%) }2.0.001%
£19.73% (=& = — F :
0.001%%£29.95%) K& HA /&5
BR RZE-_=F=ZA=+
—H - BZRUFERAENE
ENBEREED R A262,000
B (ZE =4 : 509,000/
7T) % 1,533,000 T (=2 =
— 4 11,212,000/ 7T) °

- MREERREEAT
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)
31.4Credit risk (continued)

Other financial assets at amortised cost include
other receivables and deposits, cash, bank
balances and pledged deposits and amounts due
from a director and the ultimate holding company.
In order to minimise the credit risk of other
receivables and deposits, the management make
periodic collective and individual assessment on
their recoverability based on historical settlement
records and past experience as well as available
forward-looking information. Other monitoring
procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In these
regards, the credit risk of other receivables and
deposits are considered to be low.

Besides, the management is of opinion that there
is no significant increase in credit risk on these
other receivables and deposits, amount due from
a director and amount due from the ultimate
holding company since initial recognition as the
risk of default is low after considering the factors
as set out in note 2.7 and, thus, ECL recognised is
based on 12-month ECL.

The credit risks on bank balances and pledged
deposits are considered to be insignificant because
the counterparties are banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& MR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 Bl Z —FE_=F=H=+—HI-FZ

31. AR EERAFETEW®

31.4ZER kR @
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ERREMBEFAREZSE
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RER-BEFEREERERA
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kEeNEERR  BEEES
REBTHEECHENBELR
DA B] $1E {58 P B B RS 1R B 1S
BRAZREN AR @IZEELE
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T A E At B R 45 e DA R AR R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M5 8 R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —F - =F =HA=+—HI-F/Z
31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 31. Bi#EAKREER AFEHITE®w
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

31.5Liquidity risk 31.5 7% Bh 1 [ B

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will
not be able to meet its obligations associated with its
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or
another financial asset. The Group is exposed to liquidity
risk in respect of settlement of trade payables and its
financing obligations, and also in respect of its cash flow
management. The Group’s objective is to maintain an
appropriate level of liquid assets and committed lines of
funding to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.

Management monitors the cash flow forecasts of the
Group in meeting its liabilities.

Analysed below is the Group’s remaining contractual
maturities for its non-derivative financial liabilities as
at 31 March 2023 and 2022. When the creditor has
a choice of when the liability is settled, the liability is
included on the basis of the earliest date on when the
Group can be required to pay. Where the settlement of
the liability is in instalments, each instalment is allocated
to the earliest period in which the Group is committed
to pay.

mE M Rk Ty AR R E R EITH
HEUARNREXE —eRMEESFE
NemaBEHREEENRARER -
REBREEE HENFKIERET
EpERETENRReREETE
FHEAZREBE SRR - REED
ET—;—%Z’E?#@ IKERRBNEE K
152 5 A EE VA 2 72 HA
&E%m@ﬁu

EEERNEITEEEREZEARH
MWIRERETRA -

TXBRRAKER T _=FK=
T - =-R=1+—HBBEHEFT
AERMABHRTEOFHOMN -
HERBABREREEAGANE
A WERBEHRANEEERERE
ENRFEHPAR - WMEFRER
DHEER SEETHNAE B
MEENREHEARK -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —F - =F=H=+—HIF)F

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR  31. BB EBEER A FETE @
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

31.5Liquidity risk (continued) 31.5REN R B )
The contractual maturity analysis below is based on the NTEHNHNMAMHEREREE
undiscounted cash flows of the financial liabilities. HARBLIRIBSMEIED ©
On demand Over 1 year Total
or within but within  undiscounted Carrying
one year 5 years cash flow amount
RERR —F% AERRE
R—FR BREFA mEAE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THIL THL THT
As at 31 March 2023 R=B-=%#=ZA=+-H
Trade and other payables BHREMENTIA (40,490) - (40,490) (40,490)
Lease liabilities HEBRE (946) (630) (1,576) (1,494)
Borrowings, secured (note) BEAET ) (1,883) - (1,883) (1,883)
(43,319) (630) (43,949) (43,867)
As at 31 March 2022 W-ZE--£=fA=+-H
Trade and other payables B 5 REMEMNFHE (35,331) - (35,331) (35,331)
Lease liabilities HEa’E (492) = (492) (489)
Borrowings, secured (note) BHEBET ) (6,656) = (6,656) (6,639)
(42,479) - (42,479) (42,459)
Note: BfeE
Secured borrowings of HK$1,883,000 (2022: HK$6,639,000) Mid iR Z kBB B KB E X
with a repayment on demand clause are included in the “on 1,883,000/ (=T == : 6,639,000
demand or within one year” time band in the above maturity D) ET A BB H S AT TR E sk —
analysis. Taking into account the Group’s financial position, FARNIKBRA - £ REAEENHG
the directors do not believe that it is probable that the bank M EERA - RITTPAAIEITFER
will exercise its discretionary right to demand immediate MEREKERER - EERE @
repayment. The directors believe that such bank loans will RITE R IRRBE R B ZTEE EER
be repaid in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates HEER - @ - srElERBBHA—F
set out in the loan agreements. At that time, the principal AR RS RIRAEFERFTE 2 FEHR
and interest cash outflows computed using contractual rates & H4A%EE1,907,0008 (= F ==
with scheduled repayment dates within one year time-band F:FEERBBHAE—FUARNRMEN
amounted to HK$1,907,000 (2022: within one year time-band N B BRI D B3E6,431,000%8 T &
amounted to HK$6,431,000 and within second year time-band 300,000/ 7T) °
amounted to HK$300,000, respectively).
The Group considers expected cash flows from financial assets REBRFIEREETDECRBRES
in assessing and managing liquidity risk, in particular, its cash ZRAECHEENTEHRRESEE - L
resources and other liquid assets that readily generate cash. HEEREARNEBESERREM
The Group's existing cash resources and other liquid assets RBEE - AERERBENBRESEREE
significantly exceed the cash outflow requirements. RS EENEEERAR S RER

EHEH -
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32.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBERERME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 —F - =F =HA=+—HI-F/Z

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

31.6 Fair value measurement of financial
instruments

The carry amounts of the Group’s financial assets and
liabilities are not materially different from their fair
values as at 31 March 2023 and 2022 due to their short
maturities.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s capital management objectives are to ensure the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to provide
an adequate return to shareholders by pricing goods and
services commensurately with the level of risk.

The Group actively and regularly reviews its capital structure
and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic
conditions. The Group monitors its capital structure on the
basis of the gearing ratio. For this purpose, gearing ratio is
calculated based on total borrowings divided by the total
equity as at the end of each reporting period and multiplied
by 100%. Total borrowings include bank borrowings and
lease liabilities. The management reviews the capital structure
by considering the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital. In view of this, the Group may adjust the
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares,
return capital to shareholders, raise new debt financing or sell
assets to reduce debt.

The gearing ratio at the end of each reporting period was:

Total borrowings ER e

31.

32.

BREMREER AR EFTEw@®
316 €M T A AFEFE

HRFHRE  rEEsHEER
BEZEAHERER-_ZT_=FK
—E-—HF=ZA=+—HZA¥E
WEERAER -

EXER
AREAREE G ERRARBERE
B BE & BB T 05 & KRS E
B ARRRHUHER -

AR B FE AR E HA AR 5 HL A AR R T AT
RREBMELRAE - AEEEREER
B RERE ARG - gt s » BE
BEL RIE S IRE PROE RATERRAE
HRTEARI00%ATE - G BEBE
BITEREAEEAE EEESAERE
ERARSBENEBNRAKREHNEALR
e BERY  AEBA ARSI TR
EMRESRE - BITHRG - MRERE
BAX - EEFEFREANTEEERK
&% o

REBEEHARNEERBLERS

2023
—E-=HF

2022
—em— —

— =

HK$'000
TAT

HK$'000
TET

Borrowings, secured fesk - B 1,883 6,639

Lease liabilities HERE 1,494 489

3,377 7,128

Total equity et BER 263,282 255,359

Gearing ratio BEAMFGLEX 1.3% 2.8%
2022/23 3 o HEREEPERERAR
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION
MEBRHEBRE

AEBEBERFNHBHEBHINMT ¢

The financial summary of the Group for the last five years is set as
follows:

For the year ended 31 March

BE=A=t-HLEE
2023 2021 2020 2019
“B-= ZEZ-F ZZZRE ZTNF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TEL TEL TEL
Revenue Wigs 786,209 922,888 509,298 458,174
Direct costs BEKA (762,014) (936,164)  (504,127) (425,750
Gross profit/(loss) 5,/ (E8) 24,195 (13,276) 5,171 32,424
Other gains/(losses), net Eils/ (B1B) - 38 7,127 15,450 (925) 84
Administrative expenses THRX (22,023) (21,143) (21,564) (19,848)
ECL (allowance)/reversal on trade (TR /BB B ENFER
receivables and contract assets, net ANEENBRREESERE
ek (74) (1,071) (986) =
Finance costs IR (186) mn) 817) (297)
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRETERARR/ (B18) 9,039 (20,811) (19,121) 12,363
Income tax (expense)/credit s (Bx)/#% (1,116) 701 (976) (2,530)
Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive FERH/ (BB k2aks/
income/(loss) for the year (BB B 7,923 (20,110) (20,097) 9,833

Earnings/(loss) per share attributable to
equity holders of the Company:
Basic and diluted

ARAREREAEEERRT
(&%) -

EAR#E 0.66 cents fll  0.62 cents flll (1.68) cents flll (1.67) cents fll  0.82 cents L

As at 31 March

R=A=1+-AH

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—B-= 2 T —TEF —ZNF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER THEL THL THEL THL

Assets and Liabilities BERARE
Non-current assets FnEEE 39,827 50,263 52,578 69,644 62,043
Current assets MEEE 268,198 247,600 249,529 282,416 268,242
Non-current liabilities ErBas (1,395) = 5,562 5,774 4,798
Current liabilties mERE (43,348) 42,504 48,617 78,248 37,352
Total equity R 263,282 255,359 247,928 268,038 288,135
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